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The front cover image represents this  reporting year, 
where Chartered Accountants have been Leading the 
Way by setting up, running, supporting and advising 
businesses throughout the various natural disasters and 
COVID-19. These initiatives have been supported by 
Chartered Accountants ANZ advocating for policy and 
legislative changes, supported by providing tools, training 
and networks to help CAs do their jobs. 

Our Future Leaders represent the key values to being a 
Difference Maker by supporting their clients, colleagues, 
people and communities as they contribute to the 
profession and sustainability all while Leading the Way 
with technology and culture.  

With these achievements already attained, these young 
CAs who have been named Future Leaders in 2021 will 
continue to have a bright future in this profession. 

Our Future Leaders include (from left to right of 
cover image):

Michelle Mudawarima CA – Team leader, Performance 
(Strategy, Planning and Reporting, Commerce 
Commission, Wellington 

Rakin Hasan CA – Senior Analyst, Technology and 
Controls, Deloitte Australia, Sydney 

Sharon Chuang CA –Director, Tax Reporting and 
Innovation, PwC, Sydney 

Apoorva Kallianpur CA – Finance business partner, 
NBN Co Limited, Sydney
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About us
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This year saw members not only rise to the occasion 
but also lead. They were tasked by businesses, 

communities and economies to lead the way 
forward into an uncertain future and your 

professional body was with you every step of the 
way, with the support, resources, education and 

advocacy to help you make a difference.
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Chartered Accountants ANZ promotes the Chartered Accountant 
(CA) designation and high ethical standards, delivers world class 
services and lifelong education to members, and advocates for 
the public good. We protect the reputation of the designation 
by ensuring members continue to comply with a code of ethics, 
backed by a robust discipline process. We also monitor CAs who 
offer services directly to the public.

CAs are known as Difference Makers. The depth and breadth of 
their expertise helps them to see the big picture and chart the best 
course of action.

Our flagship CA Program, the pathway to becoming a CA, 
combines rigorous education with mentored practical experience. 
Ongoing professional development helps members shape business 
decisions and remain relevant in a changing world. Chartered 
Accountants ANZ is the only professional accounting body in 
Australia approved as a Higher Education Provider by the Tertiary 
Education Quality and Standards Agency (TEQSA), Australia’s 
independent national regulator of the higher education sector.

We actively engage with governments, regulators and standard 
setters on behalf of members and the profession to advocate boldly 
in the public good. Our thought leadership promotes and inspires 
our members to consider wider issues that impact the future 
of the profession.

Chartered Accountants ANZ is a member of the International 
Federation of Accountants, the Global Accounting Alliance, 
and Chartered Accountants Worldwide, linking us into a global 
community of millions of CAs and accounting students.

We are an associate member of the ASEAN Federation of 
Accountants, a member of the Confederation of Asian and Pacific 
Accountants and have a strategic alliance with the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants.

Chartered Accountants ANZ was formed on 1 January 2015 
through the amalgamation of the former Institute of Chartered 
Accountants Australia and the New Zealand Institute of 
Chartered Accountants.

Chartered Accountants ANZ is an Australian registered body 
corporate that is governed by its Supplemental Royal Charter and 
is domiciled in Australia. Members of Chartered Accountants 
ANZ are not liable for the debts and liabilities of the Chartered 
Accountants ANZ Group.

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (Chartered Accountants ANZ) 
represents 131,673 financial professionals, supporting them to lead and make a 
difference to the businesses, organisations and communities in which they work and live.

About Chartered Accountants
Australia and New Zealand
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Our global network
2021 Members globally – 131,673
Members last year – 128,683

 North America

 1,712 (2020, 1,807)

 Asia

 4,120 (2020, 4,218)

 South America

 18 (2020, 25)

 Pacific

 221 (2020, 174)

 Europe

 4,733 (2020, 5,078)

 Africa

 139 (2020, 145)

 Australia

 89,286 (2020, 86,549)

 New Zealand

 31,444 (2020, 30,687)
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Our members

PROVISIONAL MEMBERS FULL MEMBERS HOLDING A CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT, ASSOCIATE CHARTERED ACCOUNTANT OR ACCOUNTING TECHNICIAN OR AFFILIATE DESIGNATION

Total

131,673 111,682

19,991

+2.3%
(2020, 128,683) (2020, 109,230)

(2020, 19,453)

Membership growth – In the 2020–21 year Chartered Accountants ANZ membership grew 
by 2.3% to 131,673 members, up from 128,683 in 2019–20, continuing a trend of solid growth 
since formation in 2015. 
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Our strategy

PART I: 8 Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand Annual Report 2021



Our strategy

During the reporting year we refreshed our strategy to support 
members, engaging with our membership base and governance 
structure for their input. More than 3,000 members took part 
in a survey, along with the Chartered Accountants ANZ Board, 
Council, Regional Councils and Overseas Councils, Segment 
Advisory Committees and member committees. We held over 
38 workshops and 80 forward-looking thought leadership papers 
and resources were reviewed from around the world to identify 
global business developments and emerging trends. The process 
recognised macro trends such as:  

• reimagined business models  

• declining trust in institutions  

• digital age acceleration  

• increasing expectations of experiences on digital platforms  

• tasks of workers becoming more automated requiring new 
skills and capabilities  

• focus on relevance of professional bodies of all types globally  

• perceptions of the attractiveness of accounting as a career  

In line with our vision, purpose, Charter and values, we have 
developed a strategy that will deliver for members the education, 
resources, advocacy, personal and professional support they need 
to make a difference.  

It sets out ambitious, but carefully considered, aspirations for the 
profession and its professional body over the next four years.  

Through our refreshed strategy we seek to be digitally led, with 
a focus on delivering personalised, relevant and timely services, 
as we continue to create a respected, world class organisation 
which provides the support and services our members want and 
require. This is being undertaken through five pillars.  

Our refreshed strategy has five pillars:

1 World class member experience 
 Understanding our members’ needs, providing relevant 
learning and supported by intuitive and engaging 
connections.  
Read more here >

2 Our brand and influence
Undertaking bold, visible advocacy in the public good, 
proudly upholding professional standards and trust and 
elevating the CA difference. 
Read more here >

3 Sustainable profession and 
professional body 
Developing future talent, driving membership growth 
and diversity, creating a sustainable and adaptive 
operating model and enhancing best practice governance 
and assurance. 
Read more here >

4 Digital transformation and delivery 
 Strengthening the foundations, improving members’ 
digital experience and introducing new ways of working to 
connect and collaborate with members.  
Read more here >

5 A culture of Difference Makers
 Supporting organisational agility and flexibility, fulfilling 
our organisational potential and building an inclusive and 
diverse culture within Chartered Accountants ANZ.  
Read more here >

From the start of the refresh process there was heightened 
awareness of the global context and the changing environments in 
which our members work. 
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Through workshops and a member survey, our members 
highlighted the need to continue to adapt and acquire new skills. 
Members told us that our communications are too generic; that we 
need to offer support that is more specific to their needs. Members 
also recognise they will need to continue to adapt and acquire 
new skills, and they expect their member organisation’s support. 

These insights helped shape our strategic priorities and initiatives 
to improve our ability to understand, communicate and deliver 
future-focused services to our members. 

For this reporting period the strategy refresh was articulated and 
communicated, and we set in train the organisational frameworks 
and processes needed to drive success. We continued to deliver 
on existing strategic priorities for our members, including the 
reimagined CA Program, CA Catalyst and CA Capability+ and we 
have continued to build on successful programs and services such 
as My CA.

FY22 will mainly focus on building the foundations required 
to provide world class services and deliver the digital experience 
demanded in today’s world. In FY23 and FY24 our members will 
experience the results of this work through services, support and 
engagement which helps put them ahead of the game. 

Many of these initiatives focus on relevant and highly personalised 
member support. 

Our strategy on a page 

Chartered Accountants ANZ Strategic Plan — Difference Makers
OUR 
PURPOSE

We support our members to make a difference in the communities in which they live. 
We are committed to advancing the profession through high ethical standards, delivering world class services  

and education and advocating for the public good. 

KEY 
PILLARS

World class  
member experience

Our brand  
and influence

Sustainable profession 
and professional body

Digital transformation 
and delivery

A culture of 
Difference Makers

FOCUS 
AREAS

INITIATIVES Member insights Bold, visible advocacy 
and thought leadership

Sourcing the talent  
of the future IT foundations Integrated talent 

management

 Multi-channel 
engagement strategy

Market-leading 
professional standards 

and conduct

Future membership 
programs and 

pathways

Data strategy and 
architecture Leadership

 Tailored professional 
development

Difference  
Makers

Adaptive  
organisation 

Data, business 
intelligence and 

analytics

Workplace  
flexibility

Relevant member 
support

Digital  
newsroom Sustainability Digital capability  

and culture
Inclusion and  

diversity strategy

Personalised 
engagement model

Enhanced  
assurance

Seamless digital 
experience platform Wellbeing strategy

Best practice 
governance

Personalised  
user experience

OUR 
CHARTER

Membership  
Body

Advocacy Regulator
Tertiary  
Provider

OUR 
VALUES

Collaborate Integrity Diversity Accountability Grow

Bold, visible 
advocacy in the 

public good

Elevating  
the CA 

difference

Proudly 
upholding 

professional 
standards  
and trust

Understanding 
our members’ 

needs

Relevant 
learning and 

support

Intuitive  
and engaging 
connections

Membership 
growth and 

diversity

Enhanced 
governance and 

assurance

Sustainable 
operating  

model

Getting the 
foundations 

right

Digital  
team  

experience

Digital  
member 

experience

Digital team 
experience

Inclusive  
and diverse 

culture

Fulfilling our 
potential
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Chair’s report 

John Palermo FCA outlines the Board’s stewardship and governance foundations as we embark 
on our refreshed strategic direction.

At the time of writing this report, almost 95,000 members are 
in lockdown across Australia and New Zealand. The sporadic 
nature of the pandemic has meant that over the reporting period, 
members have needed to be ‘on duty’ ready to tackle the next 
challenge, the next business facing disruption or the next audit to 
ensure confidence is maintained in the economy.

The wellbeing of members was at the heart of our response, 
with the Board also sustaining its guiding principles to ensure 
a consistent high-quality of services remained and maintaining 
the long-term sustainability of the organisation. 

The introduction of our reimagined CA Program and tools such 
as CA Capability+ epitomises our steadfast determination to 
achieve our objectives and continue delivering for members as 
they did for their clients and communities. These developments 
were made against a backdrop of sustained membership growth 
to over 130,000 members, increased enrolments securing a future 
pipeline and sound financial planning that meant we did not 
require financial assistance from government support packages. 
We report a breakeven position which also factored in a significant 
global change in accounting policy. 

The challenges over the past year tested the resilience of 
the profession and your professional body, but also created 
the environment for self-examination, reinvention and 
reimagined growth. 

After extensive member consultation, our refreshed strategy 
outlines an ambitious path to 2025 which recognises that ambition 
is seeded on strong foundations. We have developed corporate 
governance frameworks around assurance and risk management 
to confidently manage risks and ensure continuous improvement. 
Milestones include the establishment of an organisation-wide 
risk register with evolving risk assessments and mitigation plans, 
a statement aligned with 4th Edition ASX Corporate Governance 
Principles for the first time and a modern slavery and human 
trafficking statement that commits to monitoring modern slavery 
risk in our supply chains. 

Your professional body is laying a foundation to ensure we are 
equipped to tackle our vision. Part of this foundation, and a 
dedicated pillar in our strategy, is an intense focus on digital 
transformation involving a significant upfront investment for 
setup, configuration and customisation. It is worth noting here 

that the impact of international accounting standards, including 
recent updates in interpretation, will mean that a greater 
proportion of the investment in our digital transformation will be 
treated as an operating expense. This coupled with the planned 
financial investment in our strategic roadmap sees us forecast a 
financial deficit into the 2023 financial year to ensure we deliver a 
personalised, digital member experience based on powerful data, 
insights and capabilities. 

We look forward to taking your professional body to leadership, 
ensuring members are supported to make a difference in the 
communities in which they work and live. 

John Palermo FCA, Chair
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Education is more than just entry to our professional body – it is 
the commitment to life-long learning that makes us who we are and 
underpins our trust. It is a special honour to have been President 
when we introduced a new future-focused CA Program.

Following consultation with members, candidates, industry and 
global partners and employers, the CA Program meets the future 
demand for broader expertise and a digital skillset from the 
profession while also offering greater flexibility and choice. As 
a member of the academic community and by connecting with 
young members throughout the year, I have observed that students 
are eager to be prepared to tackle the challenges of not just today 
but of tomorrow and into the future. 

This way of thinking rings true for the profession more broadly 
which has not only had increased workloads and managed the 
wellbeing of themselves and their clients, but they have also had 
to look into the future and predict uncertain circumstances. 
Members’ astute and critical thinking has guided our advocacy 
work, allowing us to amplify their voices and concerns as they can 
see the domino effects for livelihoods and businesses when they 
practically implement measures. It has been heartening to see many 
successful advocacy outcomes that have been driven by members’ 
input and their dedication to their clients and businesses in which 
they work.

While members have been in the trenches providing wise counsel 
and making a difference, we have kept their health and wellbeing 
front of mind. We aimed to walk alongside our members, every 
step of the way, whether through proactive support calls, extending 
complimentary counselling support for members and families as 
part of our Employee Assistance Program or providing our CA 
Advisory Group for guidance on challenging ethical dilemmas.

“As trusted advisers, the CA designation is 
steeped in ethics and integrity and it is this 
legacy that we must protect.”

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA, President

As trusted advisers, the CA designation is steeped in ethics and 
integrity and it is this legacy that we must protect. In addition to 
our strong professional conduct and quality review processes, this 
year we also strengthened our ethics requirements of members 
including mandatory CPD training and cementing ethics at the 
centre of our CA Program offering. 

The pandemic has been a living example of the extreme 
consequences that non-financial risks can have on businesses and 
global economies. Bringing non-financial risk and sustainability 
to the forefront has also been an area of focus for me. One of 
the ways we have done this is a joint report on carbon capture 
modelling that draws on more than 25 years of tree data. This was 
the first comprehensive study of its kind in an Australian urban 
environment and created an empirical equation that accountants 
can use to more accurately and consistently calculate carbon 
capture and significantly reduce errors. 

President’s report 

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA highlights how we are elevating members’ voices and securing the 
talent of the future.
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As well as developing resources and tools, we have advocated 
extensively over the last several years. In addition to presenting at 
an Australian parliamentary inquiry, in New Zealand we engaged 
with the Government and submitted to the select committee 
on legislation mandating climate-related financial disclosures, 
advocating for a fit-for-purpose regime.

We are equipping members with the skills and data they need to 
make informed decisions within organisations. As a profession, 
we need to stand ready for future challenges. We are well known 
for charting the best course of action, for making a difference, 
so shaping a sustainable future is a task fit for us as Chartered 
Accountants. 

I leave you with the words that our launch campaign our new 
CA Program centred around and that also embodies the next step 
for us and for Chartered Accountants ANZ: Hello Future. 

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA, President
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CEO’s report 

Chartered Accountants ANZ is a trustee for our members, helping 
them invest in themselves, their businesses and their communities.  
From educating the talent of the future, supporting our members 
to live their values through high ethical standards or providing 
services to make a difference in the communities in which they live, 
it is the members monies that we manage, not our own. Members 
put a high degree of trust in the governance and management 
of Chartered Accountants ANZ to effect these purposes and to 
advocate for the public good on their behalf. 

By enacting our purpose, executing our long-term strategy, being 
cost efficient with our members dues and advocating on important 
issues such as inclusion and diversity, the gender pay gap in our 
profession and supporting the need for a single global standard 
on climate and sustainability disclosures, we will create enduring 
value for our members. 

The impact of the pandemic on members and our broader society 
has taken a huge toll, from mental and financial distress all the 
way through to lives lost. It has also transformed the way we 
learn, work and provide services to our members. I would like to 
recognise those members who have experienced hardship during 
this time and know we are here to support you and understand the 
importance of being well, to do well.

“The response to the pandemic by the 
accounting profession as a whole was 
described to me by one member as ‘our 
finest hour’ and it is that sentiment I wish 
to encapsulate in this report. That even 
during such a challenging time, accountants 
stood up and led the way.”

Ainslie van Onselen, CEO

The response to the pandemic by the accounting profession as a 
whole was described to me by one member as ‘our finest hour’ and 
it is that sentiment I wish to encapsulate in this report. That even 
during such a challenging time, accountants stood up and led the 
way. Throughout the year, members have guided, supported and 
advised businesses and communities. We, in turn, were committed 
to supporting you through online resources, training fit for the 
digital age, wellbeing support, advocating for policy changes 

and connecting you to a global network. Over 124,000 people 
attended the 731 member events we held this year. And to your 
communities we showcased how Chartered Accountants can add 
value to business through our inaugural Difference Makers brand 
campaign which achieved 27.5m impressions, including reaching 
over 4.4m influential business decision makers.

Members’ feedback into policy shaping and implementation has 
meant well-timed and at times robust advocacy and a strong voice 
at the virtual table during the economic response to the pandemic. 
For instance, our advocacy in respect to the war for talent 
experienced by the profession saw the Australian Government 
place accounting and audit professionals on the Priority Migration 
Skilled Occupation List in June 2021.

Akin to an iceberg, our members often see only a fraction of what 
the advocacy team do behind-the-scenes to guide and achieve 
policy outcomes, with over 200 policy submissions submitted to 
government and regulators this year alone. As for the tip of that 
iceberg, once measures are announced, the team have responded 
with the rapid rollout of our complimentary Sharing Knowledge 
webinars which thousands of our members tuned in for at an 
unprecedented level.

While this was initially a reactive resource initiated by the onset 
of the pandemic, we have now embedded these sessions into our 
service offering to provide timely, relevant information on an even 
playing field, not bound by geographic limitations. Other tools 
that we have developed such as CA Capability+ also provides a 
responsive online platform, allowing over 4,000 members to date 
to assess their professional development trajectory.

Ainslie van Onselen details how Chartered 
Accountants Australia and New Zealand 
has equipped members to lead the way for 
businesses and communities.
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Given we accelerated many initiatives that were already underway 
such as the online transition of the CA Program (including 
delivering over 30,000 online exams), we were in good stead to 
continue its evolution and launch our reimagined CA Program in 
mid-2021. This new CA Program continues to meet the standards 
required of us as the only professional accounting body in Australia 
approved as a Higher Education Provider by TEQSA.

While the designation is synonymous with traditions of ethics, 
expertise and true professionalism, we are committed to ensuring 
it is also steeped in the future and harnessing the best of technology 
in a continually evolving and digitally led world.

Our new five-year strategy, which engaged our membership base 
across all segments and our governance structure, and which has 
at its core the aspiration of world class member experience, also 
takes into consideration the current global context and macro 
trends such as increasing expectations of experiences on digital 
platforms and technological disruption. Foundational to this has 
been the segmentation and personas mapping of our members 
that we have developed in this reporting period, as we now look in 
FY2022 to develop a 360 degree view of our members and digital 
experience platform.

This year we have also been setting in place a solid foundation to 
build our future-focused strategy. This included developing best 
practice governance, IT network and telephony infrastructure 
upgrades, driving efficiencies such as a hybrid model of online and 
in person events and overall cost containment. We also developed 
quarterly themes to align our resources and increase the impact 
of our advocacy. This included an exclusive online member event 
during our reset theme with the Australian Federal Treasurer and 
New Zealand Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Finance that 
was attended by 4,000 members.

We continue to build a larger and more inclusive profession, where 
difference makers from all walks of life can find a common purpose 
in the public good. For the first time in our history we now have 
over 130,000 members and more students than ever are signing 
up to our world class CA Program. We are building inclusion and 
diversity strategies for our people and our members as well as 
taking an educative approach to the gender pay gap that has been 
revealed through member surveys in the past and again this year. 
Sunlight is the best disinfectant, and we are determined to address 
this as an organisation and a profession, working alongside you 
every step of the way.

As we consider the strategy and the extensive path ahead to realise 
our vision, we find confidence in having the people, the skills and 
the ambition to deliver for our members every day. Onwards. 

Ainslie van Onselen, CEO
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Our year
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This reporting period has seen our members leading 
the way and overcoming the many health, work and 

emotional challenges unfolding as the COVID-19 
pandemic continues to disrupt businesses and 

communities. Chartered Accountants ANZ has
been there to support our members through these

unexpected times and recognises the toll continued 
uncertainties place on many of our members and 

our people. Throughout this reporting period, 
we have continued to deliver on our strategies 
and services, while ensuring immediate needs 

and circumstances are addressed. 
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Year at a glance

Our year served as a bridge from Chartered Accountants ANZ’s 
2017 strategy, building on the solid foundations and momentum 
of that strategy. It was focused on building the skills, programs and 
connections to grow the profession and build its resilience.

A strategy refresh in 2020-21 has set an ambitious and grounded 
path to 2025 for the profession and Chartered Accountants 
ANZ. It has five future and member-focused pillars: world class 
membership experience, our brand and influence, sustainable 
profession and professional body, digital transformation and 
delivery and a culture of Difference Makers.

Our Difference Makers brand campaign launched this year is 
the most visible element of a coordinated effort to build the 
value, pride and influence of the CA designation. The campaign 
was supported by Chartered Accountants ANZ’s bold and 
visible advocacy on behalf of members, and for the public good, 
with a number of notable policy ‘wins’ during the year.

As ever, our practice reviews and professional conduct process 
protected and enhanced the reputation of CAs, maintaining public 
confidence in the profession. The expansion of mandatory ethics 
training as part of all members’ CPD requirements from July 2021 
adds to this confidence.

We reimagined our flagship CA Program, widening the talent 
pipeline, to respond to increasing demand for broader expertise 
and a skill base to meet the needs of our future leaders. Trust and 
ethics remain at the heart of the program, and new candidates 
are armed with diverse capabilities including comfort in digital 
and data environments and problem solving, communication and 
collaboration skills.

New tools like CA Capability+ illustrate our commitment to 
provide more responsive and effective resources for members. 
This tool joins a growing list of initiatives, including the 
CA Program and CPD library, that are underpinned by 
the CA Capability Model and focuses on futureproofing 
member success.

Big changes made in FY20 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic 
have become business as usual. Our Sharing Knowledge webinars, 
set up to provide rapid information to assist members understand 
the changing landscape and rules as the pandemic hit home, have 
become an integral and a well-used platform, providing timely and 
expert information and advice.

Data has been at the heart of these initiatives, ensuring we 
understand the needs of our member base. Our goal with the 
strategy refresh is to understand and deliver on our members’ 
diverse needs, through rich engagement, profiles and segmentation. 

Finally, we led the way and have made further progress towards 
becoming an integrated, agile, diverse and sustainable organisation. 
Our membership rose 2.3% to 131,673 and we have continued to 
remain financially strong.
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Members

131,673
–
Up 2.3% on FY20

Capability+ insights

>4,000
–
Over 4,000 assessments completed by members with Ethics and Integrity being the highest 
self-rated capability overall and Data Analysis being the most in-demand capability for CPD

Revenue generated

$139.1m
–

Tools and  
Resources Hub 

86,688
–
Accessed by 86,688 unique visitors with 
members downloading resources 29,267 times

Policy 
submissions 

201
–

Difference Makers 
signature campaign 

>27.5m
–
Impressions reaching over 4.4m 
business decision makers

New 

CA Program
–
Delivered on time and on budget

Member events

731
–
Member events hosted with over 
124,000 people attending 

Earned media 

>4.4m
–
Audience reached between Oct – Dec  
2020 with our advocacy expertise 

Online exams 

30,834
–
The number of individual exam papers 
sat during the year 

Fellowships 

222
–
Members from 9 countries

Practice reviews

402 
–
 

Member Support  
Team calls

88,567
–
To provide tailored support

COVID-19  
Resources Hub

>11,000
–
Unique visitors 

Class of 2020 
New Member event

1,500
–
New Members joined as one global cohort 
and supported by their friends, family 
and colleagues
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Supporting our members’ needs
Understanding the needs of our diverse member base is critical 
to enable us to deliver personalised engagement and delivery.

Our strategic initiative focusing on member insights seeks to use 
data to better understand our members’ needs by creating rich 
profiles, segmentation and understandings.

“Central to our strategy is data. This will help 
us build member segmentation, develop key 
member personas and map our members’ 
career journeys.”

Ainslie van Onselen, Chief Executive Officer

In the reporting year and the year ahead, we are focusing 
on creating the building blocks towards our goal of richer 
member experiences.

Relevant learning and support

“A great piece of advice I received from 
one partner was as an accountant, your 
knowledge is your greatest asset. If you don’t 
keep up to date with trends in the industry, 
then you’re going to fall behind.” 

Ellen Millington CA

This reporting year has seen the launch of the CA Capability+ 
tool, refreshed CPD requirements, and an expanded 
CA Catalyst program.

CA Capability+, our exclusive professional development tool, 
is designed to help members identify and build the capabilities 
they need to stay relevant, succeed and prosper in the accounting 
profession. It puts members in control of their professional 
development, illustrating our commitment to providing tailored, 
responsive and effective learning platforms. 

Registrations for the launch were, at the time, the largest 
online enrolement for a Chartered Accountants ANZ webinar, 
highlighting the tool’s relevance and timeliness.

We aspire for our member interactions and services to exceed expectations, be relevant 
and provide valuable engagement and connection. Critical to our strategy is gaining a 
full understanding of our members’ needs and central to achieving that is the integration 
and analysis of member data. The result will be flexible, affordable and future-focused 
learning, support and engagement, and relevant and personalised communication. 

World class member 
experience
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CA Capability+ is an integrated online diagnostic tool for assessing 
technical, business, leadership and personal skills. Members assess 
their strengths and weaknesses against their current or future 
role and the tool provides them with a personalised professional 
development plan.

Across the over 4,000 completed assessments to the end of 
June 2021, ethics and integrity is the highest rated capability overall 
(based on the average self-rated score for the capability overall, 
across all assessments completed) while at intermediate level, data 
analysis was the capability most in demand for development.

CA Capability+, along with the CA Program, CPD and university 
accreditation guidelines, are all underpinned by the CA Capability 
Model (Capability Model) which provides a critical framework to 
guide our work to future proof member success.

The model followed extensive research and broad consultation 
and is a critical part of our response to technological and business 
process changes faced by the profession.

The Capability Model is structured around four domains: business 
(business context), leadership (people and future), personal 
(mindset and intellect) and technical (professional expertise). 
These are applied to the early-career, leader and executive stages 
of a CA’s career.

Changes to CPD 
New CPD requirements for all Chartered Accountants ANZ 
members came into effect for all trienniums commencing from 
1 July 2021.

All members with the same designation now have the same 
CPD requirements. The key changes, which will help members 
update and maintain their capabilities, are:

• aligning the CPD requirements of all members regardless of 
location, including requiring all members within the same 
designation to complete the same verifiable CPD per triennium

• providing for on-the-job training as verifiable CPD

• requiring members to undertake a minimum of two hours 
of verifiable ethics training per triennium

• removing the age defined exemption and replacing with 
an exemption for retired members

Read more here >

^  These are the six non-technical capabilities considered essential for future employability of a professional accountant irrespective of their level of work, career stage, location or job role. 
The other non-technical capabilities while critical, will vary in importance according to the job role.
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Ethics and integrity^

Critical thinking 
and judgement^

Adaptive mind-set^

Self-management 
and learning

Regard for others

Tax

Financial planning

Superannuation

Audit and assurance

Insolvency

Corporate finance

Reporting

Agility and change

Leading others

Driving results

Future focus

Innovation

Governance and risk

Communication^

Collaboration and 
relationships^

Problem solving and 
decision making^

Customer focus

Digital acumen

Data analysis

TECHNICA
L

CAPABILITY 
MODEL
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Intuitive and engaging member connections
Two strategic initiatives – our multi-channel engagement strategy 
and personalising our communications and engagements – focus 
on improving our connections with members.

The engagement strategy seeks to deliver a seamless experience 
for members, whenever and however members choose to engage, 
while our engagement model will streamline the way we engage 
and communicate with members.

“Creating a world class member experience 
is an admirable ambition that is not easy to 
define. The best examples of an excellent 
customer experience provided by members 
came from outside of the membership body 
environment, and so when we define a world 
class experience those are the standards to 
which we will aspire.”

Mark Rice, Group Executive 
Member Engagement

Sharing Knowledge
Sharing Knowledge sessions are an integral part of Chartered 
Accountants ANZ’s COVID-19  support for members. These 
highly successful free weekly webinars are now part of our usual 
activities and topics have expanded to cover all issues affecting the 
profession and our members.

At the sessions, challenges are navigated through timely 
information and advice being delivered by subject matter experts. 

>33,000
members attended 55 delivered 
Sharing Knowledge sessions

Popular topics included JobKeeper 2.0 and the Federal Budget in 
Australia, while in New Zealand sessions on the Wage Subsidy, the 
General Election and provisional tax options were well attended.

Read more here >

Our online community 
We continue to build value for members in the My CA online 
community and shape it to members’ needs, particularly focusing 
on the unprecedented demands arising from COVID-19. Now 
in its third year, My CA has established itself as a well-known 
destination where members can access services, for example 
managing memberships and getting CPD information, and talk 
with fellow CAs and Chartered Accountants ANZ’s people.

In the reporting year, our focus was to build value into My CA, 
leveraging a growing community to facilitate new member 
connections and knowledge sharing, while making it easier for 
members to access tools and member benefits. We have fostered 
dedicated spaces to share information with members quickly 
and get their questions answered by experts, whether they be 
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s people or fellow members.

2020–2021 Change

Unique visits to My CA 122,020 + 3%

Unique contributors 2,710 + 22%

Posts 1,921 + 17%

Contributions 2,955 + 17%

Building resilience 
For the past four years CA Wellbeing has been providing resources 
to help members build resilience and capacity and maintain 
their wellbeing.

The CA Wellbeing pages on the website connect members to the 
resources and information they may need to maintain good mental 
health and to help them better manage challenging times and 
situations with their business, colleagues or clients.

Among the website links is the EAP service. This service has 
been available during the COVID-19 pandemic to all members 
experiencing bereavement, personal loss and isolation due to 
COVID-19 outbreaks and those impacted by natural disasters 
such as earthquakes or floods. This confidential program supports 
members and their families through counselling services and 
can be accessed 24 hours, seven days a week. Members can 
receive up to three free sessions from independent professionals, 
such as counsellors, careers advisors, personal legal advisors 
and psychologists.
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Other CA Wellbeing initiatives include the following:

• Beyond Blue ‘Coronavirus Mental Wellbeing Support Service’ 
was launched in October 2020 as a free, four-part online learning 
training course to provide mental health support for accountants 
and small business advisors in Australia. It is designed to equip 
them with the knowledge and tools to support their small 
business clients’ mental health and wellbeing while also looking 
after their own

• Partnering with Deakin Business School, CPAA and IPA to offer 
a new mental health training program – Counting on U – to 
members in practice. This initiative recognises the ongoing 
challenge of the pandemic for many small-to-medium 
enterprises. Counting on U equips accounting professionals 
with mental health first-aid training and relationship-building 
skills to help them identify mental health concerns and navigate 
challenging conversations with clients

“The time invested in completing the program 
was priceless. The return I’ve got from it has 
been absolutely phenomenal in terms of my 
learning, my understanding, and the way 
I approach situations and relationships now 
has really changed.”

Mike Rowe CA

Unlocking opportunities
CA Catalyst helps members build new skills, tools and connections, 
to unlock and create growth opportunities and to embrace 
innovation and technology.

The program’s partners include Australasia’s premier innovation 
hubs The Icehouse, Fishburners and Stone & Chalk along with 
technology providers, giving members opportunities to immerse 
themselves in start-ups and get access to customised training, 
toolkits and guides.

“It’s great to go along to these CA Catalyst 
events, whether related to technology or 
related to anything else, because you just 
learn so much from each other and I think 
CAs are very giving with sharing of ideas and 
putting people in touch with others.”

Amanda Gascoigne FCA

CA Catalyst programs include the following:

• The CA in Residence program immerses CAs in the 
entrepreneurial environment of startup hubs. The CAs in this 
program enjoy working directly with one or many startups in 
various areas of value, typically along the spectrum of governance 
and compliance-related work to growth strategies and capital 
raising readiness. The CA in Residence also has the opportunity 
to upskill themselves through this work and potentially 
identify emerging technologies for use in their work, or in the 
accounting profession more broadly. During the reporting year, 
approximately 45 CAs from Sydney, Melbourne, Adelaide and 
Auckland completed their residence rotation

• The CA Business Advisory Accelerator Program focuses 
on giving owners and partners of small-to-medium sized 
practices who are looking to move into business advisory, the 
required processes and skillsets. During the year, more than 
40 firms took part in the nine-week program. The program 
will be enhanced in FY22 to scale up involvement and better 
meet member demand

How to give your accountancy practice a competitive 
advantage with data and insights. CA Catalyst in partnership 
with ACCA produced the Business Data Insights Playbook 
focusing on how CAs can translate data insights into 
commercial impact through planning, budgeting and 
performance management. Read more here >

Online events now BAU 
Last year’s quick switch from face-to-face events to mainly online, 
in response to COVID-19 restrictions, became business as usual in 
the reporting year.

Event highlights included the Difference Makers Class of 2020 
Virtual New Member Ceremony, the growth of Sharing 
Knowledge as complimentary weekly sessions to deliver critical 
member updates in response to COVID-19, and the launch of 
CA Capability+.

Total event attendance 

>124,000
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Resources Hub
Our Tools and Resources Hub is a centralised trusted place for 
public practice members to get up to date, practical resources. 
The hub is shortly going to be expanded to include resources for 
members in business, the public sector and not-for-profit entities.

In this reporting year, the hub was accessed by 86,688 unique 
visitors with members downloading resources 29,267 times.

The most-visited pages were the Financial Reporting and Audit 
Guide, the Engagement Letter Tool (Australia) and Practice 
Management. The most-downloaded tools were the Financial 
Reporting and Audit Guide, the Engagement letter tool (Australia) 
and templates for Quality Control.

“We’re from different generations and, 
although I was the mentor, I gained so much 
from seeing how her generation approaches 
their career. They view their career through 
a different lens to my generation.” 

Mark Twomey CA

Mentor Exchange
Mentor Exchange allows early and mid-career CAs to tap into the 
skills and knowledge of our experienced members.

In this reporting year, just over 800 members in Australia, 
New Zealand, Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore and the 
United Kingdom were involved in the program either as a mentor 
or mentee. The mid-career program stream made up more than 
70% of this year’s cohort. 

During the COVID-19 pandemic, our Practice Peer Support 
program has also helped partners and directors in practice and sole 
practitioners share advice and experiences. 

Not-for-Profit Board Experience Program
Developed in 2017 as a pilot program led by the WA Young 
Chartered Accountants Panel, the Not-for-Profit Board Experience 
Program this year expanded to a national program for early 
and mid-career CAs seeking first-hand experience observing 
NFP Boards. Board Observers are paired with and mentored 
by experienced CA Directors currently sitting on NFP Boards. 
Board Observers also attend formal workshops to attain the 
Certificate in Governance for Not-for-Profits in a formal 
partnership between Chartered Accountants ANZ and the 
Governance Institute of Australia. 

The 2021 cohort has included a total of 51 mentor pairings  
from Western Australia, South Australia, Queensland, 
New South Wales, Victoria and Tasmania.

Member Support Team
During the reporting year, the Member Support Team, which 
resolves member queries and takes member feedback, was 
significantly affected by the shifting of exams and events online 
in response to COVID-19 restrictions.

The team received 

88,567
phone calls during the year and 148,502 total cases were resolved.

Library
The Chartered Accountants ANZ Library continued its shift 
towards being a predominately online service with Library 
downloads numbering almost 11,000 and hard copy books 
declining noticeably as a result of member preference and the 
impact of COVID-19 limiting physical access to the Library.

Developments in the complimentary Library service this 
year include:

• Technical improvements to enhance member experience, 
such as single sign-on across all CA Library platforms 

• Harvard Business Review eBooks added to the Library collection 

The CA Library offers research support along with access to 
thousands of articles, eBooks and audiobooks. Resources are 
varied and include tax, technical accounting, financial services 
and professional development. 

Top publications accessed by members from 
the Library

Journals – 2,701 uses 

•  Harvard Business Review  

•  Strategic Finance  

•  Journal of Accountancy 

Newspaper – 2,587 uses 

•  Australian Financial Review 

•  The Age 

•  Sydney Morning Herald 

eBook – 677 uses 

•  Australian Master Tax Guide
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Honouring contributions to the profession 
Life Membership 
Life Membership is Chartered Accountants ANZ’s highest honour 
acknowledging outstanding contributions to the accounting 
profession. During the reporting year, Life Memberships were 
conferred on David Gibbs FCA, Dennis Robertson FCA, Chris 
Welch FCA and Eric Tracey FCA.

Fellowships 
222 members from nine different countries were awarded a 
Chartered Accountants ANZ Fellowship in 2020 in recognition 
of their outstanding integrity, achievements and contributions 
to the profession.

Fellowships  2020-21 

Total 222

Australia 97

New Zealand 83

United Kingdom 14

Malaysia 15

Singapore 8

Hong Kong 2

Cook Islands 1

Cyprus 1

Guernsey 1 

President’s Prize 
New South Wales’ Ryan Hanson CA was awarded the 2020 
Chartered Accountants ANZ President’s Prize, given to a young 
CA who has advanced the profession and supported their local 
community. Ryan has attended Chartered Accountants ANZ 
Council meetings as an observer in 2021.

“Ryan has shown tremendous dedication 
to strengthen the future of the profession. 
We are both keen to amplify the voice 
of the next generation of Chartered 
Accountants so they can be part of the 
shaping of their own future.” 

Peter Rupp FCA, 2020 Chartered 
Accountants ANZ President

Read more here > 

Milestone awards 
Each year members are recognised for their length of time as 
members through milestone awards. 

2020-21 

75-year membership milestone 3 

70-year membership milestone 24 

60-year membership milestone 108 

50-year membership milestone 191 

40-year membership milestone 629 

25-year membership milestone 1,931 
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Elevating the CA difference 
The launch of our Difference Makers brand campaign in 2021 is 
a very visible part of a coordinated effort to build the CA brand 
into a strategic asset of value, pride and influence. The concept of 
Difference Maker shapes our purpose and strategy. 

“Brand and influence is the heartbeat 
that keeps the designation of Chartered 
Accountants, and the membership body, top of 
mind – relevant and able to make a difference. 
We have an opportunity to not only preserve 
the trust in the accounting profession, but to 
also strengthen it.”

Chelsea Wymer, Chief Marketing Officer

The Difference Makers campaign underscores our members’ 
reputations as reliable, trusted voices and catalysts for positive 
change. It showcases how CAs transform businesses, the positive 
impact they have on their communities, positions CAs as 
game-changing hires for organisations and highlights how CAs 
make a difference due to their depth and breadth of expertise 
across business and finance. 

The campaign had two elements targeting business decision makers: 

• The “Difference Makers Heartbeat Editorial Series” which 
delivered over 341,000 article page views between September 
and October of 2020. Twelve members across several industries 
and regions were featured in paid editorial across leading 
Australian and New Zealand media outlets. These features were 
supported by a comprehensive social media campaign driving 
reach and viewership 

• The “Difference Makers Signature Campaign” ran 
between March and May of 2021 featuring New Zealand 
member Trudi Ballantyne FCA and Australian member 
Roy Wilkinson CA. The target audience was decision makers of 
small-to-medium sized businesses, on both sides of the Tasman, 
who were looking for a professional accountant to work in or on 
their business. We used a multi-channel story telling approach 
to demonstrate the impact of our members 

The campaign reached more than 4.4 million business decision 
makers, with over 50,000 people visiting the campaign landing 
page to learn more about why to engage with a CA.

The “Difference Makers” brand idea, created by Chartered 
Accountants ANZ and introduced within the membership 
body in 2019, has now been scaled up across the global CA network 
through Chartered Accountants Worldwide with local iterations 
now live in England and Wales (through the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants England and Wales), South Africa 
(South African Institute of Chartered Accountants) and Ireland 
(Chartered Accountants Ireland).

Promoting and enhancing our brand and influence is critical to the profession. 
Our advocacy, professional standing and marketing teams in particular are 
focused on building trust in the profession, delivering bold and visible advocacy 
and showcasing the profession’s contributions to society.

Our brand and influence 

See more about the campaign here >
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Chartered Accountants ANZ will continue to celebrate and amplify 
Difference Maker stories to further demonstrate the breadth of 
member stories, reflecting the diverse nature of our members and 
highlighting the positive impact they have on business, communities 
and economies.

Online channels grow 
Traffic across all our websites continues to increase year-on-year. 
During this reporting year, total unique visitors rose 6.2% 
to 2,291,990 with 27% of this traffic visiting the eStore. 

The most visited section of the Chartered Accountants ANZ 
main site continues to be “Become a member” which received 
705,734 visits followed by “Member services” with 420,552.

30,229
complementary products were 
transacted on the eStore for the 
reporting year.

The popularity of our social channels continues to rise. Our 
LinkedIn following increased by nearly 20%, and our LinkedIn 
Showcase pages, which highlight our events and initiatives 
for members grew 56%. Our Instagram showed another 
healthy increase of 36% this year following a 20% rise last year. 
On Facebook, our reach rose by 36%. 

Spreading the word 
Our Acuity magazine and acuitymag.com represents the Chartered 
Accountants ANZ brand, relevant insights and is a showcase of 
members and their contributions to society. A member survey 
showed 73% believe the magazine adds value to their membership.

Acuity was a finalist in the 2021 Mumbrella Publish Awards in 
four categories after being Highly Commended in the Business 
Publication of the Year category of the 2020 awards and winning 
Columnist of the Year with Donal Curtain. 

Acuity is distributed in printed and digital form and is shared 
with members in more than 100 countries. We have commenced 
a transition to digital delivery in support of sustainability goals 
and member preferences. 

Acuitymag.com contains material from the magazine plus 
11 original, digital-only stories per month. Some of these 
stories contain additional video content for a richer experience. 
Through these means, over 312 articles can be created per year 
for print and digital channels, providing a range of information 
and material for members. 

Content also pays tribute every year to our young leaders and 
regional champions, is aligned to our quarterly themes, and 
highlights key advocacy research. 

Bold visible advocacy 
This year presented further opportunities for Chartered 
Accountants ANZ to lead with bold principled advocacy in 
the public good and support the profession’s frontline role in 
continuing to respond to the challenges of COVID-19. 

We helped members understand the rapid and frequent policy 
changes and announcements made by governments, providing 
practical guidance on how to access government assistance and 
operate productively during pandemic restrictions. 

There were more than 11,000 unique visitors to our online 
COVID-19 Resources Hub which provides up-to-date information 
from our experts and other sources as well as support for mental 
health and wellbeing. 

Read more here > 

We successfully engaged with regulators in Australia and 
New Zealand to identify what relief was needed and how this could 
be provided in a practical and timely way, particularly to assist 
smaller practices and businesses. For example, tax regulators on 
both sides of the Tasman announced a range of support measures 
in response to our representations. We also advocated effectively 
with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission for a 
30-day lodgement deadline extension for audited financial reports 
for year ends up to 7 July 2021. We worked with New Zealand’s 
Financial Markets Authority to secure a one month filing extension 
for certain reporting entities with balance dates between 31 March 
and 31 December 2021.

During the year we developed quarterly themes as a Strategic 
Initiative. These themes help us focus, integrate and align our 
activities, not only to increase the visibility and impact of our 
advocacy work, but also to help build our brand awareness and 
increase member engagement and value. 

Our first theme was ‘reset’ which explored the opportunity for 
individuals, businesses, communities and economies to not only 
respond and recover from the pandemic, but also reimagine and 
rebuild a better, more prosperous and sustainable future. In March, 
we hosted an exclusive online member event with the Australian 
Federal Treasurer, Hon Josh Frydenberg MP, and New Zealand’s 
Deputy Prime Minister and Minister of Finance, Hon Grant 
Robertson. Over 6,700 guests registered and 4,000 attended. 
More than 6,000 members also submitted questions and poll 
responses which helped shape the panel discussion. 

Read more here >
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Our second theme was ‘talent’ which addressed the agile, 
technical and behavioural skills required of individuals and 
organisations as well as the flexible, diverse and inclusive 
environments needed to enable talent to thrive. More than 
1,800 people joined us for an interactive live webinar in June 
2021 where expert panellists delved into the mega trends and 
disruptions shaping the talent landscape and identified successful 
strategies to address market challenges.

A feature of this reporting year was increased collaboration on 
advocacy with government, industry and other professional bodies. 

Read more here > 

Our advocacy and professional standing teams also assisted 
members by responding to 4,302 queries on ethics, professional 
standards, membership obligations, tax, financial planning, 
superannuation, auditing and assurance, financial reporting and 
business reform. 

Small-and-medium sized business focus 
A key focus of our advocacy was helping small-and-medium 
sized businesses through their COVID-19 recovery, particularly 
with cash flow and business planning, reducing complexity and 
regulatory burdens. Alleviating workloads on CAs practising in tax 
was front of mind in representations to the Australian Tax Office 
(ATO) and Inland Revenue.

Other priorities included the future and sustainability of the 
tax base, developing a strategic advice registration model for 
financial advisers, audit, assurance and risk, financial reporting, 
non-financial risks, climate change, insolvency, data/technology 
and anti-money laundering.

Audit regulation and auditor shortages 
The final report of the Australian Parliament’s inquiry into the 
Regulation of Audit adopted key recommendations put forward 
by Chartered Accountants ANZ, including promoting digital 
reporting and assurance around internal controls. 

As part of our ongoing advocacy work and engagement with 
members on the future of audit, we hosted a roundtable in 
New Zealand bringing together audit firms, investors, directors, 
regulators and standard setters. 

Following Chartered Accountants ANZ surveys of Australian and 
New Zealand audit firms that found a critical shortage of skilled 
auditors, we also advocated with governments on both sides of the 
Tasman on the challenges faced by the audit profession. In response 
to Chartered Accountants ANZ’s advocacy, the Australian Federal 
Government announced in June 2021 it would place accounting 
and audit professionals on the Priority Migration Skilled 
Occupation List. Work on obtaining a border class exception for 
auditors in New Zealand is ongoing. 

“This was a welcomed decision from the 
Australian Government who recognised 
the need for experienced accountants and 
auditors to maintain trust and confidence in 
financial reporting and in the economy.”

Simon Grant FCA, Chartered Accountants 
ANZ Group Executive, Advocacy and 
International

Financial advice 
Concerned by the compliance burden placed on CAs offering 
financial advice in Australia under a full or limited licence we 
urged Federal ministers, government agencies and the Australian 
Law Reform Commission to address over-regulation. There is also 
further need for CAs to be able to provide basic superannuation 
advice at a crucial time for everyday Australians and the 
wider economy. 

The cost of providing financial advice has become prohibitive and, 
as a result, large numbers of CAs are leaving the advice sector at 
the time when more clients need high-quality affordable advice. 
Our advocacy on this in Australia is continuing. 

Superannuation
Chartered Accountants ANZ was heavily involved in consultations 
that led to the introduction of measures such as making it easier 
to compare funds, publicly identifying underperforming funds 
and ‘stapling’ workers to a super account that follows them into a 
new job. Our pre-budget submission contributed to some welcome 
measures in the 2021 Federal Budget, such as abolishing the work 
test for certain types of contributions, relaxed SMSF change of 
residency rules and allowing so-called ‘legacy pensions’ to be 
dismantled and modernised. 

We also worked with the ATO on a range of matters including 
self-managed super fund auditor independence and its ruling 
concerning ‘non-arm’s length income’ for super funds. 

Tax Australia 
We engaged in regular dialogue with Treasury and ATO 
officials as they shifted back to “business as usual” tax policy 
and administration matters. Chartered Accountants ANZ 
took a keen interest in ATO debt collection activity, working 
with the Inspector-General of Taxation on a landmark report 
which highlighted increased aged, undisputed tax debt. 
The NSW proposal to switch from stamp duty on conveyances 
to annual property taxation was supported, but Chartered 
Accountants ANZ raised concerns about transitional issues 
and State budget impacts. 
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Tax New Zealand 
Chartered Accountants ANZ called on the New Zealand 
Government to account for the consequences of the 39% tax 
rate increase and advocated strongly for a change in the new flat 
Fringe Benefit Tax (FBT) rate. 

“Our NZ tax team raised public awareness and 
made strong representations to Government 
on the main changes to the bright-line test, 
achieving significant media coverage across 
New Zealand.” 

Peter Vial, NZ Country Head

Sustainability and climate change
In this reporting year our focus was on global consistency of 
reporting and standards and the role of accountants in preparing 
and assuring disclosures. We made submissions on New Zealand’s 
Climate Change Commission’s draft advice to the Government on 
achieving emissions targets, the International Financial Reporting 
Standards Foundation Trustees’ Consultation Paper assessing the 
demand for global sustainability standards and the Financial Sector 
(Climate-related Disclosures and Other Matters) Amendment 
Bill in New Zealand which mandates climate-related financial 
disclosures for particular entities.

In August 2020, Chartered Accountants ANZ CEO, Ainslie 
van Onselen signed an open letter, alongside other CEOs, to the 
Australian Prime Minister calling for a sustainable recovery for 
Australia in line with the UN Sustainable Development Goals. 

During the year we established a Sustainability Management 
Advisory Committee for Chartered Accountants ANZ to engage 
with a cross-section of members on relevant sustainability matters. 

Other key advocacy efforts included: 
Australia 
• The design and implementation of COVID-19 relief measures 

and SMSF auditor independence 

• Draft ATO guidelines on the way in which professional firms 
allocate profits 

• An ATO draft ruling on s100A of the Income Tax Assessment 
Act 1936, impacting the way in which discretionary trust 
distributions are made 

• The Insolvency reforms for small businesses including a new 
class of registered liquidator for small business restructuring 

• Commentary and media on two Federal Budgets and twelve 
State and Territory Budgets 

New Zealand 
• Tax submissions and providing input into major tax legislation in 

the absence of full public consultation 

• A legal challenge to the Department of Internal Affairs 
interpretation of the anti-money laundering legislation and the 
Ministry of Justice’s decision not to grant an exemption from 
the AML legislation for tax transfers undertaken by tax agents 

• Commentary and media on the New Zealand General Election 
and Budget 

Number of policy 
submissions for Australia 
and New Zealand 

201
Relevant thought leadership 
During the year we developed 12 thought leadership papers, 
guides and surveys to help inform our advocacy and stakeholder 
engagement on behalf of members and the profession. 

The inaugural 2020 Chartered Accountants IFRS survey gauged 
member views on the impact of the recently implemented new 
accounting standards and How long is the piece of string? presented 
a deep dive into intangibles, goodwill, and impairment. Chartered 
Accountants ANZ has used this research to engage with the 
International Accounting Standards Board and local standards 
setters to underline the critical need for greater simplicity in 
accounting standards. 

For a second year, our Investor Confidence Survey captured the 
views of over 1,500 retail investors in Australia and New Zealand, 
revealing solid confidence in audited financial reports and 
important signals on what investors expected from reporting 
during the pandemic.

We published a Guide to non-financial risks to help members 
identify and manage non-financial risks, highlighted by the 
pandemic, and maximise the opportunities, while our playbook 
Talking Talent was a conversation starter about attracting and 
retaining the most important ingredient for audit quality – people.

See more about the non-financial risks campaign here >
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Our paper Give it a nudge – behavioural insights into an ethical 
workplace, provided rich insights into practical approaches to 
overcome bias, improve ethical decision making and achieve 
transformative results. 

In partnership with Asialink Business, the Commonwealth Bank 
of Australia, the Australian Institute of Company Directors and 
The Sid and Fiona Myer Family Foundation, we also launched a 
thought leadership project, Winning in Asia: Creating long-term 
value. This report focused on unpacking some of the commonly 
held misconceptions associated with doing business in the region 
and to ultimately shift the thinking of corporate Australia towards 
greater internationalisation. 

Our joint report with ACCA, Analytics in Finance and 
Accountancy examined how finance and accounting teams can use 
forward-looking analytics to achieve greater insights and provide 
better business value.

Proudly upholding professional 
standards and trust 
During the year, trust has underpinned many of our activities 
and initiatives, recognising that preserving trust in the profession 
is more important than ever. Challenges to professional trust are 
on the rise and there are increasing community and consumer 
expectations for greater transparency and ethical purpose 
among professionals. 

The reimagined CA Program and refreshed CPD requirements 
maintain and enhance our high standards and trusted reputation 
by making ethics front and centre. 

We have further improved the quality and reputation of our 
professional standards and conduct programs, including delivered 
and planned technology advances in Professional Conduct and 
Quality Practice Reviews. 

We have also invested to ensure communities, businesses and 
organisations are aware of our trustworthiness. Our Difference 
Makers campaign encourages businesses to put their trust in highly 
ethical CAs to work with them, or in their business. Our advocacy 
and thought leadership are also underpinned by our commitment 
to ethics and trust in the profession. 

Practice review flexibility 
Our 2020–21 practice reviews, which help maintain the trust 
and pre-eminence of the CA designation, showed an overall 
improvement in results. During the year we also introduced 
greater flexibility in how we conduct reviews in response to 
COVID-19 restrictions. In response to travel restrictions and social 
distancing rules we introduced more flexibility into the Practice 
review process, including remote and desktop reviews. 

The practice review program is a leading part of our compliance 
framework. Each year we review a selection of members who offer 
services to the public to determine whether their quality controls 
meet professional, technical and legislative requirements. 

Reviews help members achieve and maintain quality, understand 
where they need additional guidance and satisfy regulatory and 
professional obligations. If our review finds a practice’s policies and 
procedures do not meet relevant requirements, the practice is asked 
to develop a plan to address the issues raised.

If necessary, a reviewer will revisit the practice to ensure issues 
have been addressed. We also work with these practices, approving 
mentors, providing tools and education and closely monitoring 
remediation plans. We use our learnings from this process 
to promote continuous improvement among all members in 
public practice.

In this reporting year, the majority of re-reviews were as a result 
of inadequate quality control, or insufficient documentation of 
evidence on audit and insolvency files, or a combination of these.

Four hundred and two reviews were completed in Australia and 
New Zealand in the year, compared to 337 in the previous years. 

Practice review results 

82%
(FY20, 68%)

5%
(FY20, 9%)

13%
(FY20, 23%)

SATISFACTORY RE-REVIEW REQUIRED IN 12 MONTHS UNSATISFACTORY

Practice
review
results

“When someone asks me ‘Are you a CA?’ 
I can instantly see that they associate 
this with integrity.” 

Christopher Chan CA

Protecting the designation 
Our Professional Conduct team protects the reputation of the 
CA designation and ensures members continue to comply with our 
high professional and ethical standards. 

The number of complaints against members can vary significantly 
from year to year. This year the number of complaints received was 
slightly higher than recent years’ averages. 
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The Professional Conduct team investigates complaints against members and maintains a robust process to deal with poor conduct, where 
it is established. 

All decisions in the complaints process are made by independent entities: the Professional Conduct Committee, the Disciplinary Tribunal 
and the Appeals Tribunal. Complaints are considered by the Professional Conduct Committee. If the alleged conduct is serious, it can be 
referred to the Disciplinary Tribunal to determine if there is a breach of the By-Laws or NZICA Rules and, if so, the appropriate sanction. The 
principles of procedural fairness underpin all the disciplinary body processes. 

The Professional Conduct Oversight Committee and the New Zealand Regulatory Board respectively provide independent oversight of the 
integrity, timeliness and effectiveness of the disciplinary programs carried out by the Professional Conduct Committee, the Disciplinary 
Tribunal and the Appeals Tribunal. 

Complaints against members 2020-21 (Previous year in brackets) 

Complaints received 347 (297)

Total complaints resolved 376 (314) 

Resolutions 

Concluded by Professional 
Conduct investigation

Resolved without investigation

Determined by
Disciplinary Tribunal

Withdrawn

Determined on appeal

TOTAL

212

122

30

11

1

376

#  Complaints received follow a process to resolve that takes a varying amount of time. Some complaints received in one financial year may, due to a number of factors including time to 
investigate, not be resolved until a subsequent year.

Professional conduct investigation outcomes (% resolved) 

Caution

Consent order/agreement

TOTAL

116
(55%)

73
(34%)

23
(11%)

212

Closed – no further action or 
professional reminder 

#  Complaints received follow a process to resolve that takes a varying amount of time. Some complaints received in one financial year may, due to a number of factors including time to 
investigate, not be resolved until a subsequent year.
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Breaches 

Failure to observe proper 
standard/negligence/incompetence

Failure to comply with 
organisation's 
direction/correspondence

Conduct unbecoming

15

8

3

7

5

6

9

1

4

8

0

2

Breaches of Charter, By-laws, 
regulations, rules or standards

Professional misconduct

Providing false and misleading 
information to the Professional 
Conduct Committee/the organisation

Adverse finding/dishonesty

Entered into an undertaking/failure 
to comply with undertaking

Non-compliance with condition or 
restriction on registration or licence/
Auditor Regulation Act 2011 (NZ)

Criminal convictions

Conduct bringing discredit/
inconsistent with integrity

Insolvency/bankruptcy

Sanctions ordered by disciplinary and appeals tribunals 

11

2

3

6

3

6

13

31

2

Cancellation/suspension

Censure

Termination/struck off

Training and development/ 
appointment of tutor/required 
to obtain advice

Fine

Practice review ordered

Prohibition from undertaking 
specified assignments

Costs to complainant

Cancel certificate of public 
practice/Ineligible to hold CPP  

1

3

2

3

Interim suspension 

Require member to 
refund or waive fee  

Recommendation to 
oppose readmission  

Costs
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Members supporting each other 
Chartered Accountants Advisory Groups (CAAG) provide 
confidential peer support for members facing ethical dilemmas or 
working through career decisions. The regional groups consist of 
experienced, senior CAs offering guidance for fellow members. 

During the reporting year, the groups provided assistance 
to 98 members. Key themes underlying this assistance were 
disciplinary and potential fraud matters, career discussions and 
partnership disputes. 

“We’ve seen many members who have been 
transformed by being able to make decisions 
and to go through difficulties in a way that 
they have peace about.” 

Bob Grice FCA, Founding Member of CAAG
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Membership growth and diversity 
Two strategic initiatives – sourcing the talent of the future and 
future membership programs and pathways – focus on building 
membership growth and diversity. This reporting year was a 
successful one in this regard with Chartered Accountants ANZ 
membership growing 2.3% to 131,673 which makes us the 
largest accounting body in Australia and New Zealand. 

“Now is the time to look to the future. We need 
to complement the significant investment 
in the new CA Program with new pathways 
and markets for our education program. 
Offering programs focused on the skills and 
capabilities needed for future success. We 
must also take a lean and efficient approach 
to how we operate to become a sustainable 
organisation.” 

Simon Hann, Group Executive,  
Education & Learning 

To continue to draw in the talent a healthy profession needs, we 
have a number of initiatives to attract new members with diverse 
backgrounds to the profession. A focal point of this drive was the 
introduction of a transformed CA Program.

Reimagining our flagship program 
The launch of the new CA Program was a milestone in the 
reimagination of our flagship education program. This was done 
to better meet the rising industry demand for broader expertise 
and skill base for future CAs. 

Graduating CAs are increasingly expected to be job-ready 
and equipped to handle our digital world. Our candidates are 
competing for roles as critical thinkers, innovators and digitally 
savvy experts who can guide new initiatives to help businesses 
navigate disruption and unpredictable environments. 

To be a leader in this environment, the CA Program was refreshed 
following extensive consultation with members, candidates, 
industry and global partners and employers in practices, businesses 
and other organisations. 

The new CA Program commenced in June 2021, setting candidates 
up with diverse capabilities including: 

• being trusted and ethical partners

• the ability to effectively operate in, and lead, digital transformation 

• understanding the implications that data and technology have 
on business

• assessing, navigating and leveraging emerging technologies

•  using influence, and collaboration and communication 
skills to take the lead in changing environments and solving 
complex problems 

The new CA Program provides greater flexibility and choice for 
both candidates and employers. It includes 13 subjects of which 
candidates must complete nine (compared to five compulsory 
modules previously) allowing candidates to start to specialise 
and ensuring all study is relevant. Targeted content leads to 
better trained graduates while learner support improves the 
experience and boosts retention. New subject areas include 
Risk and Technology, Data Analytics and Insights, Strategy and 
Performance, and Financial Modelling. 

Our objective is a sustainable profession and professional body. To achieve this we will 
manage, evolve and grow the profession and the organisation on behalf of members.

Sustainable profession 
and professional body
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Our flagship program continues to combine rigorous education 
with mentored practical experience. Chartered Accountants 
ANZ is the only professional accounting body approved as a 
Higher Education Provider by the Tertiary Education Quality and 
Standards Agency (TEQSA), Australia’s independent national 
regulator of the higher education sector.

The subjects are shorter and will be delivered more often with 
32 subjects timetabled over four terms in 2022 creating multiple 
completion routes for candidates. This will allow the flexibility 
to plan study around work and other commitments providing the 
opportunity to pause study in busy periods or to elect to complete 
shorter subjects.

Incorporated in these changes is the commitment to rigorous 
education and core competencies combined with mentored 
practical experience. The new CA Program continues to meet the 
standards required of us as a TEQSA Higher Education Provider.

It has been designed with a digital first mindset creating a 
significant uplift in the learner experience. This is underpinned 
with six new technology platforms within the ecosystem 
supporting candidates throughout their journey from enrolment 
to assessment.

Paper pages saved

13.6 million
By the CA Program going online.

Flexible options 
Our flexible entry requirements open up more options to gain 
entry to the CA Program. As a result of flexible study initiatives 
completed in 2020, we saw significant take-up of flexible study 
pathways by new and existing provisional CA members during 
the reporting year. 

There were increased enrolment numbers in both the CA Program 
and CA Foundations including: 

• 1,750 new provisional CA members who previously would 
have been ineligible were approved to commence the 
CA Program while concurrently completing their final 
CA Foundations studies

• CA Foundations enrolments grew 10% to 3,078 compared with 
the previous year 

Chartered Accountants ANZ has recognised the significant 
impact that COVID-19 has had on the education sector, in 
particular our partner universities. We have continued to support 
this community through our Platinum Sponsorship with the 
Accounting and Finance Association of Australia and New Zealand 
(AFAANZ), which includes representation and participation 
in their conferences and the AFAANZ “Insight Series” which 
is a forum focusing on hot topics presented by the academic 
community and industry. 

Chartered Accountants ANZ also supports the Chairs of 
Accounting and Finance Forum (CAFF) throughout the year by 
providing timely updates on the profession, accreditation, as well 
as sourcing subject matter experts. The collective efforts have seen 
a rise in CA Membership through the Academic Pathway initiative 
from 309 in June 2019 to 355 as at June 2021. 

The Careers Engagement team continue to develop initiatives 
that support the students whilst promoting accounting education 
and the profession through a wide range of tailored events and 
initiatives throughout the year. These are undertaken with 
the support of academics, career advisors, student societies 
and students. 

Most Popular  
Professional Association

AAGE AWARD 
The team were awarded the ‘Most Popular Professional 
Association’ at the 2020 AAGE Graduate Industry Awards, 
which was a great reflection of their dedication.

Membership growth 
In this reporting year Chartered Accountants ANZ membership 
grew to 131,673 members, up from 128,683 in FY20, continuing 
a trend of solid growth since formation in 2015. 

2019–20 2020–21 

Total members 128,683 131,673 
(2.3%) 

Full members holding a 
Chartered Accountant, 
Associate Chartered 
Accountant or 
Accounting Technician 
(New Zealand) or 
Affiliate designation 

109,230 111,682

Provisional members 19,453 19,991

Difference Makers Class of 2020 
In November 2020, we celebrated new members joining as one 
global cohort of Difference Makers in Chartered Accountants 
ANZ’s first ever online new members’ ceremony. Around 1,500 
new members, joined by an estimated 2,500 family, friends, 
mentors and colleagues, came together to celebrate the occasion.

New members were treated by walking down the virtual red 
carpet to enter the Difference Makers Theatre where they were 
entertained and honoured. 

The event highlights package is available on our website. 
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The resilience and achievement of the Class of 2020 cohort were 
recognised. Those achieving membership in 2020, as well as other 
provisional members, undertook their studies while navigating 
personal and professional upheavals brought on by the COVID-19 
pandemic including a rapid transition to online exams.

Young CAs strategy  
Young CAs (those within five years of attaining full membership 
and/or 35 years of age or under) and provisional members are now 
over 40% of our global membership. During the reporting year we 
created a strategy for this substantial demographic, supporting the 
next generation of Difference Makers. 

Our focus on inclusion in the profession
Our 2021 Member Remuneration Survey highlighted the 
continuing gender pay gap in the profession. While progress 
has been made by many firms and workplaces, the gap in total 
remuneration is around A$50,000 in Australia and NZ$60,000 
in New Zealand.

Read more here > 

This gap exists not only on a total remuneration level, but also 
within the same groups, based on locations, select positions years 
of experience and hours worked.

The vast majority of members (95%) surveyed said it is important 
for Chartered Accountants ANZ to address this issue. We are 
taking an educative approach and have committed to action 
including providing members with future reporting plus a range 
of tools and resources.

We look forward to working with members towards a fairer profession.

Membership by gender 

Note: The gender data does not include 169 members who have 
chosen not to provide their gender (125 in 2020).

Chartered Accountants ANZ introduced a Prefer not to say gender 
option in 2018. By 2020, 125 members had chosen this option and 
by 2021 89 Affiliate members, 15 full members and 65 provisional 
members had chosen this option. 

MALE FEMALE

Full

42%
(2020, 41%)

58%
(2020, 59%)

MALE FEMALE

Provisional

52%
(2020, 52%)

48%
(2020, 48%)

MALE FEMALE

All members

43%
(2020, 43%)

57%
(2020, 57%)

MALE FEMALE

Watch now >
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First Peoples and Māori strategies 
During the reporting year Chartered Accountants ANZ 
continued to embrace and promote First Peoples and Māori 
membership and values.

In February 2021, the Board supported a First Peoples’ Strategy 
to be implemented in conjunction with the development of a 
Chartered Accountants ANZ Reconciliation Action Plan with a 
specific focus on supporting Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander 
peoples to become part of, and stay in, the profession. The strategy 
will focus on influence, advocacy and action. 

In New Zealand, our Māori Sector advocacy focused on getting 
Māori into accounting, member support, and tikanga/te reo 
competency within Chartered Accountants ANZ. In April 2021, 
the Chartered Accountants ANZ Board commenced cultural 
awareness training with an introduction to bi-culturalism, 
alongside information on te ao Māori and the Treaty of Waitangi. 

Each year, Chartered Accountants ANZ and the Ngā Kaitatau 
Māori o Aotearoa (National Māori Accountants Network or 
NKMoA) award the Ngā Raumanako Māori Scholarship and 
Suzanne Spencer Memorial Māori Scholarship to Māori students 
to support and encourage them on their education journey to 
become professional accountants. 

Aulo Barclay, a student at the University of Auckland, was the 
2020 recipient of the Ngā Raumanako Māori Scholarship. Cherie 
Watene from The Waikato Institute of Technology (Wintec) was 
awarded the 2020 Suzanne Spencer Memorial Māori Scholarship. 

In Australia we supported two Indigenous Australians with 
CA Program scholarships. In 2020 Kadeisha Kartinyeri, a 
Ngarrindjeri woman from South Australia and Briannah Pearson, 
a Gamilaraay woman from New South Wales, were announced 
as the recipients of the scholarships. 

“To me the scholarship means recognising 
that there is so much potential in young Māori 
professionals and removing any inequities 
or barriers to fulfilling our full potential. The 
scholarship provides opportunities for those 
who are capable of achieving great things in 
the accounting profession.” 

Aulo Barclay, 2020 recipient of the 
Ngā Raumanako Māori Scholarship.

Specialisations
Specialists are CAs recognised for their advanced skills and 
knowledge in niche areas of our profession.

A new risk specialisation was introduced in November 2020 with 
CA Risk Specialists recognised for their significant knowledge 
and experience in a field that includes governance, enterprise risk 
management, strategic risks, financial risks, operational risks, data 
governance, risk culture. 

In a survey of CA Specialists, the majority confirmed that being a 
specialist enhanced their personal brand, particularly in the areas 
of business valuation, forensic accounting and risk. 

Approved Specialisations 2019–20 2020–21 

Financial Planning (2000) 287 272 

Self-Managed Super Fund 
(commenced Nov 2012)

431 437 

Business Valuation 
(commenced Mar 2014) 

189 197 

Forensic Accounting 
(commenced Nov 2018) 

90 117 

Risk (commenced Nov 2020) 32 

Total 997 1,055 

International growth targeted 
The desirability of a career as a CA was brought to the forefront 
with COVID-19 because of job security including the visibility, 
importance and need for CA skills.

Our Asia strategy 
Our Asia growth strategy is currently focused on Malaysia with the 
aim of building this market as a future model for growth offshore. 
We have strong local partnerships in Malaysia with a 10-year 
partnership with the Malaysia Institute of CPAs (MICPA) to deliver 
our CA Program. 

We are also working on new marketing and media strategies, as well 
as increased resources to deliver on the strategy. 
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International pathways 
Our International Pathway Program (IPP) is designed for 
experienced members of designated overseas CA bodies, living in 
Australia or New Zealand, and seeking membership of Chartered 
Accountants ANZ.

In this reporting year we commenced a new partnership with 
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Bangladesh (ICAB) 
bringing the approved number of IPP designated bodies to five. 
The others are India, Pakistan, Sri Lanka and Nepal. One hundred 
and fourteen members successfully completed the program 
during the year. 

Mutual recognition agreements 
In May 2021 we re-signed a reciprocal recognition agreement with 
the Institute of Singapore Chartered Accountants (ISCA) providing 
full recognition of all education and learning modules to members 
of both bodies. 

In April 2021, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India 
(ICAI) announced Indian Cabinet approval for a Memorandum of 
Understanding, continuing our work with ICAI for the benefit of 
our members and the broader accounting profession.

We also renewed our five-year-old Strategic Partnership Alliance 
with the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) 
in April 2021 to continue to deliver and strengthen value to 
members of both bodies. 

Integrated Reporting
In this reporting year, the Chartered Accountants ANZ Board 
committed to a three-year road map to adopt the Value Reporting 
Foundation, formerly known as International Integrated Reporting 
Council’s (IIRC) Integrated Reporting (<IR>) Framework and 
develop an Integrated Report for Financial Year 2023. 

Our <IR> roadmap Strategic Initiative is an opportunity for 
Chartered Accountants ANZ to demonstrate leadership in 
sustainable business reporting and set an example for others 
looking to improve transparency regarding their use of key 
resources and relationships (‘Capitals’) to create enterprise 
value in line with the strategy, and in the context of their 
external environment.

Our 3-year roadmap for <IR> 

FY23 FY24

 
 

FY22FY21

Value creation 
process aligned 

with strategy

IR principles 
based 

Annual Report

Fully 
Integrated 

Report

Continuous
Improvment

Embedding <IR> throughout our systems, processes and business 
practices, with a focus on long-term value creation, will enhance 
Board oversight, executive execution of strategy and management 
of risks and opportunities.

For members, our Integrated Report will improve communication 
of our performance and increase confidence in long-term viability 
of their member body. 

There have been significant moves to establish global sustainability 
standards and develop a new corporate reporting framework 
that may impact the roles of many Chartered Accountants ANZ 
members and firms, as well as training of future accountants. 

In November 2021, the International Financial Reporting 
Standard (IFRS) Foundation will meet to discuss the creation of an 
International Sustainability Standards Board (ISSB) which will set 
sustainability standards. It is proposed the ISSB will also work with 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) to develop 
a new connected reporting framework allowing organisations 
to more effectively report on how they have created sustainable 
enterprise value. 

Following Board approval of the roadmap, we looked at what needed 
to be done to implement a phased approach to meeting our deadline 
for an Integrated Report by FY23. Activities in 2020–21 included 
identifying our key Capitals, (being those resources and relationships 
that are critical to Chartered Accountants ANZ’s ability to create 
sustainable value for members over time), implementing quick wins 
and preparing for material changes in FY22.

Our FY22 Annual Report will be based on <IR> principles. The 
following year the Integrated Report will apply the IIRC’s, or 
Value Reporting Foundation’s (as IIRC merged with SASB during 
2021 to form the VRF), <IR> Framework in full. We will focus on 
continuous improvement beyond that date. We believe the IIRC’s 
<IR> Framework best fits our commitment to present a connected 
picture for our whole organisation.
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Member and key  
stakeholders
Effective and trusted relationships 
with our diverse members, 
provisional members, student 
affiliates, partners, suppliers 
and regulators

Social & relationships

Brand and  
reputation
The strength of the CA brand, 
our reputation and social licence 
to operate in the community

Social & relationships

Intellectual property
A transformed CA Program that 
attracts the best talent of today and 
effectively equips the accounting 
professionals of tomorrow and 
CPD learning material (thought 
leadership, guides and resources) 
to support members continue 
their professional development

Intellectual

Financial capital
Access to and management 
of financial capital primarily 
provided by members 
(subscriptions, fees and  
services) and future members  
(CA program fees)

Financial

IT infrastructure and 
digital platforms
The reliability, security and 
operating efficiency of our 
internal processes, IT systems 
and digital platforms Manufactured

People and culture
The competencies, experience, 
behaviours, engagement and 
wellbeing of our team

Human

<IR> Framework aligned capitals

Modern Slavery Statement 
To demonstrate our commitment to corporate social responsibility, 
Chartered Accountants ANZ published its first Modern Slavery 
and Human Trafficking Statement during the reporting year. 

The statement, endorsed by the Chartered Accountants ANZ 
Board, highlights our commitment to partnering with our 
suppliers to continually improve processes to monitor modern 
slavery risk in our supply chains. 

Chartered Accountants ANZ’s 2020 Modern Slavery Statement 
was amongst the first 120 statements published on Australian 
Government’s online register for modern slavery statements in 
November 2020. 

To date 2,452 statements have been published.
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Technology game changer 
Digital transformation and delivery is our response to members 
seeking more value via digital touch points, including greater 
personalisation. Members have also indicated they face challenges 
searching or navigating our digital channels and they want more 
targeted support and communications and enhanced connections 
and networks. 

We are putting data at the centre of our support for members, and 
for Chartered Accountants ANZ people, by improving our digital, 
data and analytics capability which will support personalised value, 
relevant communication, and ease of navigation. 

“Our ambition to deliver member-centric 
personalised member experiences begins 
with a solid technology foundation. Key to our 
delivery will be continuous improvement and 
data will be at the centre of everything we do.” 

Mat Yelavich, Chief Information Officer 

During this year, many of the technology foundations we need to 
achieve personalised, contextual, data-driven member experiences 
were defined, planned and delivered. 

Our technology strategy and roadmap is built on: 

• a focus on performance. We are ensuring the performance of 
our technology services are reliable, secure and stable. We have 
made changes to the way we support key infrastructure and have 
introduced new capabilities

• a new IT Operating Model. We are boosting our capacity for 
reliable and frequent transformation changes by using Agile 
development methodologies and associated operational practices, 
consistent with mature digital organisations. We have now 
implemented tooling and processes to support continuous 
integration and deployment for our key systems

• an Integration strategy. Integration is critical to unlock data and 
systems that will ultimately drive our Digital transformation 
and enable personalisation of member services. We are taking an 
Application Programming Interface (API) approach, untangling 
many years of integration in a more structured way. We have now 
migrated to a new, more scalable integration platform to enable 
the API strategy and support a larger volume of transactions 

In our drive to improve our digital, data and analytics capability 
we have a solid base to work from. Great progress has already 
been made on moving key applications to the cloud, upgrading 
our network services and putting in place productivity and 
collaboration tools. 

During this reporting year, we established our new data 
architecture and have the foundations of our new data governance 
framework. We rolled out a training and change strategy for 
Chartered Accountants ANZ people as a first step to ensure 
understanding of cloud technologies and provide real-time 
collaboration for increased productivity and alternative methods 
of communication. 

Technology is critically involved in all five Chartered Accountants 
ANZ strategy pillars, either directly or indirectly. For example, 
our digital and data skills are supporting the levels of personalised 
member engagement we need to ensure a world class member 
experience and also creating an adaptive organisation to deliver on 
our strategic goals. 

Focus on cyber security 
During the year we continued our focus on cyber security. This 
included putting in place additional protection for our member-facing 
assets such as the website and implementing new email filtering 
technology to help us defend against email spam and phishing threats.

ASD Essential Eight baseline mitigation strategies continue to guide 
our operational practices through patching and upgrades and user and 
application administration. More formally, the NIST Cyber Security 
framework is used to assess our cyber posture and inform investment, 
with good progress made towards our target maturity score across the 
Financial Year. 

Successfully delivering a digital transformation for members requires the right 
technology foundations, improving members’ experiences and introducing new 
ways of working for members to better collaborate and connect.

Digital transformation 
and delivery

PART I: 40 Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand Annual Report 2021



A culture of Difference Makers
Our aim is to build an integrated, agile and diverse organisation backed by the 
right tools and capabilities. 

Developing our people 
To support our members in leading and making a difference, our 
organisation is focused on developing capable, values-driven leaders 
and ensuring our people have a clear understanding of how they 
contribute to our strategic goals. Workplace flexibility, inclusion 
and wellbeing are key pillars in our strategy of building a culture 
of Difference Makers and ensuring our culture is aligned to 
our  strategy. 

Successful execution of our strategy requires informed, confident 
leaders who can engage all of our people on our strategic journey. 
During the year we established a Senior Leadership Forum 
comprising key operational leaders and influencers across the 
organisation. The intention of forming this group is to develop the 
capability of our leaders to translate our strategy through all levels 
of the organisation. 

To ensure we can deliver our strategy, we rolled out the CA 
Capability Model within Chartered Accountants ANZ. This 
has allowed us to map the capability development needs for the 
whole organisation, and to deliver targeted and enterprise-wide 
development initiatives. Our first organisation-wide capability 
development initiative was focused on developing an agile mindset. 

From a wellbeing perspective, we ensured our people remained 
connected, informed and safe, particularly with working from 
home arrangements during COVID-19 lockdowns. We continued 
to develop comprehensive pandemic response plans and flexible 
work principles with a heightened focus on social connection, 
collaboration, mental health, fitness and wellbeing support. 
Continued ergonomic assessments and technology upgrades were 
also rolled out to support working from home. 

Collaboration and knowledge sharing were enhanced through 
regular organisation-wide Zoom and Teams calls, webinars, online 
learning and development alongside a range of wellbeing activities 
including meditation, a book club and yoga.

In March 2021, we introduced 3-2-1 which is a hybrid working 
model offering our people more flexibility and based on their 
feedback. 3-2-1 is made up of three days in or away from the office, 
two days in the office with 1 of these office days a team day.

The 3-2-1 model is the first step in our broader approach to flex and 
is an interim solution as we define our approach to remote working.

We are working on a broader framework to support flexible 
working as part of our strategy.

This program has been embraced by our people and leaders.

“To deliver our strategy we rely on having 
capable and values driven leaders who can 
create a compelling vision of our purpose to 
inspire our people with a clear understanding 
of how they can contribute. Culture is crucial 
to the execution of strategy.” 

Shona Tarrant, Group Executive People 
and Culture 

Inclusion and Diversity strategy released 
During the year we released our Inclusion and Diversity strategy 
and action plan as part of our commitment to promoting 
an inclusive culture. Our ambition is to create a workplace 
community where everybody feels they belong, where our 
leaders actively seek their voices and develop people to deliver an 
exceptional member experience. 

Our initiatives were focused on governance activities and the 
identification of areas that could make the most immediate impact 
to our people. This included refreshing our Inclusion and Diversity 
(I&D) policy, reviewing all of our people and culture policies with 
an inclusion lens, designing and delivering I&D training for all our 
people and reviewing our pay structures and hotspots as part of our 
commitment to closing the gender pay gap. 

The Chartered Accountants ANZ gender gap in average salary at 
June 2021 was 15.9% (18% in FY2020).
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Gender breakdown of employees

361

Total employees
522

161

MALE FEMALE

Executive

Total: 12

6

6

Non-
Manager

Total: 403

292111

General
Manager
(Band 3)

Total: 24

13

11

People
Leader

Total: 83

50

33

Proportion of female representation

Organisation-wide

Executive

General Managers

People Leaders

Non-Managers

69%

50%

54%

60%

72%

We redesigned our engagement survey this year to enable a greater 
understanding of our people through self-reporting demographics 
with a focus on I&D and wellbeing. Overall engagement lifted 
5% year on year and 93% of our people believed the greater 
flexibility of working from home has enhanced their ability to 
perform their role. Importantly, 90% of our people know how their 
work contributes to the goals of Chartered Accountants ANZ. 

Giving back
Our charitable giving program Everybody Counts allows our 
people to support their chosen charity partners. In the reporting 
year, the program raised $149,099 through in-kind contributions 
and donations including $27,536 raised from employee payroll 
giving and fundraising activities. 

Our charity partners are Dementia Australia, National Breast 
Cancer Foundation, Reachout.com, RSPCA, The Smith Family, 
New Zealand Autism, Cancer Society, SPCA and Youthline.
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Governance
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Our Board

(from left to right) Dianne Williams, Ming Long FCA AM, Penny Stragalinos FCA, Chris Townend FCA, 
John Palermo FCA, Cheryl Hayman, Dr Nives Botica Redmayne FCA, Murray Harrington FCA, Sarah Petersen CA, 
Kate Boorer FCA, Robert (Rob) McDonald FCA and Carolyn Colley FCA 
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Our Board

Chair
John Palermo BBus – Accounting and Finance, FCA

Term of office:
Director since 1 October 2015

Date of next scheduled re-election:
Re-appointed for a second term from 1 July 2021

Skills, experience and expertise:
John has 20 years’ experience in public practice, with expertise in 
corporate transaction execution, strategic business management 
and business structuring.

John was previously Chair of the Chartered Accountants ANZ 
Public Practice Advisory Committee and the Western Australia 
Regional Council. 

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
• Audit and Risk Committee since 2016

• Nominations and Governance Committee member since 2020

Key directorships and other interests over the past three years:
• Director of Palermo Chartered Accountants 

• Non-Executive director of West Australian Ballet

• Director and Deputy Chair of Royal Perth Hospital Medical 
Research Foundation 

• Non-Executive Director of Alterra Ltd

• Consul of Uruguay (Honorary) 

• Executive and Council member of National Trust of Australia 
(resigned November 2018)

• Non-Executive Director of Lifeline (resigned September 2018)

President
Dr Nives Botica Redmayne Phd Accountancy, FCA

Term of office:
Vice President from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2020; 
President since 1 January 2021

Date due to retire:
31 December 2021

Skills, experience and expertise:
Nives is currently an Associate Professor in accountancy at the 
Massey University School of Accountancy, Massey Business School 
in New Zealand.

Her main area of research and expertise is assurance; in particular, 
the highly specialised area of economics and production of 
assurance services and assurance markets. Her other area of 
expertise and research is in financial reporting and auditing.

Nives has also contributed to the development of professional 
standards, guidance and policies for practicing auditors and 
regulators in New Zealand.

Nives has a Bachelor degree in Economics and Finance, Masters 
degree in Accounting, Finance and Banking, PhD in Accountancy 
from Massey University, New Zealand.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
• Council member since 2017

• Nominations and Governance Committee in 2019 and then on 
appointment to the role of President in 2021

• Director of NZICA Regulatory Board (retired in 
December 2020) 

• Chair of New Zealand Council (retired in December 2020)

Key directorships and other interests over the past three years:
• Member of Massey University School of Accounting 

Advisory Board 

• Member of NZ Accounting Standards Board, XRB 

• Board member for several Manawatū community groups 
and societies

• Member of FMA Audit Oversight Committee 
(resigned January 2020)

Board of Directors and Office Bearers
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Vice Presidents
Kate Boorer FCA

Term of office:
Vice President since 1 January 2021 

Date due to retire:
Term ends 31 December 2021 but may stand for re-appointment

Skills, experience and expertise:
Kate is currently the Founder of Young Professional Women 
Australia and Partner of Quantum Impact Group, a consultancy 
that specialises in aligning organisational culture with 
business strategy.

With a diverse career, Kate has worked in both public practice 
(commencing her career at KPMG) and the private sector before 
moving away from a traditional finance career to pursue an 
entrepreneurial path. Being passionate about both business 
and people, Kate has spent much of the past decade working 
with individuals and organisations to create workplace cultures 
where everyone thrives. Kate has been involved in both the 
design and delivery of the Mentor Exchange Program since its 
inception and is a regular speaker at Chartered Accountants ANZ 
conferences and events. 

Kate is a Fellow of Chartered Accountants ANZ, a member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors and holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce, Accounting from Macquarie University.

Other governance body memberships:
• Council member since 2019

• New South Wales Regional Council (retired in December 2020)

Key directorships and other interests over the past three years:
• Founder & Director of Young Professional Women Australia 

Pty Ltd

• Director of Quantum Impact Group Pty Ltd 

• Director of KPB Holdings Pty Ltd 

• Trustee of KB Investment Trust

Murray Harrington FCA

Term of office:
Vice President since 1 January 2021 

Date due to retire:
Term ends 31 December 2021 but may stand for re-appointment

Skills, experience and expertise:
Murray is the Chief Executive Officer of Nomos One Limited, a 
lease accounting software company which serves customers across a 
number of countries. 

He currently holds a number of directorships and governance 
roles in infrastructure, tourism, education and local government. 
For many years Murray was a Partner in PwC where he provided 
a range of services including risk advisory, consulting and 
financial advisory.

Prior to this, Murray was a business owner, having successfully 
purchased, grown and exited businesses and worked 
internationally for Mobil Corporation.

Other governance body memberships:
• Chair of New Zealand Council

• Director of NZICA Regulatory Board

• Council member since 2017

Key directorships and other interests over the past three years:
•  Chief Executive Officer of Nomos One Limited

•  Chairman of Methven Adventures Limited

•  Director of Harrington Co Ltd

•  Director of Great Hall Limited

•  Director of Sicon Limited

•  Director of MDW Harrington Holdings Ltd

•  Director of Hanmer Harrogate Ltd

•  Member of the Advisory Board of University of Canterbury 
Students Association

•  Trustee of Harington-Eden Family Trust

•  Trustee of Jenny Wallace Family Trust

•  Independent member of the Audit Committee of the 
New Zealand Infrastructure Commission 

•  Independent member of the Audit Committee for Ashburton 
District Council

•  Partner of PwC (resigned December 2019)

PART I: 46 Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand Annual Report 2021



Directors
Carolyn Colley FCA

Term of office:
Director since 17 May 2021 (casual vacancy)

Date of next scheduled re-election:
1 January 2022

Skills, experience and expertise:
Carolyn has over 30 years’ experience spanning financial services, 
product development, technology and innovation. Carolyn has led 
the evolution and introduction of some of today’s most compelling 
superannuation, personal banking and wealth management 
solutions, and played an industry-leading role in the advancement 
of fintech in Australia.

Carolyn has previously held senior executive roles at Macquarie 
Bank, St George Bank and BT Financial Group and was 
co-founder and COO of Faethm, a global analytics software‐as‐a‐
service platform.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
–

Key directorships and other interests over the past three years:
• Non-Executive director of CountPlus

• Non-Executive director of the Australian Securities Exchange 
Subsidiaries; ASX Clear (Futures) Pty Limited, ASX Clear Pty 
Limited, ASX Clearing Corporation Limited, ASX Settlement 
Corporation Limited, ASX Settlement Pty Limited and 
Austraclear Ltd

• Non-Executive director of Smartgroup Corporation

• Non-Executive director of the IOOF Trustee Boards 
and Committees: OnePath Custodians Pty Limited, 
Oasis Fund Management Limited and IOOF Investment 
Management Limited 

• Director, Deputy Chair and Treasurer of Liverpool 
Neighbourhood Connections

• Member of the Advisory Board of Suprahedged Pty Ltd

• Co-founder and COO of Faethm (resigned April 2020)

Cheryl Hayman BCom

Term of office:
Director since 1 January 2018

Date of next scheduled re-election:
1 July 2023

Skills, experience and expertise:
Cheryl had a lengthy and successful global marketing career 
in multinational organisations Unilever (Australia and UK), 
Yum Restaurants (Australia and NZ), Time Warner and 
George Weston Foods.

Cheryl’s specialisation brings to a Board a depth of expertise in 
building compelling brand propositions, a passion for driving 
innovation, deep understanding of digital communications, 
membership expertise and profitable strategy development.

Cheryl holds a Bachelor of Commerce, majoring in Marketing 
from the University of New South Wales. Cheryl is a non-member 
on our Board.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
• People and Remuneration Committee since 2019

Key directorships and other interests over the past three years:
• Non-Executive director of HGL Ltd

•  Non-Executive director of Shriro Holdings Ltd

•  Non-Executive director of Peer Support Australia

•  Non-Executive director of The Darlinghurst Theatre Company

•  Councillor of HCF 

•  Member of Digital Experts Advisory Committee

•  Fellow of AICD and Fellow of Governance Institute of Australia

•  Member of Chartered Governance Institute

•  Non-Executive director of Women on Boards 
(resigned September 2019)

•  Non-Executive director of Clover Corporation Ltd 
(resigned November 2020)

•  Nominations Committee member of Gymnastics Australia 
(resigned December 2020)
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Ming Long BEc, LLB, MBA, FFin, GAICD, FCA

Term of office:
Director since 1 January 2017 (Casual Vacancy)

Date of next scheduled re-election:
Ming Long has indicated that she will be not seeking 
re-appointment following the conclusion of her current term on 
31 December 2021.

Skills, experience and expertise:
Ming Long AM FCA is a well-respected and influential leader with 
almost a decade of board experience in areas including financial 
services and real estate.

Ming’s executive career spanned real estate, investment 
management, media and finance. She spent 11 years at Investa 
Property Group where she held several roles including Managing 
Director, Chief Financial Officer, and Group Executive, IOF Fund 
Manager, leading a ASX listed fund with a market capitalisation 
of $2.5bn.

Ming holds a Bachelor of Economics and Law from the University 
of Sydney, and an MBA from the University of Technology, Sydney. 
Ming is a fellow of FINSIA, graduate of Australian Institute of 
Company Directors and a member of Chief Executive Women. 

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
• CA X Chair since 2019

Key directorships and other interests over the past three years:
• Chair of AMP Capital Funds Management Ltd, Chair of 

AMP Investment Service Pty Ltd

•  Chair of Diversity Council of Australia

•  Non-Executive director of QBE Insurance (Australia) Ltd

•  Non-Executive director of QBE Lenders Mortgage Insurance Ltd

•  Non-Executive director of QBE Insurance (International) Pty Ltd

•  Non-Executive director of CEDA Board

•  Member of Managed Investment Scheme & Compliance 
Committee – National Mutual Funds Management Ltd 

•  Member of Managed Investment Scheme & Compliance 
Committee – IPAC Asset Management Ltd 

•  Member of Chief Executive Women

•  Member of University of Sydney Culture Advisory Council

•  Director of YBF Fintech Hub Advisory Board (resigned 
April 2020)

•  National Group Convenor for Male Champions of Change 
(resigned April 2021)

Robert (Rob) McDonald BCom, FCA

Term of office:
Director since 1 January 2018

Date of next scheduled re-election:
1 July 2024

Skills, experience and expertise:
A highly experienced Chief Financial Officer, Rob has held a 
number of senior management roles with a focus on business and 
strategic planning. Rob also has extensive experience in financial 
risk management, including the development and execution of 
Treasury policies and multibillion dollar funding programmes 
and structures.

As Chief Financial Officer of Air New Zealand, Rob was named 
Deloitte’s Top Chief Financial Officer of the Year in New Zealand 
in 2015. He also received the Fairfax Media New Zealand Chief 
Financial Officer of the Year award in 2010.

Rob holds a Bachelor of Commerce from Auckland University.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
• People and Remuneration Committee Chair since 2018

• New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Regulatory 
Board since 2018

Key directorships and other interests over the past three years:
• Chair of University of Auckland Business School Advisory Board

• Member of University of Auckland Council

• Chair of Contact Energy Ltd

• Member of People Committee for Contact Energy Ltd

• Non-Executive director of AIA New Zealand Ltd

• Non-Executive director of Fletcher Building Ltd

• Chair of Audit & Risk Committee of Fletcher Building Ltd

• Member of Nominations Committee of Fletcher Building Ltd

• Non-Executive Director and Chair of the Audit & Risk 
Committee of AIA NZ Ltd

• Director of RSMcDonald Services Ltd

• Trustee of McDonald Family Trust
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Sarah Petersen CA

Term of office:
Director since 1 January 2020

Date of next scheduled re-election:
1 January 2023

Skills, experience and expertise:
Sarah is an experienced non-executive Director and Chief 
Financial Officer in the not-for-profit and commercial sectors 
in New Zealand, most recently holding executive roles at global 
education consultancy Cognition Education.

Sarah began her Chartered Accountancy career at Ernst & Young 
in New Zealand before moving to the telecommunications sector, 
is a member of the Institute of Directors and holds a Bachelor 
of Management Studies with First Class Honours from the 
University of Waikato. Sarah currently holds director roles in 
government, education and investment.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
• New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Regulatory 

Board since 2020

• People and Remuneration Committee since 2021

Key directorships and other interests over the past three years:
• Director/Shareholder of Soda Group Ltd

• Director & Chair of the Audit & Risk Committee of 
Far North Holdings Ltd

•  Director/Shareholder of NIKO Properties Ltd

• Chair for Arawai Limited 

• Director of Ngāpuhi Investment Fund Limited & Chair of 
Assurance & Risk Committee

• Chair & Director Northland Inc (completed June 2021)

• Director Wavelength Ltd (resigned January 2020)

• Director Cognition South East Asia (resigned May 2020)

• CFO Cognition Education Ltd (resigned January 2020)

Penny Stragalinos BCom, EMBA, FCA

Term of office:
Director since 1 January 2017

Date of next scheduled re-election:
1 January 2023

Skills, experience and expertise:
Penny is a KPMG audit partner, with 28 years’ experience as an 
external auditor, accounting and risk advisor, specialising in the 
energy and natural resources and industrial markets industries. 
Penny also has significant transaction services experience, including 
acquisition, debt raising and share issue due diligence assignments. 
Penny was previously the COO of KPMG’s Audit, Assurance and 
Risk Consulting Practice. 

Penny holds a Bachelor of Commerce from The University of 
Melbourne and an Executive MBA from École Nationale de 
Ponts et Chausées School of International Management and 
The University of Edinburgh.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
• Audit and Risk Committee since 2020

• People and Remuneration Committee (retired)

Key directorships and other interests over the past three years:
• KPMG Partner & Registered Company Auditor

• Member of the Advisory Board for the Deakin University 
Integrated Reporting Centre

• Non-executive director of Victorian Opera and Chair of Audit 
Committee (resigned May 2019)
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Christopher (Chris) Townend  
MBA (distinction), BA (Hons), FAICD, FCA, ACCA

Term of office:
Director since 1 January 2018

Date of next scheduled re-election:
1 July 2023

Skills, experience and expertise:
Chris is a professional non-executive director and has previously 
had board roles in the financial services, education, construction 
and transport sectors.

Chris operates a boutique consultancy, where he focuses on 
governance and strategic financial management. 

Chris has extensive executive management experience in 
Government, not-for-profit and private sector organisations in 
Australia, New Zealand and the United Kingdom.

He is a volunteer member of the Uniting Church’s Synod 
audit and risk committee, and the finance committee of the 
Presentation Sisters in Queensland. 

Chris is a Fellow of Chartered Accountants ANZ, a member of 
ACCA, a Fellow of the Institute of Directors and holds a Master of 
Business Administration from Massey University, New Zealand.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
• Audit & Risk Committee since 2019 and Chair since 2020

Key directorships and other interests over the past three years:
• Chair of Thomson Adsett Pty Ltd

• Director & Chair of Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee for 
Uniting Care

• Director of Australian National Polytechnic and Chair of the 
Audit and Risk Committee

• Director of Townend Consulting

• External Finance Committee member of Brisbane South 
Primary Healthcare Network

• Advisory Board member of Osler Technology Ltd

• Finance Committee member of Presentation Sisters

• Audit & Risk Committee member of Uniting Church Synod

• Director & Finance Committee member of Brisbane South 
Primary Healthcare Network (resigned November 2021)

Dianne Williams  
B Com, Grad Dip Bus (New Ventures), MBA

Term of office:
Director since 1 August 2016 (Casual Vacancy)

Date of next scheduled re-election:
1 January 2023

Skills, experience and expertise:
Dianne has held a number of senior leadership positions with 
companies such as House of Travel, Cadbury Confectionery Ltd, 
Sealord, and Office Products Depot. She is a Chartered member 
of the Institute of Directors and holds an MBA and Bachelor of 
Commerce from the University of Auckland.

Dianne holds a varied portfolio of directorships. Dianne is a 
non-member of our Board.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
• New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Regulatory 

Board since 2016

Key directorships and other interests over the past three years:
• Director/Shareholder of Darden Ltd and Darden Holdings Ltd

• Stepchange Consulting Ltd

• Director of West Auckland Trust Services

• Director of Cavalier Corporation Ltd

• Director of Netball Northern Zone & Northern Mystics

• Director of Pulse Energy (resigned September 2019)

• Member of Public Trust (resigned September 2019) 

• Director of Breast Cancer Research Trust (resigned 
November 2019)

• Chair of Beds R Us (resigned December 2017)
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Retired Directors and Office Bearers

President
Peter Rupp Business Management BSc (Hons), FCA

Term of office:
Vice President since 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2019 
President since 1 December 2020 to 31 December 2020

Skills, experience and expertise:
Peter is a Partner in Deloitte’s Audit & Assurance Group based 
in Perth, where he currently leads the Deloitte Private audit team.

Drawing on over 25 years’ expertise in the accounting profession, 
Peter has worked with Deloitte member firms in Australia, 
New Zealand and the United Kingdom.

Peter provides specialist assurance and advisory services, including 
external audit, to a wide range of entities across different industries 
and reporting frameworks.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
• Council member since 2014 to 31 December 2020

• Nominations and Governance Committee member since from 
2018 to 31 December 2020

Peter O’Regan FCA

Term of office:
Vice President since 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020

Skills, experience and expertise:
After graduating from the University of New England, Peter 
commenced his career with Deloittes in Brisbane and later 
established O’Regan & Partners in Longreach in 1992.

Peter is a CA with extensive experience in the beef production 
sector, having been raised on a cattle property in the Marlborough 
district of central Queensland and also having owned, operated and 
developed two cattle and sheep properties south west of Longreach 
for a period of 12 years.

Peter has over 25 years’ experience in advising businesses on 
accounting and taxation strategies, business growth and succession, 
finance and restructuring.

The agricultural sector is a significant part of the firm’s client base 
ranging from large pastoral operations in Western Queensland to 
irrigation cropping operations in the Central Highlands districts.

Whilst the firm is very confident about Australia’s agricultural 
potential as Asia develops the need for some significant 
structural change, an increase in financial literacy levels needs 
to be recognised.

Peter presently serves as a Director of a Western Queensland Public 
Company and is a member of a number of Audit Committees for 
Local Governments in Western and North Western Queensland.

He also has extensive audit experience and currently serves on the 
Audit Committee of the Mount Isa City Council.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
• Council member since 2015 to 31 December 2020
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Our Council

President
Dr Nives Botica Redmayne Phd Accountancy, FCA

Term of office:
Vice President from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2020; 
President since 1 January 2021

Date due to retire:
31 December 2021

Skills, experience and expertise:
Nives is currently an Associate Professor in accountancy at the 
Massey University School of Accountancy, Massey Business School 
in New Zealand.

Her main area of research and expertise is assurance; in particular, 
the highly specialised area of economics and production of 
assurance services and assurance markets. Her other area of 
expertise and research is in financial reporting and auditing.

Nives has also contributed to the development of professional 
standards, guidance and policies for practising auditors and 
regulators in New Zealand.

Nives has a Bachelors’ degree in Economics and Finance, PhD in 
Accountancy from Massey University, New Zealand.

Board committee and other governance body memberships:
• Council member since 2017

• Nominations and Governance Committee in 2019 and then on 
appointment to the role of President in 2021

• Director of NZICA Regulatory Board (retired in 
December 2020) 

• Chair of New Zealand Council (retired in December 2020)

Vice Presidents
Kate Boorer FCA

Term of office:
Vice President since 1 January 2021 

Date due to retire:
Term ends 31 December 2021 but may stand for re-appointment

Skills, experience and expertise:
Kate is currently the Founder of Young Professional Women 
Australia and Partner of Quantum Impact Group, a consultancy 
that specialises in aligning organisational culture with 
business strategy.

With a diverse career, Kate has worked in both public practice 
(commencing her career at KPMG) and the private sector before 
moving away from a traditional finance career pursuing an 
entrepreneurial path. Passionate about both business and people, 
Kate has spent much of the past decade working with individuals 
and organisations to create workplace cultures where everyone 
thrives. Kate has been involved in both the design and delivery of 
the Mentor Exchange Program since its inception and is a regular 
speaker at Chartered Accountants ANZ conferences and events. 

Kate is a Fellow of Chartered Accountants ANZ, a member of the 
Australian Institute of Company Directors and holds a Bachelor of 
Commerce, Accounting from Macquarie University.

Other governance body memberships:
• Council member since 2019

• New South Wales Regional Council (retired in December 2020)

Councillors and Office Bearers
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Murray Harrington FCA

Term of office:
Vice President since 1 January 2021 

Date due to retire:
Term ends 31 December 2021 but may stand for re-appointment

Skills, experience and expertise:
Murray is the Chief Executive Officer of Nomos One Limited, 
a lease accounting software company which serves customers across 
a number of countries. 

He currently holds a number of directorships and governance 
roles in infrastructure, tourism, education and local government. 
For many years Murray was a Partner in PwC where he provided 
a range of services including risk advisory, consulting and 
financial advisory.

Prior to this, Murray was a business owner, having successfully 
purchased, grown and exited businesses and worked 
internationally for Mobil Corporation.

Other governance body memberships:
• Chair of New Zealand Council

• Director of NZICA Regulatory Board

• Council member since 2017

Councillors
Tinashe Kamangira FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2018

Skills, experience and expertise:
Tinashe is a Director at Deloitte Australia. He has more than 
16 years of accounting, taxation and business advisory experience, 
working with private businesses and the families that own them.

Before joining Deloitte Private he was previously in the Private 
Advisory Practice of Grant Thornton in Perth and also worked for 
Grant Thornton Sweden as part of the talent mobility program.

Tinashe is a member of the Western Australian Council (Chair in 
2019) in addition to his role as a CA Program Facilitator and exam 
marker. He also sits on various not for profit boards, finance, audit 
and risk committees for local and international organisations.

Tinashe has a Bachelor of Commerce, and majored in Accounting 
and Finance at Curtin University of Technology, Perth. He also 
holds a Postgraduate Certificate in Information Systems and 
Information Technology.

Other governance body memberships:
• Regional Councillor Western Australia Regional Council

Bruce Debenham FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2019

Skills, experience and expertise:
Bruce is the Director of Perks’ Banking and Finance division 
which is dedicated to providing banking and finance solutions 
for its clients.

Bruce is a seasoned finance professional with over twenty five years’ 
experience in banking, risk and management consulting. Bruce 
has held senior leadership positions at National Australia Bank and 
Rural Bank and, prior to this, worked for PricewaterhouseCoopers 
and Arthur Andersen. His experience spans various industries 
including property development, manufacturing, agribusiness, 
healthcare, retail and transport.

Bruce is a Capstone module facilitator and regularly assists with 
marking Capstone and other exam papers.

Other governance body memberships:
• Ex-officio Regional Councillor South Australia/Northern 

Territory Regional Council
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Grant Ellis FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2019

Skills, experience and expertise:
Grant is currently the Chief Financial officer of NZX and 
ASX listed Restaurant Brands New Zealand Limited. He has 
been a CA for 38 years, working in the corporate sector for 
most of his career, in a number of finance roles with major 
New Zealand companies.

He has a military background, serving in the New Zealand Army 
reserve for 21 years. He is a past-President and a Life Member of 
the Auckland Officers’ Club and currently sits on its Investment 
Committee. He also is a Trustee of the Ranfurly Veterans’ Trust. 
Grant has previously served his local community on the board of 
the local primary school, residents associations and a number of 
yachting and boating organisations.

Other governance body memberships:
–

Professor Duncan Honore-Morris FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2019

Skills, experience and expertise:
Duncan has extensive experience in professional practice in 
New Zealand and Australia. Over his career, he has held several 
senior roles including Chairman, Trustee, Chief Executive Officer 
and Professor.

A professional accountant, Duncan has practised in large 
international firms and small partnerships gaining a range 
of industry experience from farming and agriculture to 
superannuation and trusts in both New Zealand and Australia. 
Duncan is currently working mainly within the education 
sector and is specialising in the sociology of the professions and 
accounting education.

Duncan facilitates sessions with senior executives on behalf of the 
Governance Institute and has previously been a senior lecturer in 
tertiary accounting.

Duncan has been a Regional Councillor for the Victorian Regional 
Council since 2015 and is the Chair of FINSIA’s Education 
Advisory Committee. He also chairs several education institutes’ 
Academic Boards and/or Boards of Directors in Australia.

Other governance body memberships:
• Ex-officio Victoria Regional Council

Danny McCarthy FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2019

Skills, experience and expertise:
Danny has a wealth of experience in auditing and financial 
consulting, helping clients protect their businesses and achieve 
even better results. His expert research, modelling, analysis and 
reviews help both small and large Tasmanian businesses proactively 
address challenges and identify opportunities for growth.

Other governance body memberships:
• Ex-officio Tasmania Regional Council

Sue Pak FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2019

Skills, experience and expertise:
Passionate about helping NZ businesses thrive, Sue is keen to 
influence and challenge the accounting profession to provide advice 
beyond the numbers to improve business success. 

At Xero for 13 years now, she has watched advances in technology 
drive change in all sectors and begin to challenge traditional 
business models and believes it’s time for leaders and individuals 
to change.

Sue believes in authentic and empathetic leadership, good 
workplace culture and is an advocate for coaching, mentoring 
and lifelong learning.

She is an FCA, FCPA and has a Diploma in Teaching. Sue has held 
several senior management roles over her career, and in addition 
to providing accounting services has developed and streamlined 
operational procedures, trained thousands, implemented software, 
coached, mentored and worked to improve workplace culture 
and engagement.

Other governance body memberships:
• Regional Councillor New Zealand Council (retired)
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Matthew Green FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2020

Skills, experience and expertise:
Matthew is a financial reporting, audit, and valuations specialist 
with substantial experience in advising directors and executives 
in meeting the complex requirements of ASX Listing Rules, 
Corporations Legislation, Australian Accounting Standards, 
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Matthew is a partner with Mazars and is based in Brisbane. 
He covers valuation, audit, assurance, transactions, and reporting 
assignments across all sectors of the Queensland economy. 
Matthew has had the opportunity to work across various firms 
in the accounting industry, including the big four, ASX-listed 
companies, small firms, and the public sector; this experience 
has provided him with a deep understanding of the way the 
industry operates.

Matthew currently works with ASX listed and private 
owner–managed businesses across various sectors, including 
financial services and AFSL holders, information technology, 
construction, not-for-profits, retail, and services.

Other governance body memberships:
• Regional Councillor Queensland Regional Council

Samuel Cheng FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2020

Skills, experience and expertise:
Samuel is the Director and Head of Strategic Programme 
Management office at Prudential Hong Kong in the insurance 
sector, focusing on driving major strategic initiatives and 
technology-related transformation. 

He has worked in both public practice in small and large firms plus 
the private sector holding positions as CFO, Finance Chief of Staff 
and Global Project Management Office.

Samuel has served on the Chartered Accountants ANZ Hong Kong 
Committee for over 10 years and as Chairman in 2019. In 2020 he 
was elected as Asia Councillor as well as Councillor of the Hong 
Kong Overseas Regional Council. He has completed a Bachelor of 
Economics and Master of Commerce majoring in accounting and 
information management in Macquarie University, a Certified 
Project Management Professional and a member of the Project 
Management institute and Proci Change Management.

Other governance body memberships:
• Regional Councillor Hong Kong Regional Council

Craig Jenner FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2020

Skills, experience and expertise:
Craig is Head of Operational Finance at Unibail-Rodamco-
Westfield where he is responsible for the financial management and 
reporting of URW’s London shopping centres, two of the largest 
retail assets in the world. He is also responsible for the financial 
management of URW’s development projects and the Shared 
Services team. 

Drawing on over 20 years’ experience within the accountancy 
profession, Craig’s experience spans various industries including 
property development, construction, freight forwarding and 
telecommunications. Craig is based in London, and has been 
involved with the UK members committee and other advisory 
bodies of Chartered Accountants ANZ since 2014.

Other governance body memberships:
• Regional Councillor UK Regional Council

Jayson Poulton CA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2020

Skills, experience and expertise:
Jayson is a Senior Manager at Commonwealth Bank of Australia 
(CBA) based in New York, with more than 17 years’ experience as 
a CA. Having worked in public practice with BDO in Melbourne, 
he has spent much of his professional career internationally in 
financial services, with roles at MF Global and CBA in London, 
before relocating to New York.

Jayson has held various positions on committees and advisory 
bodies of Chartered Accountants ANZ, including Education 
Team Leader on the UK Overseas Member Committee and as the 
New York Tri-state Link Member Representative. Jayson is also a 
board member of the Association of Chartered Accountants in 
the US (ACAUS) as the Chartered Accountants ANZ Member 
Organisation Representative.

He is registered with the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority 
(FINRA) as a Financial and Operations Principal and holds a 
Bachelor of Commerce, Majoring Accounting and Business Law.

Other governance body memberships:
• Rest of the World Regional Councillor
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George Bogdanovic FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2021

Skills, experience and expertise:
George has over 25 years’ experience in the finance industry 
across both private and public sectors. He has held senior roles 
in finance, enterprise risk, operations, business development and 
corporate strategy.

As a C-level executive he has played key leadership roles in major 
transformation programs and created organisational cultures 
supporting teams to achieve their very best. A CA since 1996, 
George has been a NSW Councillor since 2017, a member 
of the NSW Corporate Panel and is a passionate advocate of 
our profession.

Other governance body memberships:
• Regional Councillor New South Wales Regional Council

Julia Fink FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2021

Skills, experience and expertise:
Julia was most recently the Director of Finance, Risk and Digital 
Solutions and Chief Financial Officer at the Upper Hutt City 
Council and is a small business owner and contractor. She 
started her accounting career at Deloitte in Audit, moving into 
Deloitte Private.

Julia was heavily involved in the roll out of public benefit entity 
financial reporting standards for registered charities in her former 
role at DIA Charities Services. This role led to her current position 
as a Board member of the External Reporting Board.

Julia has been involved with Chartered Accountants ANZ 
since she was a provisional member, serving on the Women 
Accountants and Not for Profit Special Interest Group committees 
in Wellington, the Charities and Not for Profit Trans-Tasman 
Advisory Committee and the Wellington Local Committee and as 
a New Zealand Councillor. Julia was instrumental in setting up the 
Chartered Accountants ANZ Charity Reporting Awards and the 
Charity Law, Accounting and Regulation Conference.

Other governance body memberships:
• Regional Councillor New Zealand Council

Carla Jago FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2021

Skills, experience and expertise:
Carla is the Group Executive Director of the Performance Audit 
Services Group in the Australian National Audit Office (ANAO). 
In this role, she oversees the performance audit program delivered 
by the ANAO. She was previously the Group Executive Director of 
the Assurance Audit Services Group in the ANAO. As part of this 
role, Carla oversaw the financial statements audits of all Australian 
Government entities and the Whole of Government’s consolidated 
financial statements.

Carla has over 22 years’ professional experience in public sector 
auditing. She has a Bachelor of Business, majoring in Accounting 
and a Bachelor of Laws. She is a Fellow of Chartered Accountants 
ANZ and a Graduate member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

She has been a member of the Chartered Accountants ANZ ACT 
Regional Council since 2017 (including a year as Deputy Chair in 
2020) and was previously a member of the Chartered Accountants 
ANZ Audit Advisory Committee.

Other governance body memberships:
• Regional Councillor Australian Capital Territory 

Regional Council

John Schol FCA

Term of office:
Appointed 1 January 2021

Skills, experience and expertise:
John is the CEO of South Island CA firm Malloch McClean and holds 
a Certificate of Public Practice, a Master of Business Administration 
(MBA) and is a Chartered Member of the Institute of Directors.

He is a professional director at several large local government 
companies and chairs their audit and risk committee. Other 
governance roles include a local social enterprise company as well as 
several other private organisations. In addition, John serves on the 
Southern Institute of Technology’s Business Consultative Group 
and on the Board of Trustees at St John’s Girls School.

John is passionate about Chartered Accountants ANZ differentiating 
and enhancing its brand as and its value to members. His vision is 
to ensure members remain at the forefront of business through 
leadership, member networking and the uptake of technology.

He is currently involved with Chartered Accountants ANZ 
presenting webinars, speaking at conferences and hosting the 
CA Catalyst podcast series Small Firm Big Impact.

Other governance body memberships:
• Regional Councillor New Zealand Council
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Retired Councillors
Peter Rupp FCA (Past President)

Peter O’Regan FCA (Past Vice President)

Richard Dey FCA (NZ)

Lorraine Watt FCA (ACT) 

Shawn Quinton FCA (ACT)

New Zealand Institute of Chartered 
Accountants Regulatory Board
Neil Paviour-Smith FCA, Chair

Dale La Hood, non-member

Robert (Rob) McDonald FCA 

Sarah Petersen CA

Dianne Williams, non-member

Murray Harrington FCA

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA – retired 

Chartered Accountants Australia and 
New Zealand Education Board
Professor Gregor Kennedy, Chair

Professor Emiteria Philomena Leung FCA

Associate Professor John Medlin FCA

Dr Felicity Reid

Professor Norman Wong FCA

Dr Amanda White CA

Professional Conduct Oversight 
Committee
Nancy Dolan, Chair

Jan West FCA 

Taryn Rulton FCA 

John Trowbridge 

Regional Councils
Australia

Australian Capital Territory

Shawn Quinton FCA – Chair

Jonathon Colbran FCA – Vice Chair

Nafiz Azman CA

Stewart Ball FCA

Kate Dean CA

Courtney Littlejohn CA

Monir Mir CA

Moazam Shah FCA

Amanda McIntyre FCA

Carla Jago FCA – Chartered Accountants ANZ Council member

Rahul Verma FCA – retired

Lorraine Watt FCA – retired

New South Wales

Alison Flemming FCA – Chair

Ben Wong CA – Vice Chair

Peter Woodley FCA 

Joanna Balcomb FCA

Julie Cowley CA

Joyce Low FCA

David Watkins CA

Camille Woods CA

George Bogdanovic FCA – Chartered Accountants ANZ 
Council member

Sam Ayoubi CA – retired

Peter Wells FCA – retired

Queensland

Matthew Green FCA – Chair

Mark Bushell FCA – Vice Chair

Glenn Russell FCA 

Jillian Richards FCA

Shane Simmons FCA

Sarah Becker FCA

Robert Pillans FCA

Christopher Mitchell CA

Lisa Colussa CA

Elisha Caffery CA – retired
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South Australia/Northern Territory

Stacey Quinn FCA – Chair

Suranie Alwis FCA – Vice Chair

Simon Graetz FCA

Anna Nolan FCA

Luke Rivett CA

Philip Palmer CA

Jodie Silvester FCA

Anthony Stewart FCA

Karlie Yuen CA

Bruce Debenham FCA – ex-officio/Chartered Accountants ANZ 
Council member

Tyson Holt CA – retired

Luke Kerins CA – retired

Tasmania

Mark Leis FCA – Chair

Naomi Walsh FCA – Vice Chair

Stuart Dare CA

Sophie Hill CA

Leah Orr CA

Phillip Fulton CA

Bo Xu CA

David Kewley CA

Jake Norris CA

Daniel McCarthy FCA – ex-officio/Chartered Accountants ANZ 
Council member

Lyndal Kimpton FCA – retired

Victoria

Peter Fromont FCA – Chair

Deanne Firth FCA – Vice Chair

Peter Dikranis FCA

Vartika Kalapala CA

Sam Sargood CA

Shannon Sidaway CA

Liz Smith FCA

Fiona Hansen CA

Robert Dennis FCA

Duncan Honore-Morris FCA – ex-officio/Chartered Accountants 
ANZ Council member

David Thompson FCA – retired

Western Australia

Michelle Shafizadeh FCA – Chair

Evelyn Hogg FCA – Vice Chair

Michael Carey CA

Amanda Cox FCA 

Lisa Hando FCA

Tinashe Kamangira FCA

Anna Lane FCA

Linda Lim FCA

Vivian Wang CA

Kirsty Jones CA – retired

Ron Louis FCA – retired

New Zealand

Murray Harrington FCA, New Zealand Vice President 

Mike Atkinson FCA (Auckland)

Jai Nario FCA (Auckland) 

Jeff Mitchell CA (Auckland)

Caroline Plowman CA (Auckland)

Julia Fink FCA (Wellington)

Sarah Bell (nee Wood) CA (Wellington)

Natasha Harvey FCA (Central North Island)

Sarah Walker CA (Central North Island)

Josh Hickford CA (Central North Island) 

Kelvin Mason FCA (Southern) 

Bob King AT(Fellow) (Southern)

John Schol FCA (Southern)

Rehan Badar CA (Wellington) 

Emma Blake CA (Auckland) 

Stephanie Cooper-Poka CA (Auckland)

Cameron Town CA (Lower North Island) 

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA – retired 

Angela Dixon CA – retired

Murray Harrington FCA – retired as Southern representative 
on appointment as Chair

Paul McElwee FCA (Auckland) – retired

Sue Pak FCA (Auckland) – retired

Phillippa Wilson FCA (Central North Island) – retired
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Chartered Accountants Australia 
and New Zealand Hong Kong
Sarah Foo CA – Chair

Andrew Chan CA – Vice Chair

Vincent Leung CA

Travis Huggins FCA

Lie Ming Or FCA

Christine Tsang FCA

Amanda Ooi CA

Jonathan Chen CA

Matt Moriarty CA

Samuel Cheng FCA – Asia Regional Councillor on 
Chartered Accountants ANZ Council

Katya Danilova CA – retired

Barbara Yu FCA – retired

Chartered Accountants Australia 
and New Zealand Malaysia
Gladys Lim Chee Mei FCA – Chair

Wong Kar Choon FCA – Vice Chair

Nurul-Huda Mohamed Afandi FCA

Wendy Chang Ying Ying FCA

Chong Kian Soon CA

Rozaini Mohd Sani FCA

Edwin Tan Aik Win CA

Ace Tan Kian Kun CA

Jen Shaun Wong CA

Yoon Huat Tan CA – retired

Boon Kin Wong CA – retired

Chartered Accountants Australia 
and New Zealand Singapore
Karen Loon FCA – Chair

David Chew CA – Vice Chair

Wanyi Wong CA

Melanie Ng CA

Anand Sachdev FCA

Justina Tai CA

Leonard Woo FCA

Leong Siew Theng FCA

Daniel Ngo CA

Andrew Er FCA – retired

David Leow FCA – retired

Chartered Accountants Australia 
and New Zealand United Kingdom
Daniel Leckey FCA – Chair

Patrick Doan CA – Vice Chair

Jessica Leyland CA – Vice Chair

Chelley Clare CA

Colin McCarthy-Little FCA

Daisy Tam CA

Alan Teixeira FCA

Lauren Temple CA

Andrew Wakefield CA

Craig Jenner FCA – ex-officio/Chartered Accountants ANZ 
Council member

Barry Moffatt FCA – retired

Andy Robinson FCA – retired
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Segment Advisory and Regional 
and Rural Advisory Committees
Public Practice Advisory Committee
Alicia Leis (Chair) FCA

Darren Dettling (Vice Chair) CA

Linda Gray FCA

Jonathan Colbran FCA

Christine McNamara CA

Adam Murray FCA

Travis Fegan FCA

Patrick Catena FCA

Felicity Hill CA

Samara Badgery FCA

Stuart Darvill CA

Amanda Gascoigne FCA

Kaison Chang CA

Jane Jackman FCA

Lisa Pritchard FCA

Corporate Segment Advisory Committee
Shane Simmons FCA, Chair  

Cormac Denton CA, Vice Chair  

Colleen Chapman FCA  

Anjali Ilsley FCA  

Charlie Latham FCA  

Rowena Granger FCA

Keith Shaw CA

Justin Lachal FCA

Amy Wharakura CA

Naomi Walsh FCA

Jane Muirsmith FCA  

Linda Waddington-Miller CA – retired

New Zealand Public Sector 
Consultation Committee
The New Zealand Public Sector Consultation Committee 
was not active in 2020/21

Charities & Not-for-profit Advisory 
Committee
Jamie Cattell CA, Chair 

Russell Postle FCA, Vice Chair 

David Thomas FCA 

Louise Edwards FCA 

Craig Fisher FCA 

Michelle Pearce FCA 

Graeme Rodda FCA 

Ken Crofts FCA 

Shaun Sargent FCA 

Anjum Rahman FCA 

Claire Locke FCA 

Rachel Simmers CA 

Laurensia Rosana CA 

Philip Thai CA 

Regional & Rural Advisory Committee 
(Australia)
Sarah Becker CA, Chair 

Stacey Kelly CA, Vice Chair 

Chris Kol FCA 

Warwick Baines FCA 

Alison Hamilton CA 

Benjamin Horner CA 

Timothy Partridge FCA 

Lyndal Kimpton FCA 

Andrew Robertson FCA 

Peter O’Regan FCA – retired

Maria Cavallo FCA – retired

Bruce Debenham FCA – retired

Michael Harris CA – retired
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New Zealand Rural Advisory Committee
Trudi Ballantyne FCA, Chair  

George Collier FCA  

Gaye Cowie FCA 

Michael Lawrence FCA  

Rees Logan CA 

Tony Marshall CA  

Hamish McDonald CA  

Charmaine O’Shea FCA  

Richard Perry FCA  

Charles Rau FCA  

David Seath CA 

Stephen Stafford-Bush FCA  

International Representatives  
(on behalf of the accounting profession)

International Federation of Accountants

Taryn Rulton FCA Board and Planning & Finance Committee 

Richard Petty FCA Board and Planning & Finance Committee

Michael Codling FCA Nominating Committee

Michael (Mike) Blake FCA (Deputy Chair) International Public 
Sector Accounting Standards Board

Todd Beardsworth FCA International Public Sector 
Accounting Standards

Barbre Murray FCA Small and Medium Practices (Deputy Chair) 

Robyn Erskine FCA Small and Medium Practices (Deputy Chair) 

Paul Urquhart FCA Professional Accountants in 
Business Committee

Ian McPhee FCA International Ethics Standards Board 
for Accountants

Lyn Provost FCA International Auditing and Assurance Board

Confederation of Asian and Pacific Accountants 

Gill Cox FCA Board Member NZ, Committee 
Representative/Director

Priya Terumalay Board Member Australia, Committee 
Representative

Directors of Subsidiaries
Chartered Accountants Australia and 
New Zealand (Hong Kong) Limited

Simon Grant FCA

Mark Rice 

Christine Tsang FCA

CA ANZ (Malaysia) SDN. BHD.

Dato’ Richard Abas FCA

Simon Grant FCA

Mark Rice

Dato’ Heng Ji-Keng FCA resigned

Chartered Accountants Australia and 
New Zealand (Singapore) Private Limited

Andrew Er FCA

Simon Grant FCA

David Leow FCA

Mark Rice

CA ANZ (UK) Limited

Simon Grant FCA

Ian Leggett FCA

Mark Rice

Chartered Professional Accountants Pty Ltd

Simon Grant FCA
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Corporate Governance 
Statement

Introduction
Chartered Accountants ANZ was established under Royal Charter 
in 1928 as a body politic and corporate for the purpose of advancing 
the profession and practice of accountancy in all its aspects. Chartered 
Accountants ANZ has more than 131,000 members around the 
world and its vision is to be one of the leading professional associations 
of leaders in business and finance in Australia and New Zealand. 

Chartered Accountants ANZ is not a company but is a registered 
body under Part 5B.2 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) 
(Corporations Act) that carries on business in Australian states 
and territories, New Zealand and other overseas locations. As a 
registered body, Chartered Accountants ANZ is required to comply 
with only a limited number of sections of the Corporations Act. In 
New Zealand, the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants 
(NZICA) retains its non-delegable regulatory functions pursuant to 
the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Act 1996 (NZICA 
Act). NZICA’s other functions have been delegated to Chartered 
Accountants ANZ and under the Corporations Act, NZICA is a 
controlled entity of Chartered Accountants ANZ. 

Chartered Accountants ANZ is a member of the ASX Corporate 
Governance Council that developed the Corporate Governance 
Principles and Recommendations, 4th edition (ASX Principles) 
that apply to entities listed on the Australian Securities Exchange. 
Chartered Accountants ANZ has voluntarily adopted the 
ASX Principles and has applied them to its own governance 
arrangements where it is relevant and appropriate to do so. This 
Corporate Governance Statement was approved by the Board on 
17 September 2021.

Chartered Accountants ANZ has four principal functions and 
operational areas:

• It is a membership body that represents and advances the 
interests of more than 131,000 members globally and advocates 
in the legislative, regulatory and public policy arena

• It is a conduct regulator that maintains the professional standing 
of the organisation and the Chartered Accountant (CA) 
designation by setting a code of ethics and regulations for the 
standard of behaviour expected of members and holding them 
accountable to that standard. In New Zealand, NZICA remains 
the regulator of the profession 

• It is a registered higher education provider that sets exacting entry 
requirements to the profession through its CA Program. This 
program combines the rigour of postgraduate education through 
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s Graduate Diploma of Chartered 
Accounting (GradDipCA) qualification with the application 
of learned skills in the workplace through the completion 
of three years’ mentored practical experience. Chartered 
Accountants ANZ’s GradDipCA is accredited with the Australian 
Government’s Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency 
(TEQSA). As a regulated qualification it is recognised under 
the Australian Qualifications Framework, as a comparable 
qualification under the New Zealand Qualifications Framework 
and the qualification frameworks of many other countries

• It provides members with ongoing CPD opportunities, including 
events and conferences, resources and tools to assist its members to 
develop their practices, their skills and their professional networks

The corporate governance framework that Chartered Accountants 
ANZ has adopted to enable and facilitate the performance of its 
functions comprises:

• a Council of members (Council), which is responsible for 
approving awards to members, approving life members or 
honorary members, providing input to the Board on key policies 
that will significantly impact members and representing the 
members as a whole. The Council has a President and two 
Vice-Presidents who serve as non-executive directors on the Board 
for the length of their tenure. The Council also has a standing 
committee, the Nominations and Governance Committee 
(NGC) which has a number of functions including undertaking 
and overseeing performance evaluations of the Board and 
recommending candidates for appointment to the  Board

• a board of non-executive directors (Board), which is responsible 
for managing and directing the affairs of Chartered Accountants 
ANZ and which is legally responsible for its operations. 
The Board is supported in this role by a number of standing 
committees of the Board and member-based regional and 
overseas councils and sector committees

• a senior executive management team (Executive Team), which 
is led by a Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The CEO and 
Executive Team are responsible for the day-to-day operations of 
Chartered Accountants ANZ and for implementing Chartered 
Accountants ANZ’s strategy. The CEO is not a director of the 
Board but reports to the Chair, attends Board meetings and has 
their performance evaluated by the Board
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REMUNERATION 
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The corporate governance framework described above can be visually represented as follows:

The legal and constitutional framework that governs Chartered 
Accountants ANZ consists of a Supplemental Royal Charter and 
By-laws, which can only be amended by a resolution of members 
and by subsequently being passed into law through the assent of 
the Governor-General of the Commonwealth of Australia. 

Any changes to the NZICA Act must be legislated through the 
New Zealand Parliament. Changes to the NZICA Rules must be 
approved by a resolution of members (for amendments to the body 
of the NZICA Rules), approved by the Chartered Accountants 
ANZ Board (for Appendix II amendments) or approved by the 
NZICA Regulatory Board (for amendments to Appendices I, 
III-VI), in line with the requirements of the NZICA Rules.
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Principle 1: Lay solid foundations for 
management and oversight

Roles and Responsibilities
The Board is the legal decision-making body of Chartered 
Accountants ANZ and has responsibility for the development and 
approval of strategy, monitoring the implementation of strategy 
by the CEO and Executive Team and oversight of Chartered 
Accountants ANZ’s financial position and financial reporting. 

The Board’s main functions are:

• to ensure that strategic objectives are set and achieved

• to establish a policy framework within which the organisation 
must operate

• to ensure that the Board’s committees discharge their functions

• to appoint and oversee the performance of the CEO

• to ensure that Chartered Accountants ANZ maintains a robust 
process for identifying and managing risk

• ensure that Chartered Accountants ANZ adheres to high 
standards of ethics and corporate behaviour

The Board has a charter which sets out its role and its 
responsibilities in more detail and provides guidance on the 
functions which it has reserved to itself. A copy of the Board 
Charter can be found at charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/
governance/meet-our-board

During the reporting year, the Board delegated certain 
responsibilities to its six Board committees being:

• the Audit and Risk Committee (ARC), which is responsible 
for oversight of financial reporting, risk management and 
compliance systems, internal control systems and internal and 
external audit functions

• the People and Remuneration Committee (PARC), which is 
responsible for oversight of remuneration policy and strategy, 
the performance of the CEO and senior executive management 
and CEO succession planning

• the CA X Committee, which is responsible for oversight of the 
CA X project, being the re-design of the content, delivery and 
structure of the CA Program of the future to ensure its relevance

• the Education Board, which is the delegated academic governing 
body of Chartered Accountants ANZ and responsible for 
ensuring that Chartered Accountants ANZ meets its obligations 
as a registered higher education provider

• the NZICA Regulatory Board, which is responsible for 
maintaining and enforcing compliance of NZ members with the 
NZICA regulatory and disciplinary framework and ensuring that 
NZICA fulfils its obligations as an accredited body under the 
Auditor Regulation Act and other enactments

• the Professional Conduct Oversight Committee, which has 
oversight of the integrity, timeliness and effectiveness of the 
disciplinary functions for which Chartered Accountants ANZ 
has responsibility

 
With effect from 30 July 2021, the Board set up a new Digital and 
Technology Committee which will be responsible for Chartered 
Accountants ANZ’s digital, data and technology related strategic 
initiatives and the oversight of Chartered Accountants ANZ’s 
digital framework, systems and processes.

Each Board committee has its own charter which sets out its role 
and responsibilities in more detail. The committees meet at least 
quarterly or more frequently if required. Regular reporting on the 
activities of each committee is provided to the Board.

Under Chartered Accountants ANZ’s By-laws, the Board may 
delegate any of its powers or authorities to any employee of 
Chartered Accountants ANZ. The Board has delegated authority 
for the day-to-day operations of Chartered Accountants ANZ 
and the implementation of strategy to the CEO and the Executive 
Team but remains responsible for overseeing management’s 
performance. The Board has put in place a delegation of authority 
matrix that describes the extent of powers that it has delegated 
to Board Committees, the CEO and the Executive Team 
(Board Delegations). The CEO and Executive Team may make 
further sub-delegations within specified parameters but remain 
accountable for the exercise of delegated powers. The Board 
has delegated authority to approve amendments to the Board 
Delegations to the Chair of ARC. 

Chartered Accountants ANZ has six wholly-owned subsidiaries 
in Australia, Singapore, Malaysia, Hong Kong and the United 
Kingdom, which are consolidated into Chartered Accountants 
ANZ’s annual financial statements (with the exception of an 
Australian subsidiary, Chartered Accountants Benevolent 
Foundation Limited, which was formerly the trustee of charities 
that have been wound down). In New Zealand, Chartered 
Accountants ANZ is registered as an overseas registered branch 
office (NZ Office) rather than a separate corporate entity. 
Separate to this, the NZICA Act requires regulatory and conduct 
functions relating to New Zealand members to be undertaken 
by the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants which 
is overseen by the NZICA Regulatory Board. The boards of 
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s subsidiaries are comprised of 
a mix of executive and non-executive directors, depending on 
the function and operational requirements of the subsidiary. 
The NZICA Regulatory Board is comprised of non-executive 
directors, some of whom are also directors of the Board. Chartered 
Accountants ANZ’s corporate governance framework, including 
its risk management and compliance framework, applies to its 
subsidiaries and to its NZ Office.
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During the reporting period, the Board met 10 times with attendance as follows (in alphabetical order):

 Attended Eligible

Kate Boorer FCA (Australian Vice President) – appointed 1 January 2021 5 5

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA (Former New Zealand Vice President)  
– appointed President 1 January 2021

10 10

Carolyn Colley FCA – appointed 17 May 2021 1 1

Murray Harrington FCA (New Zealand Vice President) – appointed 1 January 2021 5 5

Cheryl Hayman, Non-Member 10 10

Ming Long FCA 10 10

Robert McDonald FCA 10 10

Peter O’Regan FCA (Former Australia Vice President) – term completed 31 December 2020 4 5

John Palermo FCA (Chair) 10 10

Sarah Petersen CA 10 10

Peter Rupp FCA (Former President) – term completed 31 December 2020 5 5

Penny Stragalinos FCA 10 10

Christopher (Chris) Townend FCA 10 10

Dianne Williams, Non-Member 10 10

The Board also held a joint Board and Council meeting during the reporting period.

Appointment of directors
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s By-laws provide that directors are 
appointed by the Council to the Board on recommendation from 
the NGC. A director serves a term of three years from appointment 
and is then eligible to stand for re-appointment for two further 
terms of three years.

If a Board vacancy arises, the NGC will conduct a search for 
a new director, having regard to the Board skills matrix (see 
page 68) to identify any skills or specialist knowledge that 
are required to ensure ongoing alignment with Chartered 
Accountants ANZ’s strategic direction. The NGC will also 
have regard to the requirement under the By-laws that all but 
two directors must also be members of Chartered Accountants 
ANZ. External consultants may be engaged to assist with the 
recruitment of appropriate candidates.

The NGC is also mindful of the importance of inclusion 
and diversity in ensuring the Board reflects the diversity 
of the membership base. NGC has set a target of 40:40:20 
(male : female : any) for gender diversity on the Board and met this 
target during the reporting period. More information about the 
current composition of the Board can be found on pages 44–51. 

On re-appointment to a further term of three years, the NGC 
reviews a director’s performance using various external and 
internal data points and interviews the director before making a 
recommendation to the Council. Appropriate reference checks are 
conducted when a director is first appointed to the Board. 

Service Agreements
On appointment and re-appointment, directors are provided with 
written agreements that set out the terms of their appointment, 
including the required time commitment, remuneration 
arrangements including superannuation, the requirement to 
disclose material interests and any matter that may affect their 
independence, the requirement to comply with key policies 
including Chartered Accountants ANZ’s Code of Conduct, 
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s policy on seeking independent 
professional advice, indemnity and insurance arrangements, access 
to corporate records and ongoing confidentiality arrangements.

All senior executives, including the CEO and Executive Team, have 
contracts of employment that set out the terms and conditions of 
their employment, including rights and obligations in respect of the 
termination of their employment and the circumstances in which 
summary termination may occur. 

Secretary
Members of the company secretariat team attend Board and 
Council meetings, as well as meetings of the PARC, ARC, NGC, 
CAX and Education Board, and are responsible for providing 
advice on corporate governance issues. The Company Secretary is 
accountable to the Board and the Chair on all matters to do with 
the proper functioning of the Board. 
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Inclusion and Diversity
The Board considers that inclusion and diversity (I&D) supports 
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s strategy, values and allows 
Chartered Accountants ANZ to better meet its members’ diverse 
needs. As an employer, it also allows Chartered Accountants ANZ 
to compete for the widest possible pool of talent, attracting 
and retaining employees whilst also encouraging a variety of 
viewpoints that enhance problem-solving, continual improvement 
and innovation.

During the reporting period, Chartered Accountants ANZ has 
developed a detailed I&D strategy and policy position by endorsing 
the creation of a “Culture of Difference Makers” as Pillar 5 of its 
FY21–FY25 strategy refresh. This has seen the creation and roll out 

of foundational I&D policies that have been approved by the Board 
and which set out Chartered Accountants ANZ’s commitment to 
an inclusive culture that celebrates diversity, provides equitable 
employment outcomes, and empowers all of its people to realise 
their collective and individual potential. 

Key metrics that will be used to measure the success of the I&D 
strategy will include gender representation within the organisation 
at all levels and on the Board and Council, as well as employee 
engagement scores and the average gender salary gap (male/female). 

As at 30 June 2021, the respective percentages of men and women 
on the Board, the CEO and in senior executive positions (defined as 
the Executive Team, excluding the CEO) were as follows:

Board CEO Executive Team

Number Percentage Number Percentage Number Percentage

Men 4 33% 7 58%

Women 8 67% 1 100% 5 42%

In the reporting year Chartered Accountants ANZ had an enterprise target to close the Gender Gap in the engagement survey (male vs female) 
on the specific factor I would recommend Chartered Accountants ANZ as a great place to work, with the results as follows.

Baseline (FY20 PCP) Target Achieved

Gender Gap (male vs female) 8% delta 5% delta 3% delta

The reporting year’s activity on improving the gender pay gap in average salary across the board (and not just in like for like roles) was focused 
on understanding the gap and its drivers. As at 30 June 2021 performance against the enterprise KPI were as follows.

Baseline (FY20 PCP) Target Achieved

Close the gender gap in average salary 18% 16% 15.9%

Chartered Accountants ANZ is a relevant employer under the 
Australian Workplace Gender Equality Act 2012 (Cth) and remains 
compliant with its reporting obligations under this legislation. 
Further information in respect of female representation with the 
Chartered Accountants ANZ workforce as at 30 June 2021 can 
be found on page 41–42.

Performance of the Board and the Council
Chartered Accountants ANZ undertakes an annual performance 
review of the Board which is conducted and overseen by the NGC. 

This usually involves a questionnaire that seeks feedback from 
various stakeholders and is periodically conducted by an external 
provider. During the reporting period, the NGC commenced a 
process to conduct an internal performance evaluation of the Board 
as a collective and each director as an individual. Reporting on the 
outcome of performance evaluations will be provided to the Board 
and to Council once the evaluation process has been completed, 
which will occur during the first quarter of the 2022 financial year. 

During the reporting period, the NGC also conducted a review of 
the performance of the Council. This involved seeking feedback 

from various internal stakeholders through a questionnaire and 
providing a report on the outcome to the Council.

A process to evaluate the performance of certain committees has 
been designed during the reporting period. This will be rolled 
out in the 2022 financial year to the PARC, ARC, CA X and the 
NGC in order to conduct self-assessments of their performance. 
Reporting on the outcome of the performance evaluations 
will be provided back to the Board (for PARC, ARC and CAX) 
and to the Council (for NGC) once the evaluation process has 
been completed.

Performance of senior executives
Each year, the CEO reviews the Executive Team’s performance and 
reports to the PARC and the Board.

Each executive is assessed based on:

• role modelling the Chartered Accountants ANZ preferred culture

• compliance against the enterprise risk framework

• leadership of specific business and strategic objectives

• achievement of the organisation’s key performance indicators
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Members of the Executive Team are eligible to participate in the 
Executive Performance Incentive Plan (EPIP) which provides for 
an incentive payment of up to 20% of their fixed remuneration. 
Payment of any Executive Performance Incentive (EPI) is triggered 
by achievement of the budgeted position and performance 
against Chartered Accountants ANZ values as determined by the 
CEO. During the reporting period, executive performance was 
measured on a 60:40 split of shared enterprise wide shared goals 
and individual KPIs, which include a combination of financial 
and non-financial outcomes, as well as gatekeeper measures based 
on modelling behaviours that met expectations and reflected 
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s values. 

Performance of CEO
The CEO’s remuneration is comprised of base salary and an at risk 
component. During the reporting period, the CEO’s KPIs were set 
by the PARC in consultation with the CEO and recommended for 
approval by the Board (approved by the Board on 27 July 2020). The 
CEO’s progress is subject to a continuous feedback loop, with the 
CEO providing regular updates to the Board and receiving feedback 
from the Chair and the Chair of PARC. The CEO’s performance 
is then measured against a series of quantitative and qualitative 
measures and a recommendation made by the PARC to the Board. 

Principle 2: Structure the board to 
add value

Nominations and Governance Committee
The NGC is a standing committee of the Council and is comprised 
of the Chair, the President and up to three independent members. 
During the reporting period its composition was as follows:

• Tim Gullifer FCA, the Chair of the NGC and an individual member

• Michele Embling FCA, who is an individual member

• Nives Botica Redmayne FCA, President of Council (member 
of the NGC with effect from 1 January 2021, following her 
appointment as President)

• John Palermo FCA, the Chair of the Board

• Peter Rupp FCA, President of Council (member of the NGC 
until his resignation as President effective 31 December 2020)

The CEO is also eligible to attend and speak at NGC meetings but 
is not entitled to vote. 

In relation to the NGC, of its three individual members:

• the Chair is required by the By-laws not to have held an official 
position with Chartered Accountants ANZ or to have sat as a member 
of a governance body, for the five years prior to their appointment. 
Tim Gullifer, the current Chair, meets these criteria

• the other two individual members are required by the By-laws 
never to have held an official position with Chartered Accountants 
ANZ or sat as a member of a governance body. As an individual 
member, Michele Embling meets this requirement. The other 
individual member position is currently vacant and a recruitment 
process has been underway throughout the reporting period

Since Chartered Accountants ANZ is a membership organisation, 
the requirement to be a member is a selection criterion for many 
of its governance bodies, including the NGC. This can impact 
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s ability to meet the factors relevant 
to assessing independence as set out in Box 2.3 of the ASX 
Principles. In the case of the NGC, Tim Gullifer, John Palermo and 
Nives Botica Redmayne are considered to be independent within 
the definition of Box 2.3. Michele Embling and Peter Rupp are not 
considered to be independent by virtue of being either current or 
recently retired partners of Deloitte and PwC. Deloitte and PwC 
provide services to Chartered Accountants ANZ from time to time 
and a significant number of their employees are also subscription 
paying members and/or candidates enrolled in Chartered 
Accountants ANZ’s various education programs. Given the 
function, role and decision-making power of the NGC, Chartered 
Accountants ANZ does not consider that this presents any conflict 
of interest which compromises the ability of Michele Embling or 
Peter Rupp to exercise independent judgement.

During the reporting period, the NGC met 10 times with 
attendance as follows: 

Attended Eligible

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA 
(President)

4 5

Michele Embling FCA 10 10

Tim Gullifer FCA (Chair) 10 10

John Palermo FCA 
(Board Chair)

10 10

Peter Rupp FCA 
(Former President)

5 5

As set out in the By-laws, the function of the NGC is to:

• identify and recommend candidates to the Council for 
appointment to the Board and Council

• vet and endorse any individual member nominated to serve as a 
representative on Council under By-law 106AA

• develop skills matrices, selection criteria, succession plans, codes 
of conduct, training and any other requirements for the Board

• recommend to the Council remuneration levels for Board 
members (excluding the Chair)

• undertake and oversee evaluations of the Board and report the 
results to the Council and the Board

• monitor and evaluate governance processes between the Council, 
Board, management, and the NGC

The Charter of the NGC expands on its functions and can 
be found at Appendix 5 of the Chartered Accountants ANZ 
Governance Manual. A copy of the Governance Manual is 
available on Chartered Accountants ANZ’s website at  
charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/annual-
reports.
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Board skills matrix
The Board skills matrix is developed and maintained by the NGC. The skills matrix is reviewed annually by the NGC in order to ensure that 
the Board is constituted to best align with Chartered Accountants ANZ’s strategic objectives. The Board skills matrix provides an evaluation 
of the technical and soft skills, knowledge and experience of directors and also helps to ensure diversity of gender, age, geography and other 
different perspectives.

During the reporting period, the NGC reviewed the Board skills matrix periodically to account for the resignation and appointment of office 
bearers as directors to the Board, to recruit for a new non-executive director and to plan for future succession. As at 30 June 2021, the Board’s 
collective skill sets can be summarised as follows:

Skill Expert Accomplished Satisfactory

Leadership: holding senior executive positions of leadership in business, 
private practice, government, or the non-profit sector



Financial acumen: in financial accounting and reporting corporate and 
internal financial controls, including an ability to probe the adequacies 
of financial and risk controls



Governance: commitment to the highest standards of governance 
and an ability to challenge appropriately the effectiveness of senior 
management



Remuneration: setting a remuneration framework including incentive 
structures



Strategy: experience in building and executing strategy, ability to think 
strategically and identify and critically assess strategic opportunities 
and threats and develop effective strategies in the context of the 
strategic objectives



Capital projects: experience working in an industry with projects 
involving large-scale capital outlays and long-term investment horizons 



Risk and Compliance: experience in building and utilising risk and 
compliance frameworks and systems, ability to identify key risks to the 
organisation in a wide range of areas



Change management and disruption: overseeing transformational 
change of an organisation, for example rapid growth, diversification 
into new products and services, digital transformation, process 
re-engineering, ownership transition; experience of an organisation 
that has faced disruptive change



Legal: qualified lawyer with involvement in corporate and commercial 
law in private practice or in-house



Regulatory and Public Policy: experience in the identification and 
resolution of legal and regulatory issues. Experience in public and 
regulatory policy, including how it affects corporations 



Learning & Education (1)*: Academic background in learning and 
education or working in a TEQSA regulated environment



Learning & Education (2)*: Operational experience in a learning, 
education or TEQSA regulated environment, experience of 
transformational change within the education industry, operating on 
digital platforms 



Work Health and Safety: understanding of WHS to prevent/minimise 
risk in the workplace. Experience in programs implementing health and 
safety safeguards, including mental health and physical wellbeing
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Skill Expert Accomplished Satisfactory

Privacy & cyber security: ability to understand data management and 
implications to the wider organisation 



Digital engagement: experience in building a multi-channel 
engagement strategy for customer engagement, utilising customer 
data to create a personalised customer engagement model and derive 
customer insights



Digital transformation and delivery: experience in building a data 
strategy and implementing new data architecture; experience in 
remediating IT platforms and legacy applications; experience in using 
data analytics and business intelligence tools; experience of a business 
that uses digital platforms to deliver products and services



Brand and Influence: experience in building an organisation’s brand 
and digital assets to raise its profile and differentiate it from peers and 
competitors; experience in strong advocacy and thought leadership



Marketing & customer: senior executive experience in marketing, 
detailed understanding of corporate purpose to create long-term value 
and experience in a customer first industry



International: exposure to international regions either through 
experience working in an organisation with global operations or through 
management of international stakeholder relationships. Understanding 
of different cultural, political, regulatory and business requirements



Membership organisation: experience with membership-based 
bodies at a senior level; member advocacy; monitoring and enforcing 
professional standards and codes of conduct



Sustainability: experience in creating a sustainable operating model 
focused on medium-long term growth; experience in integrated 
reporting models; experience in sustainability reporting. Ability 
to identify economically, socially and environmentally sustainable 
developments and to set and monitor sustainability aspirations 



Talent and culture: experience in talent management and creating a 
future focused organisation; experience in creating a flexible workplace 
environment to attract and retain talent; experience in implementing 
inclusion and diversity strategies



Governance: Graduate of Australian Institute of Company Directors 
or Graduate of Governance Institute of Australia or Graduate of 
NZ Institute of Directors 



Chairing: experience of chairing non-executive Committees or Boards 

*   The members of the Education Board, which is a delegated committee of the Board are highly experienced and skilled in this area.

Independence of directors
During the reporting period, the Board was comprised of between 
11 to 12 non-executive directors, including the President and two 
Vice Presidents of Council. The Chair of the Board is John Palermo, 
who is considered to be independent within the meaning of 
Box 2.3 of the ASX Principles. The Chair does not also hold 
the position of CEO.

The President and the two Vice Presidents are members of the 
Board for the term of their appointment as office bearers. 

It is a requirement under Chartered Accountants ANZ’s 
By-laws that at least 10 out of the 12 Board members also be 
members of Chartered Accountants ANZ. This constitutional 
requirement impacts Chartered Accountants ANZ’s ability to 
meet the definition of independence as described in Box 2.3 of 
the ASX Principles.
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During the reporting period, the members of the Board were as follows (listed alphabetically):

Current Directors Date of appointment Independence assessment – Box 2.3

Boorer, Kate, FCA 
(Australian Vice President) 

1 January 2021 Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA 
(President as at 1 January 2021  
and former New Zealand 
Vice President)

30 July 2019 Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Carolyn Colley FCA 17 May 2021 Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Harrington, Murray, FCA 
(New Zealand Vice President) 

1 January 2021 Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Cheryl Hayman, Non-Member 1 January 2018 Independent; non-member director

Ming Long FCA  
(Chair of CA X Committee)

1 January 2017 
(casual vacancy)

Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Robert McDonald FCA 
(Chair of PARC)

1 January 2018 Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

John Palermo FCA  
(Chair) 

1 October 2015 
(casual vacancy)

Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Sarah Petersen CA 1 January 2020 Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Penny Stragalinos FCA 1 January 2017 Not independent – partner of KPMG that provides 
services to Chartered Accountants ANZ and some 
of whose employees are members and candidates 
enrolled in Chartered Accountants ANZ’s education 
programs. The Board does not believe that this 
compromises Ms Stragalinos’ position as a director as 
conflicts of interests’ measures are in place to ensure 
that Ms Stragalinos does not participate in, or vote on, 
any decisions that involve or impact KPMG. Chartered 
Accountants ANZ member.

Christopher (Chris) Townend 
FCA (Chair of ARC)

1 January 2018 Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Dianne Williams, Non-Member 1 August 2016 
(casual vacancy)

Independent; non-member director

Former Directors  
(terms completed during 
the reporting period)

Peter O’Regan FCA  
(Former Australia Vice 
President) – term completed 
31 December 2020 

1 January 2020 Independent; Chartered Accountants ANZ member

Peter Rupp FCA  
(Former President) – term 
completed 31 December 2020

30 July 2019 Not independent – partner of Deloitte that provides 
services to Chartered Accountants ANZ and some of 
whose employees are members and candidates enrolled 
in Chartered Accountants ANZ’s education programs. The 
Board does not believe that this compromised Mr Rupp’s 
position as a director as conflicts of interests’ measures 
were in place during his tenure to ensure that Mr Rupp did 
not participate in, or vote on, any decisions that involved or 
impacted Deloitte. Chartered Accountants ANZ member.
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The Board manages potential conflicts of interests by tabling a 
standing declaration of interests, positions and relationships for 
all directors at each Board meeting. Any change in these interests, 
positions or relationships is reported by a director to the Chair or 
Company Secretary as soon as possible. Any director who is in a 
position of potential conflict will avoid informal discussion that 
might influence fellow Board members on a matter and during a 
meeting will formally declare their interest and leave the meeting 
for the duration of that matter if appropriate to do so. 

Board induction and education
As part of the appointment process, all new directors receive 
detailed information outlining their duties and responsibilities 
and an opportunity to meet with the CEO and members of the 
Executive Team. They are also invited to attend an orientation 
day which includes presentations from the governance team, to 
ensure that they are familiar with Chartered Accountants ANZ’s 
governance structure and key business and strategic issues. 

The Board receives continuing education through internal 
and external presentations and strategic sessions with the 
Executive Team. 

Principle 3: Instil a culture of acting 
lawfully, ethically and responsibly 

Articulate and disclose values
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s strategic direction and purpose are 
supported by its five values which are: 

• collaborate for success 

• integrity in all we do 

•  embrace diversity 

• accountable to ourselves and others 

• passion to grow and improve 

During the FY21–FY25 strategy refresh, the Board, the CEO and 
the Executive Team have reinforced their commitment to these five 
values by embedding them into a new Code of Conduct which is 
described further below.

Code of Conduct
During the course of the reporting year a new Code of Conduct 
was approved by the Board which will, for the first time, apply to all 
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s people which is defined to include 
employees, contractors, non-executive directors and all other 
governance body members when acting in a representative capacity 
for Chartered Accountants ANZ. The Code of Conduct was 
approved by the Board on 18 February 2021 and a program is now 
in place to roll it out across the organisation and to provide training. 

The Code of Conduct has been designed around Chartered 
Accountants ANZ’s purpose and the five values set out above 
and sets minimum standards of behaviour for all Chartered 
Accountants ANZ’s people. The Code of Conduct also provides for 
various sanctions to be applied in the case of a breach of the Code. 
Material breaches of the Code of Conduct are reported to the 
Board and/or the ARC and PARC as appropriate.

A copy of the Code of Conduct can be found at Appendix 
12 of the Governance Manual which can be found at 
charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/annual-reports. 

Whistleblower Policy
Chartered Accountants ANZ is committed to a corporate culture 
that encourages the reporting and investigation of misconduct or 
serious wrongdoing. On 1 January 2020, Chartered Accountants 
ANZ voluntarily adopted Australian whistleblowing legislation and 
implemented a Whistleblower Policy to protect whistleblowers. 
The policy includes the implementation of a third-party 
anonymous whistleblowing reporting service, Whispli, which can 
be accessed at charteredaccountantsanz.whispli.com/report. 

Once a report is lodged through Whispli, it is relayed to the person 
appointed from time to time by the Board, as the Whistleblower 
Protection Officer, who is currently the Group Executive, People & 
Culture. If a report concerns either the Chief Executive Officer or 
a member of the Executive Team, the report is instead sent to the 
ARC Chair. The matter will then be investigated and appropriate 
reporting provided to the Board and/or the ARC and PARC as part 
of the investigation.

A full copy of the Whistleblower Policy can be accessed here: 
charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/complaints/complaints-
about-ca-anz.

Anti-Bribery and Corruption (ABC) Policy 
Chartered Accountants ANZ is committed to conducting 
its business with honesty and integrity and to ensure high 
ethical standards are demonstrated in our actions and business 
relationships. In the reporting year, Chartered Accountants ANZ 
developed an Anti-Bribery and Corruption Policy (ABC Policy) 
which will take effect in the 2022 financial year. Due to potential 
connections between bribery and corruption and modern slavery, 
our anti-bribery and corruption policy also provides a level of 
assurance from a modern slavery perspective.

A full copy of the ABC Policy can be accessed here: 
charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/corporate-responsibility/
modern-slavery-statement.
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Principle 4: Safeguard the integrity 
of corporate reports

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC)
The ARC is a standing committee of the Board. During the 
reporting period, its members were:

• John Palermo FCA

• Penny Stragalinos FCA

• Chris Townend FCA (ARC Chair)

John Palermo and Chris Townend are both considered to be 
independent directors within the meaning of Box 2.3 of the 
ASX Principles. For the reasons set out above, Penny Stragalinos 
is not considered to be independent. 

All members of ARC are FCAs with significant experience in 
financial reporting and risk. Chris Townend worked as a Chief 
Financial Officer in his executive career in organisations in 
Australia and New Zealand. Chris is a volunteer member of the 
Uniting Church’s Synod audit and risk committee, and the finance 
committee of the Presentation Sisters in Queensland. John Palermo 
has 20 years’ experience in public practice, with expertise in 
corporate transaction execution, strategic business management 
and business structuring. Penny Stragalinos is an audit partner 
at KPMG, with 25 years’ experience as an external auditor, 
accounting and risk advisor. Penny Stragalinos was previously the 
COO of KPMG’s Audit, Assurance and Risk Consulting Practice, a 
director and Chair of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
of Victorian Opera, and a member of the Audit Committee for 
The Committee for Economic Development of Australia.

Under the terms of its charter, the key objective of the ARC is 
to support the Board in fulfilling its corporate governance and 
oversight responsibilities regarding Chartered Accountants ANZ 
and any trusts and/or legal entities established or managed by 
Chartered Accountants ANZ. This responsibility includes:

• financial reporting

• risk management systems

• internal control systems

• compliance

• internal and external audit arrangements

A full copy of the Charter can be found at Appendix 4 of the 
Governance Manual at charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/
governance/annual-reports.

During the reporting period, ARC met six times with attendance 
as follows:

Attended Eligible

John Palermo FCA 6 6

Penny Stragalinos FCA 6 6

Chris Townend FCA (ARC Chair) 6 6

CEO and CFO declaration
Before the Board approves financial statements for a financial 
period, it receives a declaration from the CEO and Chief Financial 
Officer stating that, in their opinion:

• the financial records of the entity have been properly maintained

• the financial statements comply with appropriate accounting 
standards and interpretations and give a true and fair view of 
the financial position and performance of the entity

• this opinion was formed based on sound risk management 
systems and internal controls, which operate effectively

External auditor
Grant Thornton were appointed as the external auditor of Chartered 
Accountants ANZ following a vote of members at the 2019 Annual 
General Meeting and have provided an audit opinion in respect of 
the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2021. 

The external auditor’s performance is reviewed annually. The external 
auditor provides an annual declaration of independence to the ARC.

While Chartered Accountants ANZ is not subject to the mandatory 
rotation of audit partners, it voluntarily adopts this practice.

Grant Thornton will attend the 2021 AGM and will be available 
to answer questions from members about:

• the conduct of their audit, and preparation and content of their 
Independent Auditor’s Report

• the policies and controls Chartered Accountants ANZ adopts 
regarding the preparation of the financial statements

• their independence regarding the conduct of the audit

Verification of unaudited reports
Chartered Accountants ANZ is not a publicly listed company 
and does not have shareholders. It also does not release quarterly 
activity reports, quarterly cash flow reports or other periodic 
corporate reporting that investors might rely upon when making 
investment decisions. As such, Recommendation 4.3 of the ASX 
Principles has limited application to it. Nevertheless, Chartered 
Accountants ANZ does perform an internal verification process on 
the sections of its annual report that are not subject to an external 
audit. The verification process involves content writers attesting to 
the accuracy of the statements that are made and cross-referencing 
relevant data sources where available. 
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Principle 5: Make timely and 
balanced disclosure

Continuous disclosure
As Chartered Accountants ANZ is not a listed company and does 
not have shareholders, it is not subject to the ASX Listing Rules nor 
to the obligation to make continuous disclosure to the market and 
to investors. As such, Recommendation 5.1 of the ASX Principles 
does not apply to Chartered Accountants ANZ.

Market announcements
As Chartered Accountants ANZ is not a listed entity and does 
not provide announcements to the market, Recommendation 5.2 
does not apply to it. However, the Board is provided with regular 
reporting from the CEO in respect of all significant media releases 
or advocacy submissions. 

Investor and analyst presentations
As Chartered Accountants ANZ is not a listed entity and does not 
provide announcements to the market, Recommendation 5.3 does 
not apply to it. However, the Board and Council are kept informed 
of all material member communications. 

Principle 6: Respect the rights of members

Governance information
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s website contains multiple sections 
that address the governance of the organisation, as well as copies of its 
annual reports, Supplemental Royal Charter, By-laws, Regulations, 
the NZICA Act, the NZICA Rules, Governance Manual and details 
of its directors, councillors and Executive Team. The website also 
includes information on Chartered Accountants ANZ’s AGM, 
voting and election processes. 

Communication with members
Chartered Accountants ANZ has a dedicated Public Affairs team and 
Member Engagement team whose function is to ensure that there is 
two-way communication with members and that members are kept 
informed in a timely manner of key issues that impact members.

Chartered Accountants ANZ maintains several communication 
channels with its members which include Acuity our member-led 
magazine that is published bi-monthly and represents the 
Chartered Accountants ANZ brand, President’s views, members 
and their contributions to society. More than 80,000 copies of 
Acuity are distributed in over 100 countries, including Australia 
and New Zealand in either print or digital format. The digital site, 
www.acuitymag.com, contains material from the magazine plus 
11 original, digital-only stories per month. It offers a high volume of 
content across multiple channels with approximately 312 articles 
per year via print and digital channels. 

Chartered Accountants ANZ also uses social media platforms 
such as LinkedIn, Facebook and Twitter as well as its website  
www.charteredaccountantsanz.com to communicate with members.

Members are given the option to receive communications to 
and from Chartered Accountants ANZ electronically, with the 
significant majority of Chartered Accountants ANZ members 
choosing this option. 

Participation at Annual General Meetings (AGM)
Chartered Accountants ANZ has historically encouraged members 
to participate at its AGM by holding the AGM in different 
geographical locations. However, due to public health concerns 
associated with COVID-19, as well as travel restrictions and 
government requirements for social distancing, the 2020 AGM 
was held as a hybrid meeting. Full details of the 2020 AGM can be 
found here: charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/
agm-notice.

The Board was pleased to observe that holding the 2020 AGM 
in a hybrid format significantly increased member participation, 
with members in various locations in Australia, New Zealand 
and overseas able to attend the meeting without incurring the 
expense and effort of having to travel to a physical location. 
As the COVID-19 pandemic has continued into 2021, with 
ongoing uncertainty in respect of travel restrictions, the Board has 
determined to hold the 2021 AGM in a fully virtual format, with 
all participants attending online. The 2021 AGM will be held at 
2pm Australian Eastern Daylight Time on 29 October 2021 and 
a notice of meeting will be sent to members in due course and 
published on CA ANZ’s website. 

In addition, Chartered Accountants ANZ holds AGMs for each of 
its regional areas in Australia, New Zealand and overseas as detailed 
on: charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/agm-
notice/regional-agm-notices

Voting on resolutions by a poll
As Chartered Accountants ANZ does not have shareholders, 
the important distinction between voting on a show of hands 
as opposed to voting on a poll (and ensuring equality amongst 
shareholders) as set out in Recommendation 6.4 of the ASX 4th 
Principles does not apply to it. Instead, equality between member 
votes is protected by Chartered Accountants ANZ’s By-laws which 
provide that all members who are eligible to vote are entitled to one 
vote each at the AGM, irrespective of whether voting is conducted 
on a show of hands or by poll. 

Principle 7: Recognise and manage risk
Audit and Risk Committee
The ARC is tasked with overseeing Chartered Accountants ANZ’s 
enterprise risk management framework. Information in relation 
to the composition of the ARC and the number of meetings held 
during the reporting period is set out above.
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Enterprise Risk Management Framework
On recommendation from the ARC, the Board reviews and 
approves the Enterprise Risk Management Framework including the 
Enterprise Risk Management Policy and Risk Appetite Statement on 
an annual basis for the purpose of satisfying itself that the framework 
is sound and that there is an ongoing continuous improvement action 
plans in place. This review took place during the reporting period 
and the Board remains satisfied that Chartered Accountants ANZ is 
operating with due regard to the risk appetite set by the Board.

The Enterprise Risk Management Framework establishes a 
foundation for the management of strategic and operational risk 
during periods of organisational uncertainty or increased stress, 
whilst also supporting the organisation’s efforts in achieving its 
strategic objectives. Chartered Accountants ANZ has adopted a 
‘Three Lines of Assurance’ risk framework and all staff, led by the 
Executive Team, are responsible for the identification, assessment, 
management, reporting, and monitoring of all risks across the 
operating spectrum, including emerging risks and strategic risks. 
Risks are expected to be escalated to the Executive Team and are 
discussed at the Executive Team Risk Committee, together with 
the tracking of any improvement plans required for potential 
remediation and monitoring. Regular updates are provided at ARC 
or on an as-required basis.

The implementation of the ‘Three Lines of Assurance’ model is 
well progressed, with iterative improvements of effectiveness and 
efficiency implemented by management each year. The next annual 
phase of the implementation drives standardisation and simplicity 
to make the assurance process itself more productive.

Internal audit
The ‘Third line of Assurance’ is the internal audit function 
that provides independent assurance to add value and improve 
Chartered Accountants ANZ’s operations. Internal audit provides 
a more independent evaluation of the design and operational 
effectiveness of Chartered Accountants ANZ’s governance, risk 
and compliance management capabilities.

Crowe Horwath provides internal audit services to Chartered 
Accountants ANZ. An annual review program is agreed in advance 
with the ARC and periodic reporting on progress is provided to 
ARC by Crowe Horwath. Internal audit represents one of two arms 
of independent review in the Three Lines of Assurance model, 
the other being Chartered Accountants ANZ’s external auditor, 
Grant Thornton.

The current Internal Audit Program is based on the following 
guiding principles: 

• A focus in the short term on specific risk areas which require 
independent assurance 

• A short to mid-term focus on areas that have been subject to 
change in systems or processes, impacted by recent legal/judicial 
pronouncements or a change in key executive management 

• The focus in the mid-term (1–2 years) is reviewing the design 
and implementation of the risk, compliance and quality 
frameworks adopted by Chartered Accountants ANZ

In addition to reporting their audit findings and recommended 
actions, Crowe Howarth report not only to management but 
independently to the ARC. 

Economic, environmental and social 
sustainability risks 
Chartered Accountants ANZ is comprised of three distinct 
revenue businesses being member events and conferences 
(including continuing education), tertiary education services and 
member subscriptions. Each segment has distinct but related 
markets to consider to ensure they are and remain economically, 
environmentally and socially sustainable.

Chartered Accountants ANZ also acts as a professional conduct 
regulator and a quality and practice reviewer for its members 
globally, except for NZ resident members which is the remit of 
NZICA. This oversight is critical to ensuring the integrity and 
sustainability of the CA designation and Chartered Accountants 
ANZ as an organisation. Chartered Accountants ANZ is also 
committed to positive action in respect of climate change and 
assisting its members to play an important part in facilitating 
organisations to adapt to, and mitigate against, climate change.

Further detail is set out below.

Member value – events and conferences
Chartered Accountants ANZ is committed to delivering events, 
conferences, workshops and eLearning courses to provide both 
members and non-members with an opportunity to future 
proof their skill set, expand their knowledge and maintain their 
difference. Chartered Accountants ANZ believes that ongoing 
education and development is key to the sustainability of the 
accounting profession, ensuring that it remains relevant and 
contemporary and is agile in its response to changing economic 
and social environments. The ongoing uncertainty caused by 
COVID-19 required Chartered Accountants ANZ to continue 
to offer a number of member events and conferences in a digital 
environment in the reporting year. This allowed members to 
continue to access these services uninterrupted and saw an uplift 
in participation, with virtual attendance continuing to prove 
especially popular with members in regional locations. The move 
from a face-to-face format to virtual events has also assisted 
Chartered Accountants ANZ to reduce its carbon footprint with 
travel, external event spaces and catering being replaced with a 
lower impact format of webinars that use data and electricity. 
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Quality and Practice Review Program
The quality and practice review program helps ensure members 
in practice maintain a consistently high standard of quality 
and service to their clients. It is a key pillar in Chartered 
Accountants ANZ’s commitment to upholding the integrity 
of the CA designation.

Education – CA Program
Chartered Accountants ANZ is committed to ensuring that the 
CA Program remains the pre-eminent accounting qualification and 
that its members form part of a network of trusted business and 
finance leaders. The Board has delegated responsibility for 
safeguarding the academic integrity and high standards 
of the CA Program, and therefore its sustainability, to the 
Education Board.

During the reporting period, the Education Board was comprised 
of six members as follows:

• Professor Gregor Kennedy, Deputy Vice-Chancellor (Academic) 
and Professor of Higher Education, Melbourne Centre for the 
Study of Higher Education (CSHE), University of Melbourne 
(Chair)

• Professor Philomena Leung FCA, Honorary Professor of Accounting 
and Governance and Professor Emerita, Macquarie University

• Associate Professor John Medlin FCA, Associate Dean Online 
Education, University of South Australia

• Dr Felicity Reid, Senior Academic, Associate Dean Academic, 
Faculty of Business, Auckland University of Technology

• Dr Amanda White CA, Senior Accounting Lecturer, University 
of Technology Sydney

• Professor Norman Wong FCA, Professor of Accounting, Head of 
Department of Accounting and Finance, University of Auckland

All members are considered independent within the definition of 
Box 2.3 of the ASX Principles.

Under the terms of its charter, the Education Board’s primary 
responsibilities are to:

• function as the delegated academic governing body of Chartered 
Accountants ANZ

• ensure the academic functions, authorities and responsibilities of 
a registered Higher Education Provider are upheld on behalf of 
the Chartered Accountants ANZ Board

• assure academic oversight and leadership to Chartered 
Accountants ANZ’s higher education programs in all its normal 
and reasonable capacity as expected of a registered Higher 
Education Provider

• approve changes to academic policies consistent with the 
Education Board’s delegated authority and recommend to the 
Chartered Accountants ANZ Board changes required to other 
Chartered Accountants ANZ policies

• recommend to the Chartered Accountants ANZ Board changes 
to the Chartered Accountants ANZ By-laws and Regulations 
in relation to the admission of Members consistent with the 
Education Board’s remit

• provide academic oversight on all programs that lead to entry 
into a Chartered Accountants ANZ higher education program 
and/or membership, including Chartered Accountants ANZ 
accredited university and other higher education provider 
entry pathways

A full copy of the Education Board’s charter can be 
found at Appendix 8 of the Governance Manual at 
charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/annual-
reports.

During the reporting period, the Education Board met four times 
as follows:

Attended Eligible

Professor Gregor Kennedy 
(Chair)

4 4

Professor Philomena Leung 
FCA

4 4

Associate Professor John 
Medlin FCA

4 4

Dr Felicity Reid 4 4

Dr Amanda White CA 3 4

Professor Norman Wong 
FCA

3 4

As part of its continued response to COVID-19 and now embedded 
into the new CA Program which was launched in February 2021, 
all CA Program exams are now delivered online. This ensured that 
candidates were able to continue their studies during the reporting 
period and further underscores the long-term sustainability of this 
business segment. 

The sustainability of the CA Program is also reinforced through 
the program delivery mode, with teaching provided in a digital 
learning environment to allow candidates to study in a way that 
replicates the way they work. Candidates are supported by a 
number of online tools such as digital study guides, microlearning 
videos, podcasts, infographics, case studies, practice questions 
and interactive examples, the content is easily accessible through 
desktop or mobile, and caters to candidates’ diverse study needs, 
preferences and styles. 
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Education – CA X Committee
The CA X Committee was established as a committee in 
September 2019 to oversee the CA X project, being the re-design 
of the content, delivery and structure of the CA Program for 
the future to ensure its continued relevance. The primary 
responsibilities of the CA X Committee are to provide advice 
to management and to make recommendations to the Board in 
relation to the financial, commercial and risk management of 
the CA X project, including replacing the student information 
system. The CA X Committee is comprised of a member of the 
Board, being Ming Long AM FCA, who has the role of Chair and 
Kean Selway, the Chief Operating Officer of Deakin University 
and an independent subject matter expert. The CEO, the Group 
Executive of Education and Learning and members of management 
also attend each meeting as observers. All other Board members 
also have a standing invitation to attend as observers.

The new CA Program was launched on 25 February 2021 with the 
first module commencing under the new program in June 2021 
and the work of the CA X Committee is now changing its focus 
to providing oversight of the development of new contemporary 
modules, overseeing the “Teach Out” period between the old 
format and new format course and ensuring that the CA Program 
continues to innovate and remain relevant for the future. 

The new CA Program has been designed to provide more relevance, 
flexibility and choice, as well as to embrace the transformation of 
the accounting industry by automation and digital change. The rise 
of emerging technologies is influencing the way accountants work, 
and the professional skills that are valued. Unpredictable business 
landscapes mean that professional capabilities are more important 
than ever. Graduating CAs are increasingly expected to be job-ready 
and adequately equipped to handle a digital world. CA Program 
candidates are competing for roles as difference-makers, growth 
accelerators, critical thinkers, innovators and digitally savvy experts 
who can guide new initiatives to help businesses navigate disruption 
and unpredictable environments. The new CA Program includes 
13 subjects of which candidates must complete nine (compared to 
five compulsory modules in the CA Program in Teach out) allowing 
candidates to start to specialise and ensuring all study is relevant. 
New subject areas include Risk and Technology, Data Analytics and 
Insights and Financial Modelling.

In order to lead in this environment, the CA Program has been 
re-designed, through extensive consultation with members, 
candidates in the current program and industry. The CA Program 
is actively developing graduates who can apply professional 
scepticism and become trusted partners in business.  
The new program integrates the development of deep technical 
expertise with strong professional skills and capabilities, offered in 
a digital environment through real-world engagement, authentic 
simulations and challenges, and embedded capability assessment.

A full copy of the CA X Committee’s charter can be 
found at Appendix 4CA of the Governance Manual at 
charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/annual-
reports.

During the reporting period, the CA X Committee met 10 times 
as follows.

Attended Eligible

Ming Long AM FCA (Chair) 10 10

Kean Selway, Non Member 10 10

Professional Conduct Regulator 
The Board has delegated its function as a professional conduct 
regulator to the Professional Conduct Oversight Committee in 
Australia. In New Zealand, the role is performed by the NZICA 
Regulatory Board, which is the governing body responsible and 
accountable for ensuring NZICA’s regulatory functions are carried 
out. The NZICA Regulatory Board also fulfils the statutory role of 
the NZICA Executive Board under the NZICA Act.

During the reporting period, the NZICA Regulatory Board was 
comprised of:

• Neil Paviour-Smith FCA (Chair)

• Dale La Hood (appointed with effect from 1 January 2021)

• Rob McDonald FCA

• Sarah Petersen CA

• Dianne Williams

• Nives Botica Redmayne FCA (ex-officio as New Zealand 
Vice President, with speaking rights and no voting rights) 
(retired 31 December 2020)

• Murray Harrington FCA (ex-officio as New Zealand Vice 
President, with full speaking and voting rights by virtue 
of NZICA Rules amendment effective 4 December 2020) 
(commenced 1 January 2021)

All members of the NZICA Regulatory Board are considered to be 
independent within the meaning of Box 2.3 of the ASX Principles.

The main functions of the NZICA Regulatory Board are to:

• Control and regulate the practice of the profession of 
accountancy by Chartered Accountants ANZ members in 
New Zealand

• Prescribe the code of ethics and maintain and monitor members’ 
compliance with the code and professional standards and the 
NZICA Rules

• Monitor members compliance with the Auditor Regulation Act 
and other enactments that relate to the practice of accountancy

• Carry out the functions and responsibilities that are conferred 
on it by the NZICA Act, the NZCIA Rules, the By-laws and any 
other enactment
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In Australia, professional conduct is the remit of the Professional 
Conduct Oversight Committee (PCOC) which has oversight 
responsibility for the integrity, timeliness and effectiveness of the 
disciplinary procedures carried out by the Professional Conduct 
Committee, the Disciplinary Tribunal and the Appeals Tribunal 
established under Section 5 of the By-laws.

For the reporting year the PCOC’s activity included:

• regularly reviewing information and data regarding the 
performance of the disciplinary system, to assess the integrity, 
timeliness and effectiveness of the disciplinary procedures and 
sanctions

• meeting with the Chairs of each of the Professional Conduct 
Committee, Disciplinary Tribunal and Appeals Tribunal 

• advising the Chartered Accountants ANZ Board on the 
performance of the disciplinary system

• assessing the compliance of the professional conduct and 
discipline processes with international best practice

• recommending the appointment of members to the Chartered 
Accountants ANZ disciplinary panels

PCOC members are appointed by the Board. PCOC is comprised 
of a maximum of five members and must include at least two 
Chartered Accountants ANZ members that have a minimum of 
10 years’ relevant experience and at least two lay members. During 
the reporting period, PCOC was comprised of:

• Nancy Dolan (Chair)

• John Trowbridge

• Jan West AM FCA

• Taryn Rulton FCA

For the reporting year the NZICA Regulatory Board’s activity 
included:

• approving revised CPD requirements for New Zealand members 
in order to align requirements with international standards

• approving amendments to the NZICA Code of Ethics to 
align requirements with international standards, following 
consultation with members on an exposure draft

• approving revised Financial Advisory Services Standard (FAS), 
following consultation with members on an exposure draft

• engaging with the Financial Markets Authority (FMA) as 
oversight body of NZICA as an accredited body regulating 
licensed auditors under the Auditor Regulation Act 2011

• monitoring processes for NZICA’s reviews and investigations

• overseeing NZICA’s Permanent Bodies including appointments 
and Charter amendments, and were briefed on key conduct 
and regulation matters being addressed by these bodies, as 
appropriate

• overseeing/approving NZICA administrative matters such as 
budget, audit, resourcing, health and safety and operational 
delegations as appropriate

The full charter of the NZICA Regulatory Board can 
be found at Appendix 7 of the Governance Manual at 
charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/governance/annual-reports. 

During the reporting period, the NZICA Regulatory Board met as follows:

Name Role Attended Eligible

Neil Paviour-Smith FCA Chair 5 5

Dale La Hood Independent (non-member)  
(commenced 1 January 2021)

2 2

Robert (Rob) McDonald FCA Member 
Also Chartered Accountants ANZ Board Director

5 5

Sarah Petersen CA Member  
Also Chartered Accountants ANZ Board Director

4 5

Dianne Williams Independent (non-member) 
Also Chartered Accountants ANZ Board Director

5 5

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA Ex-Officio as NZ Vice President  
(term completed 31 December 2020) 
Also Chartered Accountants ANZ Board Director

3 3

Murray Harrington FCA Ex-Officio as NZ Vice President  
(commenced 1 January 2021) 
Also Chartered Accountants ANZ Board Director

2 2
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John Trowbridge and Taryn Rulton are both considered to be 
independent within the meaning of Box 2.3 of the ASX Principles. 
Nancy Dolan is a retired partner of PwC and Jan West is a former 
President of Chartered Accountants ANZ and a retired partner of 
Deloitte, which both provide services to Chartered Accountants 
ANZ and whose employees are members and candidates enrolled 
in Chartered Accountants ANZ’s education programs. The Board 
does not believe that this compromises Nancy Dolan or Jan West’s 
position as members of PCOC and conflicts of interests’ measures 
are in place to ensure that they do not participate in, or vote on, any 
decisions that involve or impact PwC or Deloitte. 

Whilst not FCAs, Nancy Dolan is a qualified lawyer and 
former partner of (then named) Mallesons Stephen Jaques and 
John Trowbridge is an experienced actuary with significant 
experience in developing professional standards and codes 
of conduct. 

The full charter of PCOC can be found at Appendix 9E of the 
Governance Manual at charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-us/
governance/annual-reports.

During the reporting period, the PCOC met as follows:

Attended Eligible

Nancy Dolan (Chair) 4 4

John Trowbridge 4 4

Jan West FCA 4 4

Taryn Rulton FCA 4 4

Sustainability 
As part of our strategic roadmap to 2025, the pillar on 
Sustainable profession and professional body includes initiatives 
that focus on sustainable practices and reporting for Chartered 
Accountants ANZ. As part of this initiative, we are developing 
a sustainability framework. This will connect to many of our 
existing sustainability initiatives including modern slavery and 
responsible supply chain management. 

Whilst we recognise we have an obligation to address social 
and environmental risks from an operational perspective, we also 
have a critical responsibility to ensure our members are aware of 
and understand these risks as well. We provide members with the 
training and resources they need including this year on modern 
slavery, climate change and addressing non-financial risks.

We also have a critical role to play in providing sound advice to help 
governments to create the policy and regulatory infrastructure 
necessary for a transition to a net zero carbon economy. 

Chartered Accountants ANZ is a member of, or partner to, a 
number of important organisations including the Deakin Centre 
for Integrated Reporting, the International Integrated Reporting 
Council, the United Nations Global Compact Network Australia 
and Accounting for Sustainability. Through our engagement with 
these organisations, we can better support our members to make 
business decisions that provide a more sustainable future and 
contribute the voice of our members to the dialogue. 

This also includes a strong collaboration with the academic sector 
to produce reports and modelling for example, on carbon capture 
for different tree species and ages charteredaccountantsanz.com/
news-and-analysis/insights/research-and-insights/another-step-
towards-more-accurate-sustainability-reporting in March 2021, 
which was the first comprehensive study of its kind in an 
Australian urban environment. 

For more information please visit charteredaccountantsanz.com/
member-services/technical/business-issues/sustainable-business

Integrated reporting 
Both Integrated Reporting and a sustainability framework are key 
deliverables within our Strategic Initiatives under the third pillar 
(Sustainable profession and professional body) of our strategic 
roadmap to 2025. Various stakeholders, including our people 
and members who participate in our Sustainability Management 
Advisory Committee contributed to a survey to prioritise the 
range of environmental, social and governance matters as part of 
the development of our sustainability framework. The framework 
will form the basis for a three-year plan to be launched in FY22. 

Data on Chartered Accountants ANZ’s operational carbon 
emissions and energy usage from FY19 to FY21 has been collected 
in a carbon accounting report to track and benchmark our 
usage, inform our pathway toward carbon neutrality and, in 
time, Chartered Accountants ANZ will report progress on the 
reduction in emissions. 

For more information see page 38–39.

First Nations engagement
During the reporting period, Chartered Accountants ANZ 
formalised its journey towards Reconciliation, undertook 
consultation with Reconciliation Australia and submitted its 
Reflect Reconciliation Action Plan for endorsement. 

Chartered Accountants ANZ’s action plan is focused on lifting 
employees’ cultural competency to support First Peoples’ 
sector plans, build employees’ understanding of the role they 
play in closing the inequality gap in Australia, and engaging in 
reconciliation with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples. 
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In New Zealand, the Māori strategy focuses on attracting 
Māori into accounting, member support and competency within 
Chartered Accountants ANZ. Chartered Accountants ANZ has 
launched an internal cultural competency program designed to 
uplift our awareness, understanding and connection with Te Ao 
Māori and our role as Treaty of Waitangi partners. Chartered 
Accountants ANZ now have four cohorts of New Zealand leaders 
in weekly Te Reo Māori lessons and in August had a group of 
30 leaders attend an immersive Te Ao Māori culture and history 
workshop at Mihiroa Marae in Pakipaki. Chartered Accountants 
ANZ have established portfolio responsibility for Kaupapa Māori 
on New Zealand Council to lead and guide this important kaupapa.

Principle 8: Remunerate fairly and 
responsibly

People and Remuneration Committee (PARC)
During the reporting period, the Executive Remuneration 
Committee was renamed the People and Remuneration 
Committee to reflect its broader roles to provide oversight in 
relation to the management of people, talent, succession and 
culture, in addition to remuneration related matters for the 
Executive Team.

The PARC is a standing committee of the Board and is comprised 
of at least three members. During the reporting period, the 
members of  ARC were:

• Cheryl Hayman

• Rob McDonald FCA (PARC Chair) 

• Sarah Petersen CA (appointed with effect from 
14 September 2020)

• Penny Stragalinos FCA (resigned with effect from 
14 September 2020)

Rob McDonald, Cheryl Hayman and Sarah Petersen are all 
considered independent directors within the meaning of 
Box 2.3 of the ASX Principles.

The main function of the PARC is to assist the Board in 
remuneration related activities and strategy, including setting 
remuneration policy to ensure that remuneration is set at levels 
that are fair and reasonable and benchmarked to market rates. 
PARC is also responsible for the annual performance review of the 
CEO and succession planning for the CEO and the Executive Team. 
A full copy of the charter for PARC can be found at Appendix 4C 
of the Governance Manual at charteredaccountantsanz.com/about-
us/governance/annual-reports.

During the reporting period, PARC met as follows:

Attended Eligible

Cheryl Hayman, 
Non-Member

4 4

Robert McDonald FCA 
(Chair) 

4 4

Sarah Petersen CA  
(appointed 14 September 2020)

3 3

Penny Stragalinos FCA 
(resigned 14 September 2020)

1 1

Remuneration policies and practices 
Non-executive
In accordance with Chartered Accountants ANZ’s By-Laws, the 
remuneration of the directors, President and Vice Presidents is:

• determined by the Council, based on an annual review and 
recommendation from the NGC

• benchmarked with the assistance of independent external advice 
to the NGC to ensure it is in line with market rates

• within the parameters and principles approved by members

Following an external benchmarking process by market specialists 
Egan Associates Pty Ltd, members approved an increase to the 
fee pool for the remuneration of directors and office bearers at 
the 2019 AGM. This saw an increase to fees take effect from 
1 January 2020 as follows: 

President – 120% of the Chair fee $144,000

Vice President $72,000

Chair – double the director fee $120,000

Director $60,000

Chair of the Audit and Risk Committee 
(additional) 

$20,000

During the reporting period, the Council approved an 
additional payment to the Chair of the CAX Committee 
of $10,000 per annum, to take effect from 1 January 2021. 
This was in recognition of the considerable additional 
workload associated with this role in preparation for the 
launch of the new CA Program. 

In addition, in June 2021 the Council approved the payment of 
fees to the  Chair of the PARC and DTC of $10,000 per annum, 
to take effect during the 2022 financial year. Directors holding 
these roles have previously not been remunerated for discharging 
these responsibilities. The additional payment is in recognition 
of the additional workload associated with the role of Chairs of 
these committees. 

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the directors voluntarily 
reduced their Q4 2020 fees by 20%. 
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During the reporting period, the fees paid to non-executive key management personnel was as set out in the various tables below, noting that 
the tables are expressed in both Australian and New Zealand dollars as appropriate:

Australian Dollars

Name Position FY21 FY20

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA1 President 72,000 N/A

Nives Botica Redmayne FCA2 Former Vice President 36,000 62,400

Kate Boorer FCA3 Australian Vice President 36,000 N/A

Murray Harrington FCA4 New Zealand Vice President 36,000 N/A

John Palermo FCA Chair 120,000 89,000

Christopher (Chris) Townend FCA Director 80,000 61,000

Carolyn Colley FCA5 Director 7,397 N/A

Cheryl Hayman Director 60,000 52,000

Dianne Williams Director 60,000 52,000

Ming Long AM FCA Director 65,000 52,000

Penny Stragalinos FCA Director 60,000 52,000

Robert (Rob) McDonald FCA Director 60,000 52,000

Sarah Petersen CA Director 60,000 27,000

Peter Rupp FCA6 Former President 72,000 64,800

Peter Rupp FCA7 Former Vice President N/A 30,000

Peter O’Regan FCA8 Former Vice President 36,000 32,400

Stephen Walker FCA9 Former President N/A 60,000

Murray Jack FCA10 Former Chair N/A 8,333

Anthony (Tony) Harrington AM FCA11 Former Chair N/A 58,876

AU$860,397 AU$753,810

1 Nives Botica Redmayne was appointed as president on 1 January 2021.

2 Nives Botica Redmayne was appointed as Vice President effective 1 January 2020 and her term completed on 31 December 2020.

3 Kate Boorer was appointed effective 1 January 2021.

4 Murray Harrington was appointed effective 1 January 2021.

5 Carolyn Colley appointed as a director on 17 May 2021.

6  Peter Rupp was appointed as President effective 1 January 2020 and his term completed on 31 December 2020.

7 Peter Rupp was appointed as Vice President effective 1 January 2019 and his term completed on 31 December 2019.

8 Peter O’Regan was appointed effective 1 January 2020 and his term completed on 31 December 2020.

9 Stephen Walker was appointed as President effective 1 January 2019 and his term completed on 31 December 2019.

10 Murray Jack was appointed a Director and Chair from December 2014 to 31 July 2019.

11 Tony Harrington was appointed a Director from 1 March 2019 and Chair from 1 August 2019 to 28 February 2020.
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Executives
In respect of senior executives, Chartered Accountants ANZ 
remuneration policy is to benchmark all Executive Team roles 
annually using a variety of publicly available market surveys 
appropriate for the role and region. Additionally, Executive Team 
roles are sized and benchmarked by an external party using the 
IPE (International Position Evaluation System) on a three-yearly 
basis, or on the appointment of a new CEO, or where otherwise 
required by the PARC. Salaries are set within the parameters set by 
benchmarking and the remuneration pool overseen by PARC and 
approved by the Board as part of the annual budgeting process. 

The CEO’s salary comprises a fixed component and an “at risk” 
component which is subject to the Board evaluating and approving 
the CEO’s performance against a range of indicators, including:

• the overall performance of Chartered Accountants ANZ

• the achievement of key performance targets that reflect 
the breadth of Chartered Accountants ANZ’s strategic and 
priority activities 

The Executive Team’s salaries comprise a fixed component only, 
although members may be eligible to earn a short-term incentive 
according to the rules set out in the EPIP. 

During the reporting period, the shared organisation-wide 
KPIs for the Executive Team (representing 60% of EPIP) for the 
reporting year were comprised of four equally weighted measures 
“Member Value”, “People Engagement”, “Financial Sustainability” 
and “Process Improvement & Major Initiatives”. The Executive 
Team’s individual KPIs (representing 40% of EPIP) were related 
directly to the Executive Team member’s specific responsibilities. 
In the reporting year, Executive Team members’ individual KPIs 
were not explicitly aligned to a set of strategic priorities. For FY22 
all individual KPIs will be positioned against the FY21–FY25 
strategic pillars and underlying strategic initiatives to ensure further 
consistency and alignment. 

These individual KPIs will be used as the basis for cascading 
KPIs within functional teams to ensure connection back to the 
organisational strategy.
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Details of the remuneration paid to the Executive Team and the CEO during the reporting period is set out in the table below: 

  Short-term  
employee  
benefits

Post-
employment 

benefits

Total 
FY215

Total 
FY206

Name Position Salary & fees Discretionary Superannuation   

Ainslie van 
Onselen1

Chief Executive 
Officer

575,000 180,000 25,000 780,000 57,692

Simon Grant FCA Group Executive 
Advocacy, 
Professional 
Standing and 
International

375,000 66,880 25,000 466,880 400,000 

Peter Vial FCA Group Executive 
Advocacy, 
Professional 
Standing, 
New Zealand 
and the Pacific

294,232 50,914 8,827 353,972 281,274 

Mark Rice Group Executive, 
Member 
Engagement

300,000 51,220 25,000 376,220 325,000 

Lee Whitney Group Executive, 
Account 
Management 
and Strategic 
Planning, Chief 
Financial Officer 
(interim)

375,000 69,440 25,000 469,440 398,558 

Shona Tarrant Group Executive, 
People & Culture 

300,000 51,220 25,000 376,220 300,000

Simon Hann2 Group Executive, 
Education & 
Learning 

377,000 66,571 25,000 468,571 424,200 

Julia Quinn Group Executive, 
Public Affairs

270,000 45,312 25,000 340,312 295,000 

Mat Yelavich3 Chief Information 
Officer

253,315 – 18,904 272,219 –

Louise Fowler4 Chief Transfor-
mation Officer

52,534 30,820 4,041 87,395 –

1 Ainslie van Onselen was appointed CEO effective 18 May 2020 and her remuneration for FY20 reflects the portion of the year that she was CEO. 

2  Simon Hann was appointed interim CEO for the period 31 March 2020 to 22 May 2020 and his compensation was adjusted accordingly for this period.

3  Mat Yelavich was appointed CIO effective 29 September 2020. His remuneration reflects the portion of the year that he was CIO. 

4  Louise Fowler was appointed CTO effective 3 May 2021. The salary component of her remuneration reflects the portion of the year that she was CTO; the discretionary 
payment component of her remuneration includes a period of employment where Ms Fowler was in an Acting CTO role but not KMP. 

5  There were three former KMP employed during 2021 who are no longer employed by the organisation. Similarly, there were two employed in 2020. The remuneration related to 
the individuals has been excluded from the table above.

6  In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Executive Team voluntarily relinquished their eligibility to receive variable remuneration under the Executive Performance 
Incentive Plan during FY20.

Equity-based remuneration scheme
As Chartered Accountants ANZ is not a listed entity, there was no equity-based remuneration scheme or analogous share price/market risk 
triggered scheme in place during the reporting period.
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Financial Results and Review of Operations  

The financial result before tax for the period was a breakeven position. Revenues and other income decreased by 

$0.4m compared with 2020 and expenses increased by $0.7m. These results were impacted by the ongoing COVID-19 
pandemic as well as a significant change in accounting policy. 

 

Changes in Accounting Policy  

During FY21, the International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued two final 
agenda decisions which impact the treatment of Software as a Service (SaaS) arrangements. 

The Group’s accounting policy has historically been to capitalise all costs related to SaaS arrangements as intangible 
assets in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. In considering the agenda decisions, the Group has revised 
its accounting policy dealing with intangible assets to recognise that the costs of configuring or customising suppliers’ 
application software in a SaaS arrangement are required to be expensed when incurred unless they meet the 
recognition criteria in AASB 138 Intangible Assets.  This change in accounting policy has been applied retrospectively 
as required by accounting standards, resulting in a restatement of the 2020 comparative information.  

The impact of this change in policy on the 2021 surplus after tax was a reduction of $3.0m. The surplus after tax for 
the year ended 30 June 2021 prior to the impact of the change in accounting policy was $4.0m (2020: $3.3m).  Net 
assets as at 30 June 2021 before the impact of the change in accounting policy were $87.9m (2020: $83.4m) and 
reduced to $83.7m (2020: $82.2m) as result of this change. Further details of the change in accounting policy are 
detailed in Note 2(b).  

 

 

Impact of COVID-19 

The ongoing impact of the COVID-19 pandemic during FY21 caused disruption to our ability to offer face-to-face 
services to our members with intermittent office closures and reduced physical Continuing Professional Development 
(CPD) events such as conferences. We continued to support our members by converting our services to online delivery, 
including the ongoing delivery of the CA Program and virtual hosting of many of our events. These changes had a 
negative impact on our revenues, notably for CPD, as virtual events were offered to members at discounted price 
points. In addition to maintaining important member services, this also allowed us to carefully manage our costs and to 
employ our people in alternate activities meaning that we did not request or require any government financial 
assistance in any of our operating jurisdictions. 

  

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income   

Surplus after tax before change in accounting policy 3,996 3,305 

Impact of change in accounting policy (3,043) (1,122) 

Surplus after tax as presented 953 2,183 
 

Consolidated statement of financial position   

Net assets before change in accounting policy 87,855 83,358 

Impact of change in accounting policy (4,165) (1,122) 

Net assets as presented 83,690 82,236 

FINANCIAL COMMENTARY 
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Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income  
CA ANZ generated a breakeven result before tax compared with a $1.1m surplus in 2020. Total revenue and other 
income decreased by 0.3% to $140.6m, while expenditure increased by 0.5% to $140.6m. The other 
comprehensive income of $0.5m includes revaluation of freehold property of $0.6m (after tax), offset by exchange 
difference on translation of foreign operations of $0.1m.  In 2020 the other comprehensive deficit of $5.9m included a  
freehold property devaluation of $9.1m with offsetting tax impact of $2.7m.   

 

Revenue and Expenditure   
The decrease in revenue and other income of $0.4m compared with 2020 is attributable to:  

• an increase in membership revenue of $0.8m reflecting net member growth of 2.3% offset by increases in 
membership fee concessions and financial hardship allowances offered to members due to the COVID-19 
environment 

• an increase in CA program revenues of $0.4m, mainly due to increase in enrolments for the new CA Program and 
CA Foundations modules partly offset by a reduction in CA Masterclass revenue due partly to the shift to online 
delivery at lower price points 

• a reduction in other member services revenue of $0.8m primarily due to the continued impact of COVID-19 limiting 
face-to-face CPD events and associated commercial revenue streams. Also, a reduction in migration assessment 
revenue driven by reductions in international students travelling to Australia due to COVID-19 restrictions. These 
revenue decreases were largely offset by increasing practice review income due to an increased volume of reviews 
in 2021. 

• a decrease in other income of $0.8m primarily due to a reduction in interest revenue attributable to lower interest 
rates on term deposits. 

 

The slight increase in expenditure of $0.7m	compared	with 2020	is attributable to:	 

• an increase in employee costs of $2.5m	due mainly to the inclusion of a one-time recognition payment to our 
people in the absence of a remuneration review in 2020 as well as the reinstatement of Executive Performance 
Incentive payments which had been voluntarily waived by the Executive team in FY20 

• an increase	of $4.4m	in	technology costs due to the focus on digital transformation and the impact of the change in 
accounting policy for Software as a Service (SaaS)  

• an increase in	marketing and advertising of $2.2m due to the extension of the Difference Makers brand campaign 
to promote the value of employing a Chartered Accountant, the launch of the Hello Future campaign to support the 
new CA program and costs associated with the launch of the Capability+ capability development tool. 

 

offset by:  

• a decrease in member services and education related costs of $4.5m primarily related to reductions in venue hire 
as a result of a move to online delivery due to COVID-19, offset by an increase in presenter fees and webcasting 
costs 

• a decrease in travel and accommodation services of $2.1m primarily related to COVID-19 travel restrictions for 
most of the 2021 year compared with only the last quarter of 2020 

• a decrease in depreciation and amortisation of $0.7m due primarily to software assets reaching their end of life, 
with replacement costs increasingly treated as a technology operating expense due to the change in accounting 
policy for Software as a Service, and consistent with our digital transformation strategy to leverage cloud-based 
platforms 

• a decrease in expected credit loss of $1.4m maintaining the allowance for expected levels of credit loss at current 
levels whereas a significant increase was recognised in FY20 due to the shift to a COVID-19 landscape. 

FINANCIAL COMMENTARY (continued) 
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Statement of Financial Position 

Net	assets of $83.7m increased by $1.4m over 2020 ($82.2m). 

 

Assets 

• Cash and cash equivalents decreased from $84.3m to $78.1m, driven mostly by the funding of strategic initiatives, 
primarily the development of the new CA Program. 

• The decrease in property, plant and equipment of $1.2m was driven by depreciation of $2.1m offset by the 
revaluation of the Erskine Street property of $0.8m to maintain current value at $91m and minor additions of 
$0.1m. 

• Right-of-use assets	decreased by $3.0m primarily related to office space with	$3.1m of	depreciation on existing 

office and other leases offset	by minor modifications.	 

• Intangible assets increased by $7.4m largely	driven by	development of	the	new CA Program,	offset by continued 
amortisation of $1.0m. 

• Trade and other	receivables	increased by	$4.0m due to timing of invoicing of module commencement under the 
new CA Program and to changes in the process of bulk billing for membership subscriptions compared with 2020.  

• Non-current prepayments of $1.1m relate to SaaS platform development associated with the new CA Program 

that is being recognised over the life of the software contract. 	 

 

Liabilities 

• Contract liability - fees in advance	of $92.1m decreased by $0.9m.  Driving this was a decrease in fees in advance 
for CA program fees due to changes in the enrolment and fee profile following introduction of the new CA Program, 
offset by an increase in members’ application fees. 

• Trade	and other payables	increased by $2.9m reflecting increased ramp-up of spend on strategic initiatives 
including the new CA Program and technology projects, offset by the timing of the last pay period in June.  

• Provisions increased by $1.7m primarily due to the inclusion of one-off bonuses to recognise elevated contributions 
during COVID-19 impacted circumstances, the reinstatement of executive performance incentives and increases to 
long service leave. 

 

Cash Flow and Liquidity  

At balance date cash and cash equivalents were $78.1m. Total current assets exceeded total current liabilities by 

$1.8m	as at balance date.			

 

 

FINANCIAL COMMENTARY (continued) 
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This Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.  

Refer Note 2 for explanations on the restatement of the FY20 Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income. 

 

 
 

Notes 
2021 

$'000 

Restated 
2020 

$'000 

Member subscriptions and fees 3 81,634 80,851 

CA Programs revenue 3 41,319 40,936 

Other member services revenue 3 15,855 16,617 

Other revenue 3 293 306 

Other income 4(a) 1,502 2,323 

Total revenue and other income  140,603 141,033 

Employee benefits and staff related costs  4(b) (72,960) (70,412) 

Member services and education related costs 4(c) (20,306) (24,759) 

Technology costs (excluding depreciation and amortisation) 4(d)  (16,967) (12,596) 

Depreciation and amortisation  4(e) (6,267) (6,931) 

Finance costs 4(f) (1,109) (1,292) 

Travel and accommodation  (777) (2,863) 

Rental and outgoings  (1,842) (1,949) 

Marketing and advertising  (5,740) (3,573) 

Professional accountancy bodies fees 4(g) (2,231) (2,406) 

Office related expenses  (1,018) (1,452) 

Impairment of intangibles and work-in-progress 10 (569) (15) 

Consultants  (811) (768) 

Expected credit gain/(loss)  51 (1,336) 

Other expenses 4(h) (10,063) (9,538) 

Total expenses   (140,609) (139,890) 

(Deficit)/surplus before tax  (6) 1,143 

Tax benefit  5(a)(b) 959 1,040 

Surplus after tax  953 2,183 

Other comprehensive income 

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss    

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  (66) 469 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss    

Fair value increment/(decrement) of freehold property 8 810 (9,086) 

Tax (expense)/benefit relating to this item  5(c) (243) 2,726 

Total other comprehensive income/(expense)  501 (5,891) 

Total comprehensive surplus/(deficit) for the year, net of tax       1,454 (3,708) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
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This Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Refer Note 2 for explanations on the restatement of the FY20 Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.  

 
 

 
Notes 

2021 
$’000 

Restated 
2020 

$’000 

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 6 78,097 84,292 

Trade and other receivables 7 23,830 19,819 

Prepayments  6,055 6,326 

Total current assets  107,982 110,437 

Non-current assets    

Prepayments  1,110 - 

Property, plant and equipment   8 94,479 95,703 

Right-of-use asset 9 15,158 18,197 

Intangible assets  10 11,170 3,745 

Total non-current assets  121,917 117,645 

Total assets  229,899 228,082 

Current liabilities    

Contract liability - fees in advance 11 75,634 77,581 

Trade and other payables 12 20,383 17,461 

Provisions 13 7,125 5,677 

Lease liabilities 9 3,027 2,693 

Total current liabilities  106,169 103,412 

Non-current liabilities    

Lease liabilities 9 15,357 18,368 

Contract liability - fees in advance 11 16,506 15,461 

Provisions 13 2,180 1,892 

Net deferred tax liability 5(d) 5,997 6,713 

Total non-current liabilities  40,040 42,434 

Total liabilities  146,209 145,846 

Net assets  83,690 82,236 

Members’ funds    

Amalgamation reserve 24(b) 6,078 6,078 

Foreign currency translation reserve  24(b) (143) (77) 

Revaluation reserve 24(b) 39,816 39,249 

Accumulated surpluses 24(b) 37,939 36,986 

Total members’ funds  83,690 82,236 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
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Amalgamation 

reserve 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve 

Revaluation 
reserve 

Restated 
Accumulated  

surpluses  Total 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

At 1 July 2020 6,078 (77) 39,249 36,986 82,236 
      

Surplus after tax for the year - - - 953 953 

Other comprehensive income - (66) 567 - 501 

Total comprehensive 
surplus/(deficit) - (66) 567 953 1,454 

      

At 30 June 2021 6,078 (143) 39,816 37,939 83,690 
 

At 1 July 2019 6,078 (546) 45,609 34,803 85,944 

Surplus after tax for the year  - - - 2,183 2,183 

Other comprehensive income - 469 (6,360) - (5,891) 

Total comprehensive 
surplus/(deficit) - 469 (6,360) 2,183 (3,708) 

      

At 30 June 2020 6,078 (77) 39,249 36,986 82,236 

This Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Refer Note 2 for explanations on the restatement of FY20 Accumulated Surpluses. 

 

  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
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This Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

Refer Note 2 for explanations on the restatement of FY20 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. 

  

 
 

Notes 
2021 

$’000 

Restated 
2020 

$’000 
    

Cash flows from operating activities    

Receipts from members and customers  149,105 155,862 

Payments to suppliers and employees  (135,815) (136,142) 

Net payment of GST  (6,786) (5,227) 

Interest on leases 9 (1,109) (1,292) 

Net cash flows from operating activities 6 5,395 13,201 

Cash flows from investing activities    

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  - 5 

Payments for intangible assets and capital work-in-progress 10 (9,020) (2,847) 

Payments for property, plant and equipment  8 (122) (629) 

Interest received  248 924 

Net cash flows used in investing activities  (8,894) (2,547) 

Cash flows from financing activities    

Repayment of lease liabilities  9 (2,722) (2,536) 

Net cash flows used in financing activities  (2,722) (2,536) 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents   (6,221) 8,118 

Effects of exchange rate movement on cash and cash equivalents  26 (365) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  84,292 76,539 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 6 78,097 84,292 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
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1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 

 

The consolidated financial statements of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand and its subsidiaries 
(together the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2021 were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of 
Directors on 17 September 2021.  

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand is an Australian registered body corporate that is governed by its 
Supplemental Royal Charter and By-Laws and is domiciled in Australia. Members of Chartered Accountants Australia 
and New Zealand are not liable for the debts and liabilities of the Group.  

 

About Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (“parent”) 

The registered office of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand is: 
33 Erskine Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand is a not-for-profit entity. Its principal activities during the year 
were: 

• to act as a membership body that represents and advocates for members globally in the legislative, regulatory and 
public policy arena; 

• to serve as a registered higher education provider that sets entry requirements to the profession through delivering 
the CA Program; 

• to provide post admission education and related continuing professional development services to members and 
the broader business community including through delivering member events and conferences; 

• to act as a conduct regulator in Australia and the regulator of the profession in New Zealand by setting a code of 
ethics and regulations for the standard of behaviour of the profession to maintain the pre-eminence of the 
CA designation alongside our membership of international bodies including the International Federation of 
Accountants, the Global Accounting Alliance and Chartered Accountants Worldwide; and 

• the provision of member services.  

 

 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

(a) Basis of preparation  

This General Purpose Financial Report is prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards (AAS) and 
other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) to meet the needs of the 
reporting requirements under the By-Laws. It has been prepared based on historical cost, except for freehold 
property, which has been measured at fair value (see Note 8). 

Compliance with the Australian Accounting Standards may not result in compliance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS), as the AAS include requirements and options available to not-for-profit organisations 
that are inconsistent with IFRS.  

Unless otherwise stated, the report is presented in Australian dollars (AUD) and all values are rounded to the nearest 
thousand dollars ($’000). 

Where required, comparative figures have been adjusted to be consistent with the current year presentation.  

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the year ended 30 June 2021 
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The consolidated Financial Report refers to the parent and its subsidiaries as if they formed a single entity. It is made 
up of: 

• the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

• the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

• the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

• the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

• Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. 

 

A parent entity is an entity that controls one or more entities (subsidiaries). An investor controls another entity, and 
therefore is a parent entity, where the investor is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with 
the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power of the investee. 

Inter-entity transactions and balances between the parent and subsidiaries are eliminated on consolidation. See   
Note 17 for details of subsidiaries.  

 

(b) Statement of compliance  

This consolidated Financial Report complies with Australian Accounting Standards.  

Changes in accounting policies and interpretations 

The principal accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year other than the 
change in accounting policy noted below.    

There are no new or amended Australian Accounting Standards and AASB interpretations expected to have any 
significant impact on the Group’s financial reporting that are issued and not yet applicable. 

Change in accounting policy 

The International Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) has issued two final agenda 
decisions which impact Software as a Service (SaaS) arrangements: 

• Customer’s right to receive access to the supplier’s software hosted on the cloud (March 2019) – this decision 
considers whether a customer receives a software asset at the contract commencement date or a service over the 
contract term.  

• Configuration or customisation costs in a cloud computing arrangement (April 2021) – this decision discusses 
whether configuration or customisation expenditure relating to SaaS arrangements can be recognised as an 
intangible asset and if not, over what time period the expenditure is expensed. 

The Group’s accounting policy has historically been to capitalise all costs related to SaaS arrangements as intangible 
assets in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. In considering the agenda decisions, the Group has revised 
its accounting policy dealing with intangible assets to recognise that the costs of configuring or customising suppliers’ 
application software in a Software as a Service arrangement are required to be expensed when incurred in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, unless they meet the recognition criteria 
in AASB 138 Intangible Assets. 

The Group has reviewed its computer software assets to ensure that costs capitalised in both the 2020 and 2021 
financial years are in line with AASB 138 Intangible Assets and the updated accounting policy, which must be applied 
retrospectively. This has resulted in a reclassification of certain intangible assets to either a prepaid asset in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and/or recognition as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of 
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income, impacting both the current and prior period presented.  There is no 
impact on the opening balances at 1 July 2019.  

  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
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The following table summarises the impact, net of tax, of this change in accounting policy. 

 

  

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income   

Surplus after tax before change in accounting policy 3,996 3,305 

Impact of change in accounting policy:   

Technology costs (3,043) (1,122) 

Surplus after tax as presented 953 2,183 
   

Consolidated statement of financial position   

Net assets before change in accounting policy 87,855 83,358 

Impact of change in accounting policy:   

Prepayments – current 372 - 

Prepayments – non-current 1,110 - 

Intangible assets (5,647) (1,122) 

Net assets as presented 83,690 82,236 
   

Accumulated surpluses at 1 July 36,986 34,803 

Surplus after tax before change in accounting policy 3,996 3,305 

Impact of change in accounting policy:   

Technology costs (3,043) (1,122) 

Accumulated surpluses as presented 37,939 36,986 
   

Consolidated statement of cash flows   

Payments to suppliers and employees before change in accounting policy (129,984) (135,020) 

Impact of change in accounting policy (5,831) (1,122) 

Payments to suppliers and employees as presented (135,815) (136,142) 
   

Payments for Intangible assets and capital work-in-progress before change in 
accounting policy 

(14,851) (3,969) 

Impact of change in accounting policy 5,831 1,122 

Payments for Intangible assets and capital work-in-progress as presented (9,020) (2,847) 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
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Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions  

In applying the Group’s accounting policies, management continually evaluates judgments, estimates and assumptions 
based on experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that may have an impact on the Group.  

All judgements, estimates and assumptions made are believed to be reasonable based on the most current set of 
circumstances available to management. Actual results may differ under different conditions from when the 
judgments, estimates and assumptions were made. Significant judgments, estimates and assumptions, including the 
impacts of COVID-19 on expected credit loss, made by management in the preparation of this financial report are 
described in the various notes:  

• Contract liability - fees received in advance – Notes 3 and 11  

• Capitalisation and recognition of intangibles – Notes 2 and 10 

• Depreciation and amortisation – Notes 4, 8, 9 and 10  

• Asset revaluations – Note 8 

• Asset impairments – Notes 7, 8, 9 and 10 

• Employee obligations – Note 13 

• Provisions – Notes 7 and 13 

• Leases – Note 9 

Other accounting policies are described in the notes. 

 

  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 



PART ll - 13  Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand Annual Report 2021 
 

 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“AASB 15”) establishes a comprehensive five-step framework for 
recognising revenue. AASB 15 applies to all revenue arising from contracts with customers, unless those contracts are 
in the scope of other standards. AASB 1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities simplifies the income recognition 
requirements that apply to not-for-profit entities, in conjunction with AASB 15. This does not materially impact the 
presentation in the Group’s financial statements. 

How we recognise revenue for these activities depends on when the performance obligation is satisfied: 

• Over a period of time – if the performance obligation is satisfied over a period of time, revenue will be recognised 
by being spread over this period. 

• At a point in time – if the performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time, for example, events are delivered, or 
goods are transferred to customers, revenue is recognised at this point.  

 

Disaggregation of Revenue 

 

Accounting Policies 

(I) Member subscriptions & fees 

The Group’s annual membership subscription year is 1 July to 30 June. Revenue is recognised over the duration of the 
term in line with the delivery of the performance obligations for this revenue stream.  

Fee receipts for periods beyond the current financial year are shown (excluding any applicable taxes) in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, under the heading of Current liabilities as Contract liabilities - fees in 
advance.  

Revenue for late and readmission fees are recognised at a point in time when services are performed. 

  

 

Member 
subscriptions 

& fees 
CA Program 

revenues 

Other member 
services 
revenue 

Other  
revenue Total 

2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Revenue from contracts with customers 81,634 41,319 15,855 293 139,101 

Total  81,634 41,319 15,855 293 139,101 

Timing of revenue recognition         

Point in time 436 -  11,611 293 12,340 

Over time 81,198 41,319 4,244 - 126,761 

Total 81,634 41,319 15,855 293 139,101 

      

2020      

Revenue from contracts with customers 80,851 40,936 16,617 306 138,710 

Total  80,851 40,936 16,617 306 138,710 

Timing of revenue recognition          

Point in time 589 -  12,534 306 13,429 

Over time 80,262 40,936 4,083 - 125,281 

Total 80,851 40,936 16,617 306 138,710 

3. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS 
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Application fees 

The Group receives non-refundable fees from applicants wishing to obtain full membership which is deferred and 
recognised over the average duration of membership. The application fee, as currently defined, is not considered a 
distinct service but rather it is also considered to be an advance payment for future services with the primary 
performance obligation being the licence to use the professional designation to practice. The Group has determined 
the average duration of membership to be 25 years based on the profile of members who have exited over the past 
few years. 

The Group recognises the amortisation of the previously deferred revenue during the period. 

Application fees beyond the current financial year are shown (excluding any applicable taxes) in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position, under the headings of Current liabilities and Non-current liabilities as Contract 
liabilities - fees in advance.  

 

(II) CA Program revenues 

The group receives fees for enrolments in CA Program modules throughout the year. The CA Program is the 
professional qualification provisional members are required to complete (along with mentored practical experience) to 
make them eligible to apply to become a full member. Modules are offered over multiple terms and CA Program 
revenue is recognised over the duration of the terms in line with the delivery of the performance obligations for this 
revenue stream.  

CA Study Masterclass is an additional study program to assist candidates who are completing the CA Program. 
Revenue is recognised over time in line with the delivery of the performance obligations for this revenue stream.  

CA Foundations provides potential CA Program candidates the opportunity to undertake study in one or more of the 
prerequisite competency areas to be eligible to enrol in the CA Program. Revenue is recognised over time in line with 
the delivery of the performance obligations for this revenue stream. 

CA Program revenues beyond the current financial year are shown (excluding any applicable taxes) in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position, under the headings of Current liabilities as Contract liabilities - fees in advance. 

 

(III) Other revenue generating activities 

The Group undertakes certain activities which are accounted for when the performance obligation is satisfied, 
including: 

Activity Revenue recognised 

Training and development courses Over time and Point in time 

Practice Review program Over time 

Acuity magazine Point in time 

Conferences  Point in time 

Student activities  Over time 

Other Admissions programs Over time 
 

(IV) Sale of goods 

The Group recognises revenue from the sale of goods when physical control of the goods passes to the purchaser 
pursuant to an enforceable sales contract at the point in time the performance obligation has been satisfied.  

 

(V) Member benefits revenue  

The Group receives revenue from member-generated activity through its member offers program. This revenue is 
recognised in line with the delivery of the performance obligations of this service. 

3. REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (continued) 
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(I) Income 

 

(II) Expenses 

 

  

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

(a) Other income   

Rent 1,254 1,404 

Interest  248 919 

Total  1,502 2,323 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

(b) Employee benefits and staff-related costs   

Salaries, wages and on-costs 69,972 67,944 

Director fees 860 748 

Staff training 560 428 

Other staff related costs 1,568 1,292 

Total  72,960 70,412 
   

(c) Member services and education-related costs   

Venue hire and catering 2,842 7,153 

Admission Programs authors, presenters and facilitator costs 6,829 5,239 

Examinations, printing & materials costs 4,799 4,920 

Acuity production and distribution costs 2,503 2,650 

Lifelong Learning authors, presenters and facilitator costs 1,215 1,117 

Practice Review reviewer costs 799 753 

Professional Conduct costs 840 680 

Other costs 479 2,247 

Total  20,306 24,759 

(d) Technology costs (excluding depreciation and amortisation) 
 

 

Technology maintenance and software agreement costs 12,064 7,951 

Communication costs 865 974 

Other technology costs 4,038 3,671 

Total  16,967 12,596 

4. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE ITEMS 4. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE ITEMS  
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(f) Finance costs   

Interest on lease liability 1,109 1,292 

Total  1,109 1,292 

 

(III) Interest income  

Interest income on deposits is recognised on an accruals basis. 

 

  

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

(e) Depreciation and amortisation   

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 2,155 2,331 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 3,090 3,159 

Amortisation of software  1,022 1,441 

Total  6,267 6,931 

(g) Professional Accountancy Bodies fees   

International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) 1,237 1,344 

Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board (APESB)  447 513 

Other 547 549 

Total  2,231 2,406 

(h) Other expenses   

Professional Standards Council fee 1,653 1,605 

Merchant fees 1,675 1,193 

Legal fees 1,694 1,737 

Accounting and Audit Fees 630 630 

Subscriptions, Insurance, Copyrights & Research 2,244 2,173 

Other1 2,167 2,200 

Total  10,063 9,538 

1 Includes external services and foreign currency gains/losses.   

4. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE ITEMS (continued) 
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(IV) Expenses 

Unless otherwise identified, expenses are brought to account when goods or services have been received on an 
accruals basis. Policies relating to major categories of expenditure are: 

• Employment benefit expenses 

See Note 13 for employee benefit expenses. 

• Depreciation 

See Notes 8 & 9 for depreciation expenses. 

• Amortisation  

See Note 10 for amortisation expenses. 

• Impairment  

See Notes 7, 8, 9 & 10 for impairment expenses. 

 

 

5. INCOME TAX 

 

 

  

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

(a) Income tax expense/(benefit)   

The major components of income tax are:   
   

Current income tax  (1,280) (744) 

Deferred tax 341 545 

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of prior years (20) (841) 

Aggregate income tax benefit (959) (1,040) 
   

(b) Numerical reconciliation between tax expense/(benefit) recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income and 
prima facie income tax 

 

 

 

 

(Deficit)/surplus before tax (6) 1,143 
   

Prima facie tax (benefit)/expense at the rate of 30% (2020: 30%) (2) 343 

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years (20) (841) 

Restatement in respect of Deferred taxes (change in Mutuality %) 82 152 

Entertainment, non-deductible donations, other permanent differences 16 19 

Effect of tax rate in foreign jurisdiction 34 13 

Effect of mutual activities (adjusted for specifically assessable/deductible items) (1,415) (2,033) 

Timing differences for NZ Branch not recognised  346 1,307 

Aggregate income tax benefit (959) (1,040) 

4. OTHER INCOME AND EXPENSE ITEMS (continued)  
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Accounting Policies 

Income tax 

The Group prepares its income tax returns using the principle of mutuality to the revenue and expenses and the 
relevant tax jurisdiction. The principle of mutuality is a common law principle based on the premise that individuals 
cannot profit from themselves.  

As such: 

• receipts from members are deemed to be mutual income and not subject to income tax 

• expenses connected with mutual activities are therefore not deductible for taxation purposes.  

All other receipts and payments are classified in accordance with taxation legislation in the relevant tax jurisdiction. 

Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has 
become probable that future taxable profits will allow the deferred tax asset to be covered.  

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set 
off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities related to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on the same taxable entity. As at 30 June 2021 the Group has 
recognised a net deferred tax liability of $5,997,000 (2020: $6,713,000). 

  

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

(c) Income tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income   

Deferred tax (expense)/benefit arising from fair value measurement of freehold 
property (243) 2,726 
   

(d) Movement in deferred tax (liabilities)/assets relate to the following:   

Assets   

Deferred tax on losses 10,561 9,261 

Provisions and other liabilities 309 666 

Lease liabilities 150 244 

Intangible assets 29 61 

Property, plant and equipment 93 40 

Other assets 43 40 

 11,185 10,312 

Liabilities   

Revaluation of freehold property to fair value (17,064) (16,821) 

Right of use assets (118) (204) 

Net deferred tax liabilities (5,997) (6,713) 
   

Reconciliation of deferred tax liabilities (net)   

Carrying amount at start of financial year (6,713) (10,479) 

Tax benefit during the period recognised in profit and loss 959 1,040 

Tax (expense)/benefit during the period recognised in other comprehensive income (243) 2,726 

Carrying amount at end of financial year (5,997) (6,713) 

5. INCOME TAX (continued) 
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At balance date, unrecognised additional accumulated revenue tax losses of $6,718,308 (2020: $6,625,038) existed 
for unused tax losses and unused tax credits generated by the New Zealand operations that are not available for 
offset against the Australian operations. 

 

 

6. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows include cash at bank and cash in hand, stated at their nominal value. 

 

Reconciliation of surplus after tax to cash flows from operating activities 

 

  

Notes 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Cash at bank and on hand  78,097 84,292 

Surplus after tax  953 2,183 
    

Adjustments:    

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  8 2,155 2,331 

Amortisation of intangible assets 10 1,022 1,441 

Impairment of intangibles and capital work-in-progress  10 569 15 

Depreciation of right-of-use asset 9 3,090 3,159 

Interest receivable  (248) (924) 

Income tax 5 (959) (1,040) 

Net foreign currency revaluation  (93) 853 

  5,536 5, 835 
    

Changes in working capital:    

(Increase) in net receivables and prepayments  7 (4,850) (5,197) 

Increase in trade and other payables  12 2,922 299 

Increase in provisions 13 1,736 1,418 

(Decrease)/increase in fees in advance 11 (902) 8,663 

  (1,094) 5,183 

Net cash flows from operating activities  5,395 13,201 

5. INCOME TAX (continued) 
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2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Current   

Trade receivables  23,899 21,632 

Allowance for expected credit loss (2,131) (2,182) 

 21,768 19,450 

Non-trade receivables   

Other receivables 2,062 369 

Total trade and other receivables 23,830 19,819 

The loss allowance as at 30 June 2021 and 30 June 2020 was determined as follows for both trade receivables and 
contract assets (in $’000): 

 

 

Accounting Policies 

Trade receivables are recognised and carried at the original invoice amount less an allowance for expected credit loss 
(‘ECL’). 

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. The Group does not track changes 
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has 
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors 
specific to the debtors and the economic environment. 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-day terms. A provision for expected credit loss of 
$2,131,000 (2020: $2,182,000) has been raised to cover expected uncollectible debtors. The Group does not hold any 
collateral over these balances. The provision has been calculated in line with AASB 9 Financial Instruments. 

The Group has no receivables with renegotiated credit terms that would have been past due under the original terms 
and conditions. 

Current non-trade receivables are generally non-interest bearing and are normally payable at call. There are no  
non-trade receivables that are past due at the reporting date.  

The Group has receivables relating to the 2022 annual membership subscription renewal, where members have 
chosen a quarterly instalment payment option. 

  

30 June 2021 

Current 
(not past 

due) 

30 to 90 
days past 

due 

91 to 180 
days past 

due 

181 to  
270 days  
past due 

271 to 365 
days past 

due 

More than 
365 days 
past due Total 

Expected loss rate - 1.2% 25.2% 50.6% 68.6% 98.3%  

Gross carrying amount – 
trade receivables 19,546 1,086 1,271 168 283 1,545 23,899 

Loss allowance - (13) (320) (85) (194) (1,519) (2,131) 
    (    

30 June 2020        

Expected loss rate 0.1% 3.9% 15.6% 26.6% 55.2% 83.6%  

Gross carrying amount – 
trade receivables 16,738 1,192 544 412 1,303 1,443 21,632 

Loss allowance (14) (47) (85) (110) (719) (1,207) (2,182) 

7. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
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Freehold 
property  
– at fair 

value 

Furniture 
and 

equipment  
– at cost 

Computer 
equipment  

– at cost 

Fixture and 
fittings on 

freehold 
premises  
– at cost 

Fixture and 
fittings on 
leasehold 
premises  
– at cost 

Motor 
vehicles 

– at cost Total 

Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cost or valuation        

At 1 July 2020 91,000 3,575 2,738 9,648 9,203 144 116,308 

Additions - 13 95 14 - - 122 

Net foreign currency 
revaluation 

 

- (1) - - - - (1) 

At 30 June 2021 91,000 3,587 2,833 9,662 9,203 144 116,429 
        

Depreciation and impairment     

At 1 July 2020 - (3,017) (2,321) (9,319) (5,826) (122) (20,605) 

Depreciation charge  (810) (185) (155) (155) (835) (15) (2,155) 

Revaluation  810 - - - - - 810 

At 30 June 2021 - (3,202) (2,476) (9,474) (6,661) (137) (21,950) 

        

Net book value as  
at 30 June 2021 91,000 385 357 188 2,542 7 94,479 
 

  

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
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Accounting Policies 

Determining depreciation 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment, other than land which is not depreciated, is calculated on a straight-
line basis.  

The depreciation rates applied considers an asset’s remaining useful life and estimated residual value.  

The cost of fixtures and fittings on leasehold premises is amortised over their estimated useful lives, or the remainder 
of the lease term, whichever is shorter. 

Useful lives are: 

Freehold property: 

       Building      50 years 

       Building plant     25 years 

Furniture      10 years 

Office equipment     5 years 

Computer equipment     3 years 

Fixtures and fittings on freehold premises     10 years 

Fixtures and fittings on leasehold premises  Lease term 

Motor vehicles      6 years 

 

 
Freehold 
property  
– at fair 

value 

Furniture 
and 

equipment  
– at cost 

Computer 
equipment  

– at cost 

Fixture and 
fittings on 

freehold 
premises  
– at cost 

Fixture and 
fittings on 
leasehold 
premises  
– at cost 

Motor 
vehicles 

– at cost Total 

Group $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Cost or valuation        

At 1 July 2019 100,900 3,892 2,391 9,537 9,232 145 126,097 

Additions - 137 348 144 - - 629 

Disposals (9) (453) - (31) - - (493) 

Revaluation decrement (9,891) - - - - - (9,891) 

Net foreign currency 
revaluation - (1) (1) (2) (29) (1) (34) 

At 30 June 2020 91,000 3,575 2,738 9,648 9,203 144 116,308 
        

Depreciation and impairment      

At 1 July 2019 - (3,303) (2,069) (9,145) (4,940) (107) (19,564) 

Depreciation charge  (809) (166) (252) (203) (886) (15) (2,331) 

Disposals 4 452 - 29 - - 485 

Revaluation 805 - - - - - 805 

At 30 June 2020 - (3,017) (2,321) (9,319) (5,826) (122) (20,605) 

        

Net book value as  
at 30 June 2020 91,000 558 417 329 3,377 22 95,703 

8. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 



PART ll - 23  Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand Annual Report 2021 
 

 

Each financial year, the Group reviews our assets’ residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods, and adjusts 
them if appropriate. There have been no adjustments made in the current year. 

 

(I) Impairment 

We review the carrying values of plant and equipment for impairment when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Impairment losses are recognised as expenditure in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income.  

Freehold property is measured at revalued amounts. As such, impairment losses on freehold property are treated as a 
revaluation decrement, although only up to the amount of existing revaluation surpluses.  

 

(II) Revaluations 

Following initial recognition at cost, freehold property is carried at fair value.  

To ensure the carrying amount represents fair value, we assess the carrying value of freehold property assets 
annually. External valuations are conducted once every three years unless it is evident there has been a sufficiently 
significant movement on Sydney CBD property values which was the case in 2020. Fair value is determined by the 
Directors based on the most recent external valuation and current market conditions and estimates.   

Generally, revaluation increments are credited to the revaluation reserve included in the Members’ funds section of the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. The exception is where it reverses a revaluation decrement for the same 
asset that was previously recognised in profit or loss. In this case, the increase will be recognised in profit or loss. 

Conversely, devaluation decrements are recognised in profit or loss, except where they offset a previous revaluation 
increment for the same asset. In these cases, a decrement is debited directly to the property revaluation reserve, up to 
the credit balance in the revaluation reserve for that asset. 

 

Valuation techniques, inputs and processes 

This table shows the valuation technique and inputs used to measure the freehold property’s fair value: 

Valuation technique Key inputs 

Market approach: • Comparable property sale values, 

Freehold property is valued based on: • net lettable floor space, 

• rental income potential,  • market rentals, 

• market capitalisation rates, and • market capitalisation rates, and 

• comparable property sales transactions. • allowance for location, topography, condition and size. 
 

The highest and best use of the freehold property is considered to be its current use. 

COVID-19 has caused uncertainty in the commercial property market, impacting income and investment performance. 
The valuation of the freehold property has been based upon an external desktop valuation performed, taking into 
account current market conditions. 

The property has been pledged as security for the Group’s banking facilities. 
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Fair value hierarchy  

The entire freehold property amount is categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy. That is because significant 
adjustments need to be made to the observable data of comparable properties and require the Directors to exercise 
judgment.  

Level 3 inputs are defined as unobservable inputs for an asset or liability.   

 

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements  

There were no transfers between the different levels of the fair value hierarchy during the current or previous financial 
year.  

 

Sensitivity analysis on unobservable inputs   

Unobservable inputs  
Sensitivity of fair value measurement  
to changes in unobservable inputs 

Allowances for location, topography, condition, and size 
as determined by the Directors. Variations in the market 
capitalisation rates will create a higher or lower fair value 
measurement.  

Significant increases/(decreases) in these adjustments 
would result in a higher/(lower) fair value of freehold 
property. 

 

(III) Disposal 

An item of property, plant and equipment will be written off when: 

• no further future economic benefits are expected from its use, or  

• it is disposed of. 

Any gain or loss that arises from the disposal of an asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income in the year the asset is disposed of. During the year a periodic review of fully depreciated 
assets was undertaken to determine if there was any further future economic benefit expected from their use, with 
those assets that are fully depreciated and no longer in use being written off. 
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Reconciliation of right-of-use assets 

The Group leases several assets including office space and office equipment. 

2020    

At 1 July 2019 20,827 330 21,157 

Depreciation (3,016) (143) (3,159) 

Additions 357 - 357 

Effects on foreign currency (157) (1) (158) 

30 June 2020 18,011 186 18,197 

 

  

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

a) Right-of-use asset   

Non-current   

Right-of-use assets 15,158 18,197 

    

 
Office  
Space 

Office 
 Equipment 

 

Total 

2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 July 2020 18,011 186 18,197 

Depreciation (3,020) (70) (3,090) 

Modifications 81 - 81 

Effects on foreign currency (30) - (30) 

30 June 2021 15,042 116 15,158 
    

   

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

b) Lease liabilities   

Current   

Lease liabilities 3,027 2,693 

Non-current   

Lease liabilities 15,357 18,368 

Total 18,384 21,061 

9. LEASES 
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Reconciliation of lease liabilities 

 

Accounting Policies  

A lease is a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. 

The tenor of a lease includes any renewal period where the lessee is reasonably certain that they will exercise the 
option to renew. The Group has reviewed all its leases and included any extensions where the Group assessed it is 
reasonably certain the lease agreement will be renewed. 

The assessment of the lease term is revised if there is a change in the non-cancellable lease period. 

At the commencement date of the lease, the lease liability is initially recognised for the present value of non-
cancellable lease payments discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. 

The lease payment used in the calculation of the lease liabilities should include variable payments when they relate to 
an index or rate. Where leases contain variable lease payments based on an index or rate at a future point in time, the 
Group has used the incremental uplift contained in the lease or the respective Reserve Bank forward-looking CPI 
target for CPI-related increases. In the absence of any floor or cap clauses in the lease agreements, the Group 
measures the rent for the year under market review at an amount equal to the rent of the year preceding the market 
review increased by a fixed rate.  

  

 
Office  
Space 

 Office 
 Equipment Total 

2021 $’000 $’000 $’000 

At 1 July 2020 20,807 254 21,061 
    

Interest expense 1,101 8 1,109 

Lease payments (3,751) (80) (3,831) 

Modifications 81 - 81 

Net movement during year (2,569) (72) (2,641) 

Effects on foreign currency  (36) - (36) 

30 June 2021 18,202 182 18,384 
    

2020    

At 1 July 2019 23,018 412 23,430 
    

Interest expense 1,278 14 1,292 

Lease payments (3,659) (169) (3,828) 

Additions 357 - 357 

Net movement during year (2,024) (155) (2,179) 

Effects on foreign currency  (187) (3) (190) 

30 June 2020 20,807 254 21,061 
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The Group applies the exemption for low value assets and as such does not recognise leases that have a lease term of 
12 months or less or are of low value as a right of use asset or lease liability. The lease payments associated with these 
leases are recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income on a straight-line basis over the lease term.   

Low value assets consist of IT equipment such as laptops and monitors. 

The right-of-use asset is depreciated to the earlier of the useful life of the asset or the lease term using the straight-
line method and is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in “Depreciation 
and amortisation”. The unwind of the financial charge on the lease liabilities is recognised in the Statement of Profit or 
Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in “Finance costs” based on the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.   

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not yet paid at the 
commencement date. Lease payments are discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The incremental 
borrowing rate used for this calculation is dictated by the tenor of the lease and the location of the asset. The 
incremental borrowing rate is the rate the Group would be charged on borrowings, provided by our banking partners. 
The weighted average incremental borrowing rate is 5.14%. The following lease payments are included where they are 
not paid at the commencement date: 

• fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable. 

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured by: 

• increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability 

• reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made 

• remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications or to reflect revised in-
substance fixed lease payments. 

 

Lease maturity: 

 

  

Contractual maturities  
of lease liabilities 

Less than 
6 months 

6-12 
months 

Between  
1 and  

2 years 

Between  
2 and  

5 years 
Over  

5 years 

Total 
contractual 

cash flows 
Carrying 
amount  

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

As at 30 June 2021        

Lease liabilities 1,937 1,970 7,230 6,056 3,714 20,907 18,384 

Total lease liabilities 1,937 1,970 7,230 6,056 3,714 20,907 18,384 

Contractual maturities  
of lease liabilities        

As at 30 June 2020        

Lease liabilities 1,903 1,938 7,879 10,146 3,717 25,583 21,061 

Total lease liabilities 1,903 1,938 7,879 10,146 3,717 25,583 21,061 
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Group 

Computer 
Software 

$’000 

Work-in-
progress 

$’000 
Total 

$’000 

Cost or valuation    

At 1 July 2020 9,181 2,718 11,899 

Additions - 9,020 9,020 

Transfers 1,371 (1,371) - 

Impairment - (569) (569) 

Net foreign currency revaluation (4) - (4) 

At 30 June 2021 10,548 9,798 20,346 
    

Amortisation and impairment    

At 1 July 2020 (8,154) - (8,154) 

Amortisation charge for year (1,022) - (1,022) 

At 30 June 2021 (9,176) - (9,176) 

    

Net book value as at 30 June 2021 1,372 9,798 11,170 

Group    

Cost or valuation    

At 1 July 2019 10,536 74 10,610 

Additions - 2,847 2,847 

Impairment - (15) (15) 

Transfers 184 (184) - 

Capitalised to furniture and equipment - (4) (4) 

Disposals (1,529) - (1,529) 

Net foreign currency revaluation (10) - (10) 

At 30 June 2020 9,181 2,718 11,899 
    

Amortisation and impairment    

At 1 July 2019 (8,242) -  (8,242) 

Amortisation charge for year (1,441) - (1,441) 

Disposals 1,529 - 1,529 

At 30 June 2020 (8,154) - (8,154) 

    

Net book value as at 30 June 2020 1,027 2,718 3,745 

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 
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Accounting Policies 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less:  

• any accumulated amortisation; and  

• any accumulated impairment losses.  

The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are 
amortised over their useful life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that they may be 
impaired. The amortisation period and method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least every 
financial year end.  

Changes in the asset’s expected useful life, or the expected pattern of consumption of the asset’s future economic 
benefits, are accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method. The amortisation expense on intangible 
assets with finite lives is recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
in the expense category, consistent with the function of the intangible asset. The principle intangible assets are 
computer software, amortised over their useful life of 3-5 years. 

Gains or losses arising from a disposal of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset. They are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income when the asset is disposed.  

The Group has no intangible assets assessed as having an indefinite life.  

At the end of each financial year, we review our intangible assets’ residual values, useful lives and amortisation 
methods, and adjust them if appropriate. A review of intangible assets took place during the year, with those assets 
that are fully depreciated and no longer in use being written off. 

Refer to Note 2 for explanation and impact of change in accounting policy following the issuance of the International 
Financial Reporting Standards Interpretations Committee’s agenda decisions. 

 

Work-in-progress 

Work-in-progress are intangible assets undergoing development that are not ready for use and are expected to be 
completed in future financial years. They are recorded at cost less any known impairment. 

We review the carrying values of work-in-progress for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying value may not be recoverable. External factors and internal sources of information are used to 
assess whether the recoverable amount exceeds the carrying value with any excess taken as an impairment. 
Impairment losses are recognised as expenditure in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income. 
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Accounting Policies 

Contract liability - fees in advance are carried at the original invoice amount for goods and services to be provided 
after the year end. It includes membership fees, CA Program enrolment fees, application fees, and training and 
development course fees. 

The fees in advance related to annual members’ subscriptions are for services that will be delivered in the financial 
year ending 30 June 2022. The amounts received are not expected to be refunded and will be recognised as revenue 
in the financial year ending 30 June 2022.  

Application fees are fees paid by applicants to obtain full membership. These revenues are non-refundable and are 
deferred and recognised over the estimated average duration of membership. 

 

 

12. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 

 

Accounting Policies  

Trade payables are carried at cost. They represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group before the 
end of the financial year that are unpaid and arise when the Group becomes obliged to make payment for these goods 
and services in the future. Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on no longer than a 30-
day term. 

Other payables are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, regardless of 
whether they are billed to the Group. Payables are normally settled on 30-day terms and incur no interest. 

  

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Current liabilities   

Members’ subscription fees 63,162 63,565 

Members’ application fees 1,068 996 

CA Program, training course fees and other 11,404 13,020 

 75,634 77,581 
   

Non-current liabilities   

Members’ application fees 16,506 15,461 

 16,506 15,461 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Current   

Trade payables 13,267 8,150 

Other payables  7,116 9,311 

 20,383 17,461 

11. CONTRACT LIABILITY - FEES IN ADVANCE 
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Accounting Policies 

Provisions are recognised when: 

• there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event 

• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 

• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 

(a) Annual leave 

Liabilities for annual leave expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date, are recognised in the 
provision for employee benefits in respect of employees’ services up to the reporting date. They are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Any annual leave expected to be settled beyond 12 
months of the reporting date is measured at the present value of expected future payments.  

 

(b) Long service leave  

The liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits. It is measured as the present 
value of expected future payments for services provided by employees up to the reporting date using the projected 
unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 
departures, and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields at the reporting date 
based on Australian high-quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currencies that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 

 

Reconciliation of movement of provisions 

 

  

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Current   

Employee entitlements (a)&(b) 7,125 5,677 

 7,125 5,677 

Non-current   

Employee entitlements (b) 1,698 1,434 

Leasehold make good provision 482 458 

 2,180 1,892 

 
Make Good 

$'000 

At 1 July 2020 458 

Expensed/arising during the period 24 

Used/utilised during the period -  

At 30 June 2021 482 

13. PROVISIONS 
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Expenditure commitments mainly relate to the Group’s IT strategic supply agreements, IT software licence fees, 
software development costs and contributions to professional accountancy body Accounting Professional & Ethical 
Standards Board Limited (APESB). 

 

 

15. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

 

 

 

16. AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION 

 

1 McMillan & Co LLP are the auditors for the United Kingdom entity. 
 

The group auditor provided pro bono audit services to the CA Benevolent Foundation including in relation to the two 
charitable funds - Chartered Accountants Scholarship Fund and the Chartered Accountants Necessitous 
Circumstances Fund - which it operated in the current and prior years.  

 

  
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Expenditure commitments    

Less than 12 months  5,166 6,546 

More than 12 months and less than five years  3,571 7,711 

More than five years  - - 

  8,737 14,257 

 
2021 

$’000 
2020 

$’000 

Indemnities for bank guarantees to the lessors of premises occupied under leases 1,115 1,086 

Group Auditor – Grant Thornton 
2021 

$ 
2020 

$ 

Auditing of financial reports – Australia & New Zealand 258,500 293,673 

Auditing of financial reports – Overseas subsidiaries 29,266 30,000 

Total audit fee 287,766 323,673 
   

Other services   

Preparation of overseas subsidiary financial statements 5,484 5,517 

Other Auditor1   

Preparation and auditing of financial reports – Overseas subsidiaries  8,570 28,087 

Total audit fee 8,570 28,087 
   

Other services   

Payroll and advisory services 767 7,984 

14. COMMITMENTS 
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The parent has an interest in the following corporations: 

 

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand has control of: 

• Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (Singapore) Private Limited 

• Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (Hong Kong) Limited 

• CAANZ (UK) Limited 

• CA ANZ (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd  

• Chartered Professional Accountants Pty Ltd. 

These entities’ results have been consolidated into this Consolidated Financial Report at 30 June 2021. 

The parent’s results are materially consistent with the consolidated financial results, therefore separate parent 
disclosures are not included.  

Chartered Accountants Benevolent Foundation Limited is the Trustee for Chartered Accountants Scholarship Fund 
and Chartered Accountants Necessitous Circumstances Fund. The purpose of the funds is to provide scholarships and 
financial assistance to people in financial hardship.  The Funds were wound up in December 2020 and the assets of 
the funds were gifted to Country Education Foundation of Australia Limited. 

Chartered Accountants Benevolent Foundation Limited, Chartered Accountants Scholarship Fund and Chartered 
Accountants Necessitous Circumstances Fund have not been consolidated as the parent does not have the ability to 
use its power to affect the amount of return nor is it entitled to returns from these entities.   

The parent’s results include the regulatory operations of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants, as per 
the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants Act 1996. 

The parent has 33.3% voting rights in Accounting Professional & Ethical Standards Board Limited (“APESB”) but does 
not have right to any distributions from APESB. Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand has committed to 
the ongoing financial support of APESB of $500,000 in the next financial year.  

 

  

Name of corporation 
Country of 

incorporation 

Percentage of ownership 

2021 2020 

Chartered Accountants Benevolent Foundation Limited Australia 100% 100% 

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand 
(Singapore) Private Limited 

Singapore 100% 100% 

Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand  
(Hong Kong) Limited 

Hong Kong 100% 100% 

CAANZ (UK) Limited United Kingdom 100% 100% 

CA ANZ (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd Malaysia 100% 100% 

Chartered Professional Accountants Pty Ltd Australia 100% 100% 

17. UNLISTED SHARES IN OTHER ENTITIES 
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Fair values 

Financial instruments are recognised initially when the company becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instruments. Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value including transaction costs. 

After initial recognition, financial assets are measured at amortised cost. 

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire or 
when it is transferred, and the transfer qualifies for derecognition. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities by categories: 

 

  

  Total 

Financial assets 
measured at 

amortised cost 

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost 

 Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 

2021     

Current financial assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 6 78,097 78,097 - 

Trade receivables  7 21,768 21,768 - 

Other receivables  7 2,062 2,062 - 

Total current financial assets  101,927 101,927 - 

     

Total financial assets  101,927 101,927 - 
     

Current financial liabilities     

Trade and other payables  12 (20,383) - (20,383) 

Lease liabilities 9 (3,027) - (3,027) 

Total current financial liabilities  (23,410) - (23,410) 
     

Non-current financial liabilities     

Lease liabilities 9 (15,357) - (15,357) 

Total non-current financial liabilities  (15,357) - (15,357) 

     

Total financial liabilities  (38,767) - (38,767) 

     

Net financial assets/(liabilities)  63,160 101,927 (38,767) 

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
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Expected credit loss 

Allowance for expected credit loss in financial assets carried at amortised cost were recognised in surplus or deficit.  
AASB 9 Financial Instruments requires an expected credit loss model to be used in impairing financial assets. This 
model requires the Group to account for expected credit losses and changes thereto at each reporting date to reflect 
changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. It is no longer necessary for a credit loss event to 
have occurred before impairments are recognised. 

The Group has elected to apply the simplified approach for measuring the loss allowance at an amount equal to the 
lifetime expected credit loss for trade receivables, contract assets and lease receivables.  

Refer to Note 7 for further detail. 

 

19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 

The Group’s principal financial instruments are comprised of cash, receivables and payables. 

The Group manages its exposure to key financial risks in accordance with its policies, the objective of which is to ensure 
financial security and deliver valuable member services in line with our Charter. 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.  

  Total 

Financial assets 
measured at 

amortised cost 

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortised cost 

 Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 

2020     

Current financial assets     

Cash and cash equivalents 6 84,292 84,292 - 

Trade receivables  7 19,450 19,450 - 

Other receivables 7 369 369 - 

Total current financial assets  104,111 104,111 - 

     

Total financial assets   104,111 104,111 - 
     

Current financial liabilities     

Trade and other payables  12 (17,461) - (17,461) 

Lease liabilities 9 (2,693) - (2,693) 

Total current financial liabilities  (20,154) - (20,154) 
     

Non-current financial liabilities     

Lease liabilities 9 (18,368) - (18,368) 

Total non-current financial liabilities  (18,368) - (18,368) 

     

Total financial liabilities  (38,522) - (38,522) 

     

Net financial assets/(liabilities)  65,589 104,111 (38,522) 

18. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
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We use different methods to measure and manage these risks, including: 

• monitoring levels of exposure to interest rates; 

• conducting ageing analysis and monitoring specific credit balances to manage credit risk; or  

• monitoring liquidity risk through the development of future rolling cash flow forecasts. 

The Board reviews and agrees on policies for managing each of these risks.  

 

Market risk  

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market prices. The main components of market risk to the Group are interest rate risk and currency risk. 

 

Interest rate risk  

This is the risk that movements in variable interest rates will affect financial performance by increasing interest 
expenses or reducing interest income. The Group is exposed to floating interest rates on its cash and fixed interest 
rates on its term deposits. The effect of a reasonably possible change in interest rates will result in an immaterial 
amount of change to interest revenue.  

 

Currency risk  

This is the risk that the fair value or future cash flow of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
exchange rates. We manage currency risk of our New Zealand operations by regularly monitoring the liquidity 
requirements and forecasting expected foreign currency cashflows.  

We are also exposed to currency risk from our foreign operations in Hong Kong, Malaysia, Singapore and the United 
Kingdom. However, as at 30 June 2021, these activities were immaterial and the risk is minimal.  

 

Credit risk 

Management believes that the Group does not have a concentration of credit risk. The Group’s exposure to credit risk is 
equal to the carrying value of the cash at bank which is held with financial institutions with a credit rating of AA- or 
better and receivables which are generally high volume and low individual amount. Consideration has been given to 
the impact of COVID-19 on the credit risk on receivables. 

 

Liquidity risk  

This is the risk that, due to our operational liquidity requirements, the Group: 

• will not have sufficient funds to settle a transaction on the due date; 

• will be forced to sell financial assets at a value less than what they are worth; or 

• may be unable to settle or recover a financial asset at all. 

The Group receives a substantial part of its cash inflows at the beginning and end of the financial year and manages 
its expenditure within these cash inflows and approved funding arrangements.  

Most of the Group’s financial liabilities, such as payables and accruals to suppliers and employees, are due within  
30 days. 

To help reduce liquidity risk, we have a liquidity policy which sets targets for the minimum and average level of cash 
and cash equivalents to be maintained.  

  

19. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (continued) 
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The Group made related party payments to certain parties including partners or employees of director-related 
entities. These included payments to members and member firms for services including training, support for the 
CA Program, reviewer fees for the Quality Review Program and consulting services. These payments were made on 
arm’s length commercial terms and conditions. 

The Group also provided complimentary accounting and administration services for the Chartered Accountants 
Benevolent Foundation Limited, Chartered Accountants Scholarship Fund and the Chartered Accountants Necessitous 
Circumstances Fund. These Funds were wound up in December 2020. 

The following transactions occurred with director-related parties: 

  2021 
$ 

2020 
$ 

Consulting KPMG 1 201,480 103,277 

Venue Hire KPMG 1 - 1,364 

Sponsorship Committee for Economic Development of Australia2 1,555 8,194 

Royalties on Event Materials KPMG 1 7,919 22,638 

Membership Committee for Economic Development of Australia2 - 16,322 

 Diversity Council Australia3 2,691 - 

Events KPB Holdings Pty Ltd4 2,250 - 

1 P Stragalinos is a partner of KPMG 
2 M Long is a non-executive director of the Committee for Economic Development of Australia (CEDA) 

3 M Long is the Chair of the Board of Diversity Council Australia (DCA) 

4 K Boorer is a director of KPB Holdings Pty Ltd 

 

 

  

20. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
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Details of key management personnel 

(I) President and Vice Presidents 

Presidents   

N Botica Redmayne FCA   Appointed 1 January 2021 

P Rupp FCA  Term completed 31 December 2020 

Vice Presidents   

K Boorer FCA  Appointed 1 January 2021  

N Botica Redmayne FCA  Term completed on taking up role as 
President on 1 January 2021  

M Harrington  Appointed 1 January 2021 

P O’Regan FCA  Term completed 31 December 2020 
   

(II) Directors   

Chair   

J Palermo FCA    

Board Members   

K Boorer FCA 

N Botica Redmayne FCA  

C Colley FCA 

M Harrington FCA 

C Hayman  

 Appointed 1 January 2021 

 

Appointed 17 May 2021 

Appointed 1 January 2021 

 

M Long FCA   

R McDonald FCA   

P O’Regan FCA  Term completed 31 December 2020 

S Petersen CA   

P Rupp FCA  Term completed 31 December 2020 

P Stragalinos FCA   

C Townend FCA   

D Williams    
   

(III) Executives     

A van Onselen Chief Executive Officer  

S Hann Group Executive, Education and Learning  

D Breust Chief Marketing Officer Resigned 8 January 2021 

S Grant FCA Group Executive Advocacy,  
Professional Standing and International   

 

C Ng CA Chief Financial Officer Resigned 21 June 2021 

M Yelavich Chief Information Officer Appointed 29 September 2020 

M Rice Group Executive, Member Engagement  

S Bala Group Executive, General Counsel  
& Corporate Assurance 

Resigned 30 April 2021 

   

21. DIRECTOR, VICE PRESIDENT AND EXECUTIVE DISCLOSURES  
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Executives are classified as the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and the Executive Team who are the authorised key 
decision makers for the organisation.  

 

(IV) Compensation policy  

Remuneration of the Directors is approved by the Council based on recommendations from the Nominations and 
Governance Committee using external market benchmark data.  A total remuneration pool for Directors is then 
approved by members at an AGM and was last approved at the 2019 AGM in respect of 2020 to 2022. In 2020, in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the executive team voluntarily relinquished their eligibility to variable 
remuneration and the Directors also voluntarily reduced their Q4 2020 fees by 20%. The remuneration of the CEO and 
the Executive Team is considered by the People and Remuneration Committee with a recommendation put forward 
for Board approval. Further information on the People and Remuneration Committee is set out in our Corporate 
Governance Statement which forms part of this annual report. 

To ensure equity in our remuneration decisions, we use salary bands to establish remuneration ranges for jobs of 
similar value. The Group benchmarks jobs for job sizing using a well-established methodology that provides 
remuneration ranges for salary bands based on job size. In structuring remuneration ranges, we aim to remain 
competitive and positioned appropriately for the scope and size of our operations. The CEO is entitled to a base 
remuneration plus an ‘at risk’ component based on achieving approved KPIs. 

 

(V) Compensation of Directors and Executives for the year  

 

(VI) Loans to key management personnel 

There are no loans between key management personnel and the Group. 

 

(VII) Other transactions with key management personnel and their related parties 

There are no other transactions conducted between the Group and key management personnel or their related 
parties, apart from those disclosed above relating to compensation or that were conducted other than in accordance 
with normal employee relationship on terms no more favourable than those reasonably expected under arm’s length 
dealings with unrelated persons. 

 

(III) Executives (continued) 

P Vial FCA 
 

J Quinn 

Group Executive, Advocacy, Professional  
Standing New Zealand and the Pacific  

Group Executive, Public Affairs 

 

S Tarrant Group Executive, People & Culture  

L Whitney  Group Executive, Account Management 

& Strategic Planning 

Chief Financial Officer (interim) 

 

 

Appointed 22 June 2021 

L Fowler Chief Transformation Officer Appointed 3 May 2021 

 2021 
$’000 

2020 
$’000 

Compensation of Directors and Executives    

Short-term benefits 5,753 4,854 

Termination benefits 301 230 

 6,054 5,084 
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The parent’s By-Laws provide that each Director and Officer will be indemnified against any losses or expenses that 
they incur or become liable to pay by, reason of any act or deed done by the Director or Officer in discharging their 
duties, unless the act or deed arises from the Director’s or Officer’s own wilful default. Further, Directors and Officers 
are not liable for: 

• the acts of any person; 

• joining in any receipt or document; 

• any act of conformity; or  

• any loss or expense happening to the Group,  

unless it arises from the Director’s or Officer’s own wilful default. 

 

 

23. MEMBERS AND MEMBERS’ LIABILITY 

 

Total membership increased to 131,673 as of 30 June 2021 (2020: 128,683).  

Under the terms of the Group’s Supplemental Royal Charter and By-Laws: 

• members are not entitled to receive a dividend from the Group; and 

• former members remain liable for all amounts they owed the Group at the time they ceased to be a member.  

Other than this, members have no liability for any matters related to the Group. 

 

 

24. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

(a) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST except: 

• where the GST incurred on a purchase of goods or services is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this 
case, the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset, or as part of the expense item, as 
applicable; and 

• on receivables and payables which are stated with the amount of GST included. 

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or 
payables in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position.   

For all Contract liability - fees in advance that are subject to GST, a liability for GST payable is raised. The exception is 
for Contract liability - fees in advance that have a settlement date, for the GST liability, that occurs before the balance 
date (at which stage the liability will have already been settled). 

Cash flows are included in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash 
flows arising from investing and financing activities (which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority) is 
classified as part of operating cash flows. 

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of the amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation 
authority. 
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(b) Reserves 

Other components of equity include the following:  

Amalgamation reserve  

Represents the fair value of net assets transferred from NZICA on amalgamation, 1 January 2015.  

Revaluation reserve 

Comprises gains and losses from the revaluation of property (see Note 8). 

Accumulated Surpluses 

Includes all current and prior period retained profits. 

Foreign currency translation 

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into Australian dollars at 30 June, at the rate of 
exchange at reporting date. These exchange differences are recognised in Other Comprehensive Income and 
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve. 

 

 

25. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD  

 

Between the end of the financial year and the date of this Financial Report there has been no item, transaction or 
material or unusual event that is likely, in the opinion of the Directors, to affect significantly the operations of the Group, 
or the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years. 

 

 

  

24. SUMMARY OF OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
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The Directors of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand declare that the consolidated financial 
statements and notes set out on pages 5 to 41, which have been prepared as required under the By-Laws:  

(a) Comply with Australian Accounting Standards and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; and 

(b) Present fairly the financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2021 and the results of its operations and its cash 
flows for the year ended on that date. 

In the opinion of the Directors, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the parent will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they become due and payable. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

____________________________    __________________________   

J Palermo FCA       C Townend FCA 

Director and Board Chair     Director and Audit & Risk Committee Chair 

 

 

Perth        Brisbane 

17 September 2021      17 September 2021 

 

 

DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION 



 
 

 
 

   

   
Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd ACN 130 913 594 
a subsidiary or related entity of Grant Thornton Australia Ltd ABN 41 127 556 389 
 
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services  to their clients 
and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context requires. Grant Thornton Australia Ltd is a member firm of Grant Thornton International 
Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal entity. Services are 
delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate one 
another and are not liable for one another’s acts or omissions. In the Australian context only, the use of the term ‘Grant Thornton’ may refer to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 and its Australian subsidiaries and related entities. GTIL is not an Australian related entity to 
Grant Thornton Australia Limited. 
 
Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  

www.grantthornton.com.au 

Level 17, 383 Kent Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
 
Correspondence to: 
Locked Bag Q800 
QVB Post Office 
Sydney NSW 1230 
 
T +61 2 8297 2400 
F +61 2 9299 4445 
E info.nsw@au.gt.com 
W www.grantthornton.com.au 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand  

Report on the audit of the financial report 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial report of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand (CA ANZ) and its subsidiaries 
(collectively the Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2021, the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity 
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of Chartered Accountants Australia and New Zealand presents fairly, in 
all material respects, the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2021 and of its performance and cash flows for the year 
ended in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of our report. We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical 
Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Key audit matters  

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the financial 
report of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in 
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter 

Revenue recognition – Note 3  
 
Revenue of $140.6 million was recognised during the year 
ended 30 June 2021 and included $81.6 million of 
membership subscriptions and fees, $41.3 million of CA 
Program revenues, $15.9 million of other member 
services revenue and $0.3 million of other revenue and 
$1.5 million of other income.  
 
Revenue from contracts with customers (ie all revenue 
above except for other revenue/income) was composed of 
$126.8 million of revenue recognised over time, with $12.3 
million having been recognised at a point in time. 
 
Revenue derived from the delivery of services may be 
complex and involves significant management judgement 
in determining the appropriate amount of revenue to be 
recognised as performance obligations are satisfied. 
 
This area is a key audit matter given the complexity 
involved in developing and applying appropriate 
accounting policies that comply with accounting standards 
and management judgement in determining the timing of 
amounts to be recognised as revenue, including 
estimating the membership life for application fees. 

Our procedures included, amongst others: 
 Reviewing revenue recognition policies for 

appropriateness and compliance with AASB 15  
Revenue from Contracts with Customers  and AASB 
1058 Income of Not-for-Profit Entities; 

 Evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
management's internal controls related to revenue 
recognition across different revenue streams (member 
subscriptions, member services & CA Program 
revenue); 

 Considering whether any distinct services were 
provided or transferred to members on initial 
application and the implications, if any, on when the 
associated revenue should be recognised in relation 
to application fees;  

 Reviewing management’s estimate in relation to the 
average duration of membership, including critically 
evaluating assumptions applied, in order to assess  
the timing of recognition of application fee revenue;  
 

 Performing analytical procedures using active student 
data and standard cost per unit of study in order to 
assess CA Program revenue;   
 

 Performing analytical procedures on revenue figures 
to identify large or unusual movements, and reviewing 
industry trends;  

 Performing substantive procedures whereby we 
selected a sample of revenue transactions and 
inspected student enrolment documentation, the 
course fee structure, cash received and agreed the 
recognition of revenue in accordance with the AASB 
15 / AASB 1058; and  

 Assessing the adequacy of disclosures for compliance 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. 

Property revaluation - Note 8   

 
The carrying value of the Erskine Street, Sydney property 
at the reporting date is $91.0 million and constitutes 40% 
of total assets of the Group.   
 
This property is carried at fair value based upon a 
directors’ valuation each year.  The valuation was 
supported by an independent external valuation obtained 
by the directors.  
 
This was considered a key audit matter due to the value of 
the asset and the judgments applied in determining the 
fair value.  
 
 
 

 
Our procedures included amongst others: 

 
 Obtaining an understanding of management’s process 

for assessing the fair value of the freehold property;  

 Assessing the qualifications, competence and 
objectivity of the independent external valuation expert 
and understanding the scope of their work;  

 Assessing the appropriateness of the valuation 
methodology employed by the external expert and 
evaluating the key assumptions used in determining 
the fair value for reasonableness; and  Assessing the 
adequacy of disclosures for compliance in accordance 
with Australian Accounting Standards. 
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Intangible assets and capital works in progress - Note 10 
 

 

 
The carrying value of intangible assets at the reporting 
date is $11.2 million including capital works in progress. 
The amounts capitalised in current and prior periods 
related predominantly to employment expenses, and 
application and software development costs, including 
those within a cloud computing arrangement.  

During the year the International Financial Reporting 
Standards Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued an 
agenda decision in relation to the configuration and/or 
customisation costs in cloud computing arrangements in 
the context of capitalisation of intangible assets.  

The Group’s accounting policy has historically been to 
capitalise all costs related to SaaS arrangements as 
intangible assets in the Statement of Financial Position. 
The above agenda decision has resulted in a change in 
accounting policy, reclassifying these intangible assets to 
either a prepaid asset in the statement of financial position 
and/or recognition as an expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income, impacting both the current and 
prior periods presented 

The capitalisation of internally generated costs was a key 
audit matter due to the magnitude of amounts capitalised 
and judgement applied by the Group in assessing whether 
the criteria for capitalisation as set out in AASB 138 
Intangible Assets had been met, including reference to the 
IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) agenda decision 
in relation to Configuration or Customisation Costs in a 
Cloud Computing Arrangement (IAS 38 Intangible 
Assets).  

In particular, significant judgements included the technical 
feasibility of the projects and the likelihood of the projects 
delivering sufficient future economic benefits. The Group’s 
judgements also included determining whether capitalised 
costs were of a developmental nature rather than 
research nature (the latter which would result in the costs 
being expensed), whether costs, including employment 
expenses, were directly attributable to the relevant 
projects, and the timing of amortisation and the useful 
lives for projects. 

 
 

 
Our procedures included amongst others: 

 Reviewing accounting policies for capitalisation of 
costs for appropriateness and compliance with AASB 
138; 

 Evaluating the design and operational effectiveness of 
management's internal controls related to intangible 
assets; 

 Assessing the nature of a sample of projects to 
determine the nature and status of the project and 
assessing whether the project costs met the 
capitalisation requirements AASB 138; 

 Performing substantive testing for a sample of 
capitalised costs with reference to staff time 
allocations and employment contracts, to support the 
time charged to the projects; 

 Assessing the factors that the Group considered 
regarding impairment of capitalised development 
costs and whether any indicators of impairment 
existed in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of 
Assets;  

 For capital work in progress, obtaining management’s 
impairment assessment and assessing the valuation 
model, assumptions and inputs for appropriateness; 
and 

 Assessing the adequacy of the related disclosures in 
the financial report in respect of the capitalised costs; 
 

Specifically in relation to the IFRIC agenda decision on 
Configuration or Customisation Costs in a Cloud Computing 
Arrangement (IAS 38 Intangible Assets), our procedures 
included amongst others: 

 Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s cloud 
computing arrangements and related customisation 
and configuration activities; 

 Evaluating management's conclusions as to the 
appropriateness of historical accounting treatment; 

 For historical and current period customisation costs 
that do not qualify as intangible assets, as well as 
configuration costs, that meet the definition of being 
distinct within the context of the cloud computing 
arrangement: 

 assessing whether amounts have been 
appropriately captured; and 

 evaluating timing of expense recognition; 

 For those that do not meet the definition of being 
distinct, assessing whether amounts have properly 
been expensed as the supplier provides access to the 
application software over the term of the cloud 
computing contract; and 

 Assessing the adequacy of disclosures for compliance 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
including AASB 108 Accounting Policies, Changes in 
Accounting Estimates and Errors. 
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Information other than the financial report and auditor’s report thereon 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2021, but does not include the financial report and our auditor’s report 
thereon.  

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.  

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial report  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. This responsibility also includes such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of the financial report to be free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing 
Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and Assurance 
Standards Board website at: https://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar5.pdf. This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report. 

 

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd 
Chartered Accountants 

 

M A Adam-Smith FCA 
Partner – Audit & Assurance 

Sydney, 17 September 2021 
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